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Section One — Holy Cross College mission

Holy Cross College is a Catholic higher education community
that transforms lives by advancing the Gospel, and building
competent minds and compassionate hearts. Founded by the
Brothers of Holy Cross, we are animated by their traditions which
require a practical, demanding, and comprehensive training of
the mind that is compelled to action by a generous spirit. We
accommaodate a broad spectrum of needs, interests, and
backgrounds within a challenging, supportive, and sacred
environment. We offer a foundational liberal arts program of
engaging and relevant instruction which prepares students for
productive futures.

By actively pursuing the integrated development of mind, body,
and heart, the liberal arts core of the associates of arts degree
program provides transferable skills for continuing education and
reaching professional goals. Baccalaureate degree programs
offer a global and experiential liberal arts curriculum coordinating
the planning of life-long learning with the courage to face future
challenges.

We advance the Gospel message by developing a personal
understanding of relationships with God, others, and self. We
respect and challenge one another through active spiritual and
intellectual lives and through service. We support and enlighten
one another about our common responsibilities to further the
Kingdom of God.

Section Two - A brief history of Holy Cross College

Holy Cross College is a Catholic four-year college sponsored by
the Midwest Province of the Brothers of Holy Cross. The college
is located in Notre Dame, Indiana, on one hundred forty acres of
land that the Brothers have occupied since they arrived in the
area in 1841.

Holy Cross College was opened in 1966 as “Holy Cross Junior
College,” and it was dedicated to preparing members of the
Brothers of Holy Cross for transfer to other institutions to pursue
baccalaureate degrees. Brother John Driscoll, C.S.C., was the
founding president of the college, and fifty-four brothers enrolled
in the first year of operation. In 1967, the college admitted its
first lay male students, and in 1968, women were enrolled for the
first time. In February 1968, the college received its corporate
charter from the State of Indiana to operate as a not-for-profit
corporation.
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At its founding, Holy Cross College was governed by the
Provincial Council of the Midwest Province of the Brothers of Holy
Cross. The Provincial Council served as a board of directors for
the college. In order to segregate institutional responsibilities and
powers, the Board of Advisors was formed in 1983, separate from
the Provincial Council, to govern most of the operations of the
college. The Brothers maintained ownership and control of the
college’s mission and facilities. In 1987, the advisors became the
Board of Trustees, and, by charter, were given responsibilities for
oversight of the academic enterprise of the college. The Brothers
of Holy Cross maintained ownership and control of the college’s
mission and property through the Corporate Board of the college.
The Corporate Board is composed of the members of the
Provincial Council plus the college president, and specific powers
are reserved to the Corporate Board. These powers include
authority for the mission of the college, property development,
and decisions related to incurring debt by the institution. In 1990,
the name of the college was changed to “Holy Cross College.”

From 1966 to 2002, the academic program of Holy Cross College
remained relatively unchanged. The only academic degree that
the college awarded was the associate of arts degree. The
curriculum for the degree was a broad program in the liberal arts,
and it approximated a common general education curriculum
found in most baccalaureate institutions. From the college’s
founding, the associate of arts degree has not typically served as
a terminal degree, as the vast majority of students have
transferred into baccalaureate programs at other institutions after
completing their studies at Holy Cross College. In 2000, Holy
Cross College faculty and staff began investigating the possibility
of adding baccalaureate education to the curriculum, and after
proposal to the Higher Learning Commission in 2002, the college
received accreditation approval to offer the Bachelor of Arts
degree. In keeping with the historic focus of the college’s liberal
arts curriculum, the initial baccalaureate degree was a bachelor
of arts in liberal studies.

Since its founding, Holy Cross College has experienced
significant growth in facilities. The college has developed a
complex for the Driscoll and Vincent buildings in which the
academic life of the institution is centered. Since the 1997 self
study, the growth of residence life has spurred most of the
development of the college’s facilities. In addition to the
academic complex of the Driscoll and Vincent buildings, the
college now has five residence halls and a number of outdoor
athletic facilities (basketball and tennis courts, and soccer and
lacrosse fields). All of the residence halls and athletic facilities
have been developed since the last comprehensive self study.
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Enroliment at Holy Cross College has generally trended upward
since the founding of the college. However, the college has
experienced a “saw-tooth” phenomenon in enroliment for many
years. Years of strong growth in student numbers have often
been followed by years in which enrollment dips. While the
overall tendency in the college’s history has been toward
increasing enroliment, the college is currently in a four-year cycle
of decreasing enrollment. One of the outcomes of these
enrollment vagaries is that the college has often been unable to
add to its personnel, programs, and facilities as frequently or as
significantly as desired.

Holy Cross College has historically been very sound financially.
The philosophy that has guided fiscal planning for the college
has been very conservative. This approach was especially
prudent when the college did not have well developed
fundraising efforts. The college has recently enjoyed stronger
fundraising and development, and the conservative approach to
budgeting and investment has continued. The net effect of the
strong fundraising and solid budgeting has been that the college
has been able to weather the recent enroliment problems better
than might be expected. However, it is well understood
throughout the institution that the college’s financial strengths will
erode and put the institution at risk if enrollment fails to rebound.

Section Three - Accreditation history of Holy Cross
College

For the first fifteen years of its existence, Holy Cross Junior
College did not pursue accreditation from the North Central
Association of Colleges and Schools. In 1982, the college’s
Board of Advisors recommended to the president, Brother John
Driscoll, that the college seek regional accreditation. In 1985, the
college was awarded candidacy status by the North Central
Association of Colleges and Schools. In candidacy, the college
completed its first comprehensive self study and made
application for initial accreditation in early 1987. In March of that
year, a team from the Commission visited the college to review
the application for initial accreditation.

As a result of the review for initial accreditation, the team from
the Commission recommended approval of the application, and
mandated that the college submit three follow-up reports. One
was to focus on strategic planning at the college, and the other
two were to address the college’s governance under the newly
reconfigured Board of Advisors, now named the Board of
Trustees. After acceptance of the follow-up reports, the college
was granted initial accreditation in June 1987.
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After a three-year period of initial accreditation, the college
prepared a comprehensive self study requesting continuing
accreditation by the Commission. In April 1990, a team from the
Commission visited the college to review the request. It was at
this time that the college changed its name to Holy Cross
College. The team recommended continuing accreditation for six
years and submission of three follow-up reports. The reports
were to address planning for enroliment management,
institutional advancement, and efforts to create a participatory
academic structure. These reports were filed in 1991 (enrollment
management) and 1992 (institutional advancement and
academic governance). The college then submitted a report to
the Commission on how these plans were being implemented in
1993.

Following the six-year accreditation interval, Holy Cross College
undertook a comprehensive self study for continuing
accreditation. In January 1997, a team from the Commission
recommended that the college receive continuing accreditation
for ten years. The team also recommended that the college file
two progress reports. One report, on the college’s success in
implementing its program to assess student learning, was
submitted in 1998. The other report, on a strategic plan for the
college that outlined an institutional vision and prioritized
strategies, was submitted in 1999. Both reports were accepted
by the Commission upon submission.

In 2002, Holy Cross College requested that the Commission
conduct a focused visit to review the college’s request to change
its Statement of Affiliation Status. The request was for
authorization to award a new degree level, the baccalaureate
degree. The college proposed that the Commission approve a
Bachelor of Arts degree in liberal studies. In September of that
year, a team from the Commission visited the college and
recommended approval of the change. The team also directed
the college to file a progress report on the implementation of the
assessment plan for the liberal studies program. That report was
accepted by the Commission upon submission in 2005.

Section Four - Concerns raised by visiting teams in the
last ten years

In the past ten years, Holy Cross College has had two reviews by
teams from the Higher Learning Commission. The first review
was for the last comprehensive self study. That review took
place in January 1997. The second review took place in
September 2002 as part of a focus visit to evaluate the college’s
request to add baccalaureate-level programs to the institution’s
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Statement of Affiliation Status.
Concerns from the 1997 review

There is an absence of an institutional vision plan which
needs to be developed and understood by all
constituents.

Since the last comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College has
initiated an ongoing strategic planning process. The process
utilizes “operational planning groups” that focus their work on
specific areas of college operations. Operational planning
groups include academic programs and faculty development,
enrollment management, budget and finance/human resources,
advancement, facilities, and campus support/student and
residence life. Membership on these operational planning
groups include faculty and staff, trustees, and, for specific
planning tasks, students. The operational planning groups have
created vision statements and strategies to realize those
statements for their respective areas. These vision statements
and strategies are routinely reviewed, analyzed for achievement,
and, in some cases, revised during periodic meetings of the
groups.

In addition to ongoing visioning in their respective areas, the
operational planning groups have also considered specific
guestions about the direction of Holy Cross College. In one
example, the operational planning groups considered the
guestion of baccalaureate education and its suitability to the
college’s mission in 2001. These groups were asked to respond
to the prospect of baccalaureate education and identify areas of
concern and decisions that would need to be addressed before a
baccalaureate program could be offered by the college.

Holy Cross College was required to submit a follow-up report in
1999 that included a vision plan with prioritized strategies for the
college. The report was accepted by the Commission staff.

There is a lack of understanding about outcomes
assessment and the role faculty must play. The
assessment plan is not reviewed, changed, or evaluated
by instructional faculty. It is not effectively organized and
administered, nor have the plan’s objectives been met as
scheduled.

Like many other colleges and universities, Holy Cross College
has made progress on the assessment of student learning in the
past decade, but significant challenges remain.
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Assessment is better integrated into the life of the institution than
at the time of the 1997 self study. The college has made
significant increases in the resources committed to assessment.
In 2001, the college created a new position of director of
assessment. The director leads the college’s assessment efforts
by working with faculty on their assessment activities. One of
these main activities that the director has assisted faculty with is
incorporating the college’s transferable skills in courses. All
institutional courses, as part of their syllabi, must include
information on which of the college’s nine transferable skills are
developed and how assessment takes place. The director of
assessment is given a partial course reassignment to help faculty
with the assessment efforts within their courses and programs.
The director also compiles and reports on assessment data on a
yearly basis.

In addition to the efforts of the director of assessment, the
college created the Center for Faculty Development in 2001.
The center coordinates the college’s faculty development
activities. One area of institutional emphasis for which the center
has provided professional development opportunities is the
assessment of student academic achievement. The center has
provided funding for faculty to attend conferences and meetings
that address assessment. The center has also directed the
college’s program of faculty development grants. A number of
grants funded for individual faculty have addressed basic
assessment approaches and various assessment
methodologies.

Holy Cross College was required to submit a follow-up report to
the Higher Learning Commission in 1998 that described the
implementation of the college’s assessment plan. That report
was accepted by the Commission.

There needs to be more governance at the college
exercised by faculty and staff. Communication needs to
be improved on all levels: between faculty, between
administrators and faculty, and between trustees and
faculty.

Holy Cross College has a strong approach to shared governance
that involves all full-time employees. The strategic planning
process draws together faculty and staff, trustees, and students
to consider the vision to guide the college. The strategic
planning process affords faculty and staff the opportunity to help
articulate the vision for the college and determine strategies for
accomplishing the vision.

In addition to the strategic planning process, there are also
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routine standing committees of the college that involve
participation by faculty and staff in college governance. For
instance, in the academic area, the Academic Council provides
the primary form of academic shared governance. The council
has representation from the academic divisions of the college
and from the Faculty Forum. The Academic Council also
includes the vice president for academic affairs. The council
oversees all of the academic operations of Holy Cross College.
This includes planning and evaluating academic programs,
maintaining and promoting the college’s academic standards,
monitoring the program to assess student learning, and
reviewing new course development.

As to the matter of communication among the various groups
within the institution, Holy Cross College has addressed the
concern in two ways. First, the application of new technological
resources since the last self study has significantly improved
college communication. Faculty, staff, and trustees are all
connected through the college’s e-mail server, and regular news
and updates are shared electronically. Also, the significant
development of the college’s web site, particularly the intranet,
has allowed for sharing of more rich resources about college
activities by faculty and staff, trustees, and students. The
intranet allows for distribution of public information, as well as
such internal matters of concern such as information pertaining
to courses, schedules, policies and processes, and campus
activities.

The second primary way that communication has been improved
among various institutional groups is through the college’s
strategic planning process. The use of the operational planning
groups allows people from a variety of institutional perspectives
to consider the most important issues affecting the college. One
of the strengths of the strategic planning process is that it
configures groups such that these perspectives are brought into
discussions about the strategic areas of concern. For instance,
the budget and finance/human resources operational planning
group includes the vice president for administration, several
trustees, staff outside the business operations, and faculty. This
approach allows for a better and more broadly informed campus
on the strategic issues affecting Holy Cross College.

Enroliment growth is insufficient to produce greater
economic growth of the college.

This concern from the 1997 self study remains valid for Holy
Cross College.

In the time since the last comprehensive self study, the college
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has significantly increased the resources committed to
enrollment management. The Admissions Office now has a staff
that includes the director, three admissions counselors, and an
assistant. The Student Ambassadors group employs current
students to maintain communication with prospective students.

The college has invested heavily in the technology and marketing
resources available to the staff. A new administrative computing
system (Empower) was purchased for the college in 2002, and it
incorporates a powerful admissions module. The admissions
module allows staff to access the admissions database from a
distance and update information on prospective students. In
2004, the college hired Royall and Company to lead a targeted,
prospective student marketing and communication system. The
efforts have been aimed at increasing the number of prospective
student inquiries and applications. The college has also
increased the publications budget for admissions, and an array of
publications and Web resources have been created and made
available to prospective students.

Retention of currently enrolled students in now more of an issue
for the college than at the time of the 1997 self study. During the
last self study, the college’s only academic degree was the
associate of arts degree. The primary academic mission of the
college was to prepare students to transfer to other colleges and
universities to complete undergraduate degrees. The college
gauged its success by students leaving after one or two years for
another institution, irrespective of whether the associate degree
was earned. When the college began considering the
introduction of baccalaureate education in 2000, one of the
primary motives for the change was the expectation of enhanced
enrollment. The hope was that incorporating a base of upper-
division students in the college’s enroliment would ease the
pressure on the efforts of the college to admit new students.
Now, with Holy Cross College offering baccalaureate education,
there is more of an emphasis on retaining well qualified students
to complete baccalaureate education.

Holy Cross College has also provided significantly more financial
aid funds to help make the college accessible to prospective
students. There are more need-based scholarships available
than in 1997, and institutional aid for financially needy students
has been increased. As part of the institutional aid program, the
college created a system of merit-based scholarships for
students with strong pre-college preparation. These scholarships
include automatic awards based on standardized test scores and
high school grade-point average. In addition, the Board of
Trustees approved a proposal to restructure tuition and financial
aid for the 2006-2007 academic year. This restructuring, which
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includes a tuition increase, will make more financial aid available
to more students.

The college needs to provide a more viable and active
campus ministry program to ensure that religious and
moral values be perpetuated, especially as the
sponsoring religious congregation retires.

Holy Cross College has established the Campus Ministry Office
to provide assistance to students in their spiritual development.
The office is headed by the director of campus minister who is a
full-time staff member and who has provided very strong
leadership. There is also an assistant director who helps the
director with programming for the office. This represents a
significant new commitment from the last comprehensive self
study when the only position in Campus Ministry was the part-
time director.

The Campus Ministry Office has been a very active participant in
the life of the campus. The office coordinates the Rite for
Christian Initiation of Adults (RCIA) program for assisting people
with reception into and full participation in the Church. The office
coordinates the schedule for weekly and daily Masses and
special liturgies for the college community. The office plans a
variety of student programming, including Fall and Spring
retreats, theology discussion sessions, and service opportunities.
The office has organized a student group called the Mission
Team, which identifies student leaders who are interested in
strengthening the faith life of the campus. The Campus Ministry
Office also sponsors a very successful summer workshop for
high school students to explore the faith. All of these efforts have
very successfully enhanced the spiritual life of the college.

In addition to the direct efforts of the Campus Ministry Office, the
theology program of the college strongly complements the work
of Campus Ministry. The theology program supports the faith
development of all students, much as does the various Campus
Ministry activities. Like Campus Ministry, the theology program
helps perpetuate the Catholic character of the college and its
legacy in the Brothers and Congregation of Holy Cross. In
addition, there are less formal and structured ways in which the
theology program assists Campus Ministry. The theology faculty
will frequently provide assistance with campus liturgies,
catechesis, and outreach efforts such as retreats.

There is a lack of physical facilities, especially athletic
facilities, and also campus sports activities.

This concern of the 1997 team has been significantly addressed



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY

The largest growth
in college facilities
has been in the

area of student life.

The highest

priority for a new
campus facility is
the plan for a new

recreational center.

At the time of the
1997 self study,
tuition and fees
accounted for
approximately 92%
of all college
revenue. In the
2004-2005 fiscal
year, tuition and
fees comprised
43% of the
college’s revenue.

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

by the college.

Since the last comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College has
added residential life to its services for students. Perhaps more
than any other programmatic change, this addition has sparked a
transformation that has affected all college programs. The
largest growth in college facilities has been in the area of student
life. Five residence facilities are now utilized (Anselm, Basil,
James, Pulte, and South Halls). Also, there are outdoor courts
for basketball and tennis, and outdoor fields for lacrosse and
soccer.

In addition to the facilities, the college made a considerable
investment in programs. With the growth in residence life, the
college has developed intramural and club sports for students.
Students may also patrticipate in certain club and intramural
sports activities at the University of Notre Dame and Saint Mary’s
College. One of the most important developments in this area for
the college will be the inauguration of intercollegiate athletics.
Beginning in the 2006-2007 academic year, Holy Cross College
will begin fielding intercollegiate sports teams in the National
Association of Intercollegiate Athletics (NAIA). The first sport the
college will organize is men’s and women'’s cross country. Plans
include the addition of men’s and women'’s soccer in 2007-2008.

The highest priority for a new campus facility is the plan for a
new recreational center. The center will provide space for
competitive intercollegiate athletic activities as well as for
recreational and fithess sports. A significant fundraising effort
has been underway for several years. While the college still
does not have enough funds to break ground, progress continues
to be made, and all members of the college community are
hopeful that the recreational facility will become a reality soon.

The college is too dependent on the portion of its income
from student tuition and fees.

Since the last comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College has
improved its income breakdown through greater diversification of
revenue sources. At the time of the 1997 self study, tuition and
fees accounted for approximately 92% of all college revenue. In
the 2004-2005 fiscal year, tuition and fees comprised 43% of the
college’s revenue.

There are two primary reasons for the reduction in dependency
on tuition and fees. One is the introduction of residence life since
the last self study. Income from student housing now makes up
16% of college revenue. When combined with the percentage of
revenue from tuition and fees, students directly contribute
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approximately 59% of the college’s revenue. A review of reports
from other institutions suggests that this percentage is fairly
comparable with other colleges and universities.

The second reason for the reduction in dependency on tuition
and fees is the significant growth in fundraising at the college. At
the time of the last self study, gifts to the college accounted for
only 3% of institutional revenues. In the 2004-2005 fiscal year,
gift income had grown to the point where it accounted for 37% of
total college revenues. Holy Cross College has had great
success with fundraising in recent years, as the college has
taken advantage of some special development opportunities.

The decline in percentage of college income attributable to tuition
and fees has been fortuitous given the decline in enrollment over
the past four years. With the increased revenue from other
sources, the college has been able to absorb the fiscal effects of
the enrollment decline much more easily than it would have at
the time of the last self study.

The endowment is too small for the college to develop,
meet future challenges, and assume its place in the
South Bend community.

Holy Cross College has made an effort to increase its institutional
endowment since the last comprehensive self study. At the time
of the last self study, the endowment of the college was
approximately $2.1 million. In comparative terms to other
colleges and universities, Holy Cross College still has a modest
endowment. In the 2004-2005 fiscal year, the college’s
endowment totaled approximately $3.3 million. Like most other
colleges and universities, the college’s endowment has
experienced some setbacks in the past five years, but the trend
over the past ten years has been toward an improved outlook for
the college’s endowment funds.

The Holy Cross College Board of Trustees has been determined
to increase the endowment in order to protect the college’s fiscal
position. In the period of vigorous programmatic growth of the
past ten years, the college has devoted a sizeable portion of its
revenues as investment in capital and program development.
The timing of this strategy has presented other challenges to the
leadership of the college. Despite the current cycle of declining
enroliment, the college has avoided the temptation to tap
reserves for budgetary purposes. However, there is no question
that the college will gain fiscal flexibility and strength by
increasing endowment funds.
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Concerns from the 2002 review

The college must determine how the baccalaureate
program (liberal studies) fits into the academic
governance model of the college.

Three years of working with the liberal studies program has
helped clarify ways in which the program should be incorporated
into the college’s academic governance structure. The college
has lodged oversight of the liberal studies program within the
Academic Council. This fits with how academic programs are
governed at the college. In the case of the liberal studies
program, this oversight by the council was especially important
because of the multi-disciplinary nature of the program.

The experience with the liberal studies program has helped
inform the planning for new academic degree programs. Like
with the liberal studies program, the Academic Council will
provide the means for shared governance for any new program
developed. When possible, new programs will have divisional
oversight. This represents a change from the current situation
because, due to the multi-disciplinary character of the liberal
studies program, no one academic division of the college has
control for the liberal studies curriculum and program activities.
With divisional oversight of new programs, the divisions retain
control over the academic standards and content of their
degrees, and the Academic Council, on behalf of the entire
college faculty, retains authority over the program.

The methods of assessment are inchoate.

The work that the faculty have accomplished in the liberal studies
program since 2002 has included considerable efforts in the
assessment of student learning. There are four methods used to
assess learning in the program: the electronic portfolio, the
Capstone presentation, the internship evaluation, and the
interview/survey of alumni.

The electronic portfolio and the Capstone presentation are
developed through the Integrative Seminar courses and the
Capstone course. Within these courses, a student accomplishes
two tasks. One is that the electronic portfolio is designed and
created to highlight learning throughout the program. The
second task is that each student publicly presents the portfolios
in the Capstone presentation to a committee of faculty and
external community members. Development of the electronic
portfolio begins in the junior year, and the portfolio includes a mix
of assigned and student selected works. In addition to providing
formative information about the program and student learning
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during the years in the liberal studies program, the portfolio also
serves as the basis for the content of the presentation. The final
grade for the Capstone is composed of an evaluation of the
portfolio and the final presentation. Successful completion of the
portfolio and presentation are necessary for fulfilling the
graduation requirements of the program.

A required component of the presentation and portfolio is an
incorporation of the college’s nine transferable skills (critical
thinking, creative thinking, writing, oral communication, library
and information literacy, quantitative reasoning, reading,
religious, moral, and social development, and technological
skills). Each student must demonstrate how the transferable
skills have been developed during the program. In order to
address the transferable skills explicitly, the Integrative Seminar
courses in the junior and senior years make an explicit attempt to
build the students’ understanding of the transferable skills and
their abilities to self-assess the success of the skills
development.

The internship evaluation is conducted through the Lilly Career
Development Center. As a required element of the liberal
studies program, the internship helps the students make
connections between their liberal arts education and the world of
work in which they all will eventually find themselves. The
internship evaluation is based on both the insights of those who
supervise the students in the internships as well as the students’
own reflections on the experience. Internship supervisors are
asked to evaluate students on their preparation and
performance, and these evaluations take place both during and
after the experience. Students are asked to connect the
internship experience with their undergraduate work and to self-
assess their readiness for the world of work. They do so during
their internships through journals that are uploaded to their
electronic portfolios for review by the director of the Lilly Center
and the student advisors. After their internships, students submit
reflective essays that summarize the value of their internships in
terms of their learning in the program. Students also have an
opportunity to comment on the administration of the internship
program.

The alumni interview/survey provides an opportunity for alumni to
assess the significance of the liberal studies program in their
lives after graduation. The Lilly Center follows up with all
graduates to determine where they are working, what graduate
schools they are attending, and in what service programs they
are participating. As of now, the small number of program alumni
has allowed the college to interview all liberal studies graduates.
Future plans call for a formal survey to track alumni at set
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intervals after graduation (for instance, five, ten, and twenty
years after commencement). That survey has not yet been
implemented because there is not a critical mass of alumni who
have been out of college for several years. The future plans to
combine graduate interviews with the formal alumni survey will
allow for a broad, longitudinal, and textured reflection on the
program from the perspective of those who have completed their
undergraduate education.

An issue that is an ongoing concern for the college is how to
integrate in formal ways the assessment of student learning and
the evaluation of programs into budgeting. Because of the
relatively small size of the college’s budget, the process by which
the budget is created is not as formal as those found in many
other institutions. While the strategic planning processes of the
college are well established and fairly effective, the direct linking
of those processes to budgeting is immature.

Holy Cross College was required to submit a progress report to
the Commission in 2005. The purpose of the report was to
describe the implementation of the assessment plan for the
liberal studies program and the effects of the various assessment
strategies. The report was accepted by the Commission.

Program planning and fiscal constraints may be
inconsistent.

As outlined in the original program proposal to the Higher
Learning Commission, the expectations for the financial impact of
the liberal studies program on Holy Cross College were proven
correct. The college was able to absorb the costs of the program
without any negative consequences to the institution’s fiscal
health. The reason for this was the smart planning that went into
designing the curriculum and utilizing faculty resources. Where
possible, substitutions in faculty workload helped accommodate
the new courses with minimal utilization of adjunct faculty.
Another factor that was unanticipated (and unwelcome) was the
overall decline in enrollment at the college. This resulted in
some excess capacity in faculty instructional loads that allowed
for easier implementation of the liberal studies curriculum.

Combined with these factors has been the increasing number of
students majoring in liberal studies. There has been a strong
and steady increase in the percentage of students persisting
through the junior year for each year of the program’s existence.
This has certainly helped the bottom line of the college by
positively contributing to the overall enroliment of the college.
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The deliberate mixture of a four-year and a two-year cul-
ture may be difficult to maintain.

Holy Cross College has discovered that this concern of the team
was prophetic. Faculty, administration, and trustees determined
early into baccalaureate education that the college cannot have
two identities. It also became clear that the institution would be
defined by its highest degree or otherwise the credibility of that
degree would suffer. With this understanding, and with an eye
on increasing enrollment, the faculty and administration of Holy
Cross College considered other programs that would further de-
velop the college as a baccalaureate institution.

One of the effects of this realization has been that the faculty and
staff are more conscientious about the subtle signals that the col-
lege sends to students regarding the Holy Cross College experi-
ence. Policies and processes have been cast in a new light by
the college’s transition to a four-year institution. The college has
become more careful about building in the expectation that stu-
dents will stay for their entire baccalaureate experience, not
transfer as they would have done in previous years. This has
required faculty and staff to be more intentional about how the
Holy Cross College experience is presented to current and pro-
spective students.

Section Five - The 2006 self study

Holy Cross College President Brother Richard Gilman began
planning for the self study in late 2004. He named Dr. William
Mangan, the college’s vice president for academic affairs, as the
self-study coordinator, and Margaret Bowker, assistant in the Lilly
Career Development Center, as staff to the self-study steering
committee. A tentative timeline for the self study was created. In
early 2005, Brother Richard appointed the members of the self-
study steering committee. The members of the steering commit-
tee were the following faculty and staff members.

Edward Gareau (associate professor of theology)

Dr. Brian Greve (associate professor of English)

Dr. Tina Holland (vice president for student affairs)

Mark Mullaney (vice president for administration)

Timothy Ryan (director of the Lilly Career Development Center)
Father Merwyn Thomas, C.S.C. (associate professor of mathe-
matics)

Brother Lawrence Unfried, C.S.C. (associate professor of biol-

ogy)
Dr. Doris Van Auken (associate professor of psychology)
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were responsible for data collection and analysis. Upon comple-
tion of the data collection and analysis for their respective crite-
ria, the criterion groups drafted reports of the findings. These
reports formed the bases for the chapters of the self study de-
voted to the Criteria for Accreditation.

Throughout the self-study process, the steering committee met
periodically to discuss the Criteria for Accreditation, the self-study
plan, and the data analysis.

Timeline

2004
December
1

2005
February
1

March
15

April

July
15

August
17

September
16

October
13

The president appointed the self-study
coordinator and began construction of the
self-study timeline.

The president appointed faculty and staff
to self-study steering committee.

First meeting of the self-study steering
committee to finalize time line and review
accreditation process. Criterion commit-
tees organized according to the Criteria for
Accreditation.

Criterion committees met for the first time
to plan work and set meeting schedules.

Committees began planning for data col-
lection and analysis.

Self-study plan and timeline submitted to
the Commission.

Visit by Dr. Appleson to campus.

Criterion committees submitted items for
institutional surveys for faculty, staff, and
students.

As part of the retreat for the Board of
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November
7

25

December
9

2006
February
1

March
17

30

April
21

July

28

August
21

October
23 to 27
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Trustees, the self-study steering committee
and operational planning groups met with
the Board of Trustees to review prelim-
inary findings and discuss long-range
planning.

Trustees approved resolution to seek con-
tinued accreditation with the Higher Learn-
ing Commission and requests for change.

Began institutional surveys of faculty, staff,
and students.
Began analysis of institutional surveys.

Results of the institutional surveys of fac-
ulty, staff, and students distributed to cri-
terion committees for analysis.

Began institutional survey of trustees.

Drafts of criterion committee

reports submitted for review by the self-
study steering committee.

Board of Trustees met and reviewed
planning.

Final criterion committee reports submit-
ted.

Draft of self-study chapters made available
for review by the self-study steering com-
mittee.

Draft of self-study made available to Dr.
Appleson for review.

Final version of self-study report printed
and distributed.

Self-study site visit.
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Section Six - Request to the Higher Learning Commis-
sion

As a result of this comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College
respectfully requests the follow from the Higher Learning Com-
mission.

1. To award the college continuing accreditation for the next
ten years

2. To approve the college’s request to change its Stipula-
tions on Affiliation Status to remove the restriction on
limiting baccalaureate education to the liberal studies
degree

3. To approve the college’s request to add two new bachelor
of arts programs, one in education, and the other in
theology
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Section One — Academics

Curriculum and assessment
Curriculum

The historic focus of the Holy Cross College curriculum has been
the liberal arts. The college’s lone baccalaureate program is the
bachelor of arts in liberal studies. The college continues to
award its oldest degree, the associate of arts degree.

The bachelor of arts in liberal studies is a multidisciplinary degree
program drawing from theology, philosophy, art, literature, busi-
ness, communications, sociology, history, statistics, and the sci-
ences. The liberal studies program is organized around a group
of core courses that all students are required to complete during
the junior and senior years. The core courses typically comprise
between ten and fifteen semester credits during the each semes-
ter of the upper-class years.

Students in the liberal studies program complete three other re-
quirements for the Bachelor of Arts degree. One requirement is
that students must complete an international experience in a part
of the world in which the Brothers and Congregation of Holy
Cross have ministries. Currently, the college offers programs in
Ghana and Peru, and plans are being designed for a program in
Bangladesh. Another liberal studies program requirement is that
each student must complete an internship in an appropriate ca-
reer field. A third program requirement is that all students must
complete a service learning project at an approved site.

Liberal studies majors may complete optional academic concen-
trations in theology, literature, psychology, and information sys-
tems. The optional concentrations are a minimum of twenty-
seven credits and may be completed at any time during bacca-
laureate studies.

The associate of arts degree approximates general education at
many colleges and universities. Students must complete sixty-
one credits, including a minimum number in each of the college’s
four academic divisions (theology and philosophy, humanities,
social and behavioral sciences, and sciences and mathematics).
In addition, students must complete a compaosition requirement
and a mathematics requirement.

The college’s curriculum develops nine transferable skills as
learning objectives. The skills provide a set of common learning
goals for the college curriculum. The skills are critical thinking,
creative thinking, writing, reading, religious, moral, and social
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development, oral communication, quantitative literacy, library
and information literacy, and technological skills. The transfer-
able skills are woven into courses throughout the curriculum.

Assessment

The assessment of student learning is coordinated by the direc-
tor of assessment. The director works with faculty on integrating
assessment into the curriculum and incorporating the college’s
transferable skills in courses. The director also compiles and re-
ports on assessment data on a yearly basis.

The liberal studies program uses electronic portfolios, Capstone
presentations, internship evaluations, and alumni interviews/
surveys as the primary means of assessment. The electronic
portfolio and the Capstone presentation are developed through
the Integrative Seminar courses and the Capstone course. Suc-
cessful completion of the portfolio and presentation are neces-
sary for fulfilling the graduation requirements of the program. A
required component of the presentation and portfolio is an incor-
poration of the college’s nine transferable skills.

The internship evaluation is based on both the insights of those
who supervise the students in the internships as well as the stu-
dents’ own reflections on the experience. Internship supervisors
are asked to evaluate students on their preparation and perform-
ance. Students are asked to connect the internship experience
with their undergraduate work and to self-assess their readiness
for the world of work. After their internships, students submit re-
flective essays that summarize the value of their internships in
terms of their learning in the program.

The alumni interview/survey asks alumni to assess the signifi-
cance of the liberal studies program from a post-graduation per-
spective. The small number of program alumni has allowed the
college to interview all liberal studies graduates. Future plans
call for a formal survey to track alumni at set intervals after
graduation. That survey has not yet been implemented because
there is not a critical mass of alumni who have been out of col-
lege for several years.

Faculty

There are twenty-seven full-time faculty members spread out
across the four academic divisions at the college. There are
three faculty members with appointments of between half- and
three-quarters time. In addition, there are approximately fourteen
adjunct faculty members who will teach courses throughout the
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academic year (Fall and Spring Semesters, Summer Sessions |
and II).

The Academic Council is the primary group in which shared gov-
ernance is exercised. The council is comprised of the division
chairs from the four academic divisions, two elected faculty rep-
resentatives, the vice president for academic affairs, and the di-
rector of academic advising. In addition to the Academic Coun-
cil, the Faculty Forum functions as a committee of the whole fac-
ulty. The forum elects a president, vice president, and secretary,
and is governed by a set of by-laws.

The Center for Faculty Development coordinates the professional
development activities for faculty that are sponsored by the col-
lege. The center is led by the director. The center hosts on-
campus activities for faculty as well as provides funding for fac-
ulty to attend off-campus events. The center also directs the col-
lege’s program of internal faculty development grants.

Academic support services
The Richard and Lucille McKenna Library

The Richard and Lucille McKenna Library is the primary learning
resource at Holy Cross College. The McKenna Library houses
approximately 16,000 volumes and 120 periodicals on the Holy
Cross College campus. The McKenna Library provides access
to three on-line encyclopedias, the on-line Oxford English Dic-
tionary, and the Lexis-Nexis database. The on-line resources of
the McKenna Library may be accessed from any computer con-
nected to the campus computing network.

Holy Cross College patrticipates in several library consortia
through the McKenna Library. Students and faculty have access
from campus to more than five million total volumes and 7,500
periodicals through arrangements with libraries that include the
Hesburgh Library at the University of Notre Dame, the Cushwa-
Leighton Library at Saint Mary’s College, and others. Holy Cross
College students and faculty also have access to Inspire, the
Indiana virtual library. Inspire provides full-text electronic delivery
of journal and periodical information from more than 3,500 print
journals and periodicals.

Center for Student Support Services
The Center for Student Support Services is located in the faculty

area and houses academic advising, disabilities services, and
tutoring services offered through the Mathematics and
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Writing Centers.

Academic advising has three full-time academic advisors and
three part-time advisors. The director of academic advising coor-
dinates the work of all advisors. In addition to their routine advis-
ing duties, the three full-time advisors also teach the First-Year
Seminar course (HCCC 101) for all first-year students.

Holy Cross College has a full-time staff member in student coun-
seling services. Part of this staff member’s responsibilities is to
serve as disabilities services coordinator for students. This in-
volves working with faculty in arranging appropriate learning ac-
commodations for students with documented disabilities.

The Mathematics and Writing Centers are both led by faculty with
partial reassignments. The centers provide tutorial services for
students with mathematics and writing needs. In addition, the
centers utilize student tutors as part of their services.

Lilly Career Development Center

The Lilly Career Development Center provides career services to
students. The center is led by the director, and a support staff
member assists the director. The center helps students with
identifying job-shadowing experiences and internship place-
ments, resume writing, interviewing techniques, and job search
strategies. The director evaluates internships and conducts the
alumni interview/survey to track alumni after graduation. The di-
rector assists faculty in preparing students for careers and gradu-
ate schools by making formal presentations as part of courses.

In addition, the center provides post-graduate assistance to
alumni in job searches. The Lilly Career Development Center
was started with assistance from a grant from the Lilly Endow-
ment.

Registrar

The college employs a full-time registrar to manage student aca-
demic records. The registrar compiles the course schedule in
the college’s administrative computing system and responds to
student and alumni requests for transcripts and other academic
records.

Community and continuing education

Holy Cross College offers community and continuing education
programming that functions as educational outreach to the re-
gion. The director creates a program of community education
courses that serve as enrichment opportunities for people in the
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region. Community education courses and activities operate pri-
marily in the Fall and Spring Semesters, but there are occasional
opportunities for services in the Summer.

In addition to community education, the director identifies and
coordinates special continuing education programs for profes-
sionals and organizations. Courses and programs may be de-
signed for specific licensure or continuing education needs of
professionals. They also may be designed to build knowledge
and skills within the context of specific organizations. The direc-
tor is in frequent dialogue with community organizations regard-
ing the potential for new continuing education initiatives.

Section Two — Student life
Residence life

Residence life at Holy Cross College is led by the director of resi-
dence life. The director coordinates the residence life staff of hall
directors and resident assistants. The residence life staff is re-
sponsible for five student residences on the Holy Cross College
campus: Anselm Hall, Basil Hall, James Hall, Pulte Hall, and
South Hall.

Supporting residence life is dining services. Dining services at
Holy Cross College are offered through Sodexho. Sodexho op-
erates the colleges cafeteria located in the Anselm, Basil, and
James Halls complex.

Student activities

The director of student activities coordinates planning for various
student activities. A full-time staff member has a part of his port-
folio of responsibilities the director’s position. The Student Gov-
ernment Association is the primary vehicle for student involve-
ment in college planning. Officers for the Student Government
Association are elected by students. Other student groups on
campus receive their approval to operate through the Student
Government Association and the director of student activities.

Campus ministry

The Campus Ministry Office provides assistance to students in
their spiritual development. The office is headed by the director
of campus minister (who is a full-time staff member) and a part-
time assistant director. The office coordinates the Rite for Chris-
tian Initiation of Adults (RCIA) program for assisting people with
reception into and full participation in the Church, coordinates
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the schedule for weekly and daily Masses and special liturgies,
plans retreats, theology discussion sessions, and service oppor-
tunities, organizes a student group called the Mission Team to
identify student leaders who are interested in strengthening the
faith life of the campus, and sponsors a summer workshop for
high school students to explore the faith.

Athletics

The college’s athletic programming is led by the director of athlet-
ics. The person who is director is a full-time staff member with
part-time responsibilities for athletics. The college has devel-
oped intramural and club sports for students. Students may also
participate in certain club and intramural sports activities at the
University of Notre Dame and Saint Mary’s College. One of the
most important developments in this area for the college will be
the inauguration of intercollegiate athletics. Beginning in the
2006-2007 academic year, Holy Cross College will field intercol-
legiate sports teams in the National Association of Intercollegiate
Athletics (NAIA). The first sport the college will organize is men’s
and women'’s cross country. Plans include the addition of men’s
and women'’s soccer in 2007-2008.

Section Three — Support services
Admissions

The Admissions Office has a staff that includes the director, three
admissions counselors, and an assistant, all of whom are full-
time. The director coordinates the efforts of the entire staff. Un-
der the leadership of the admissions staff, the Student Ambassa-
dors group employs current students to maintain communication
with prospective students.

In the Fall of 2005, the college’s enroliment was 362. The accep-
tance rate for applicants to the college is approximately 85%.

The average SAT score of entering students in Fall 2005 was
1120, and the average ACT score was 23.

Financial aid

The director of financial aid leads the college’s financial aid ser-
vices. The position is full-time. Holy Cross College has exten-
sive need-based scholarships and grants for students with finan-
cial need. In addition, merit-based scholarships recognize stu-
dent academic excellence. The director manages the disburse-
ment of endowed and annual scholarships. The director also
packages all financial aid, maintains records, and compiles
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external reports.

Approximately 60% of Holy Cross College students apply for fi-
nancial aid. The college’s tuition discount rate is 17.8%.

Information technology

The director of information technology leads all technology staff
and services. In addition to the full-time director, there is a net-
work administrator and coordinator of student technology ser-
vices, both full-time positions. The college utilizes a number of
student assistants in the public computer laboratory.

Business services

The business office of the college, led by the vice president for
administration, utilizes a full-time accountant and an accounts
payable staff member. The business office is responsible for stu-
dent accounts, and oversees the college payroll and benefits
system.

The vice president, under direction of the Finance Committee of
the Board of Trustees, oversees the college’s investments and
debt. In the 2004-2005 fiscal year, investments totaled approxi-
mately $6.7 million. Long-term debt totaled approximately $8.65
million.

Facilities

The academic life at Holy Cross College is centered in the Dris-
coll and Vincent buildings. These buildings also house most of
the administrative services at the college. In addition, the college
uses five residence facilities (Anselm, Basil, James, Pulte, and
South Halls). Also, there are outdoor courts for basketball and
tennis, and outdoor fields for lacrosse and soccer. In addition, a
maintenance facility is used for equipment and storage. The col-
lege employs UNICCO to provide buildings and grounds ser-
vices.

Holy Cross College owns its buildings and their “footprints.” The
college has debt on some buildings, including the Anselm, Basil,
and James Halls complex. The college leases land from the
Brothers of Holy Cross for a parking lot and the outdoor athletic
fields.
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Section Four — College advancement
Public information

The college has a full-time associate director of marketing, com-
munication, and public relations. The associate director serves
as the contact for media. In addition, the associate director over-
sees the content of the college’s publications and advertise-
ments, including the content on the college’s Web site.

Fundraising

Under the leadership of the vice president for advancement, the
development office has an associate director of development and
an assistant. The office is responsible for prospect research,
maintaining giving records, and coordinating fundraising appeals.
In addition, solicitation of major gifts and alumni relations are di-
rected from the office.

Holy Cross College received approximately $834,000 in contribu-
tions during the 2004-2005 fiscal year.
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Criterion One — Mission and Integrity

Criterion Statement — Holy Cross College operates with in-
tegrity to ensure the fulfillment of its mission through struc-
tures and processes that involve the board, administration,
faculty, staff, and students.

I. Background

The Criterion One committee examined the fulfillment of the crite-
rion. The members of the criterion committee and their institu-
tional responsibilities are as follows.

Dr. Tina Holland (Co-chair) — vice president for student affairs
Brother Lawrence Unfried (Co-chair) — biology
Jane Allen — academic advising

Douglas Blair — information technology

Sara Gallo — admissions

Jennifer Hall — advancement

Father Thomas King — history

Robert Kloska — campus ministry

Aloysius Niemier — mathematics

Melissa Smeltzer — theology

Richard Sullivan — registrar

David Bender — trustee

Brother Robert Fillmore — trustee

John Hardesty — trustee

Michael Method — trustee

Brian Regan — trustee

Timothy Shelby — trustee

Mark Tabit — trustee

Activities undertaken to strengthen this area since the last self
study

e The college has reviewed and redrafted the mission state-
ment in conjunction with the consideration of additions to the
curriculum and enhancements to the religious identity of the
college.

e A new student orientation program has been implemented
that specifically addresses the mission.

e The first-year experience for students has been enhanced by

the creation of the First-Year Seminar course that includes
students’ direct engagement with the mission. As part of the
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experience, students take advantage of formal opportunities
to live the college’s mission of transforming students in mind,
body, and spirit.

¢ The college has implemented a formal mission orientation
program for new faculty and staff.

e The college has initiated formal training among student life
staff in the history, traditions, and mission of the Catholic
Church, the Congregation of Holy Cross, and the Brothers of
Holy Cross.

e The college has conducted strategic planning retreats with
the Board of Trustees. Planning retreats focused on the col-
lege’s mission, history, values, traditions, culture, and circum-
stances as they relate to the college’s internal and external
environment.

e Through the implementation of the liberal studies program,
the college has advanced and clarified its mission, especially
in terms of its founders’ vision of an adaptable, practical, and
accessible liberal arts institution. Consideration of the col-
lege’s mission was central to the discussions that led to the
creation of the program.

e The 2001 campus-wide mission symposium served as an
opportunity for all college constituents to clarify their under-
standing of the college’s mission from various institutional
perspectives, including those of students, staff, administra-
tors, faculty, trustees, and alumni.

[I. Methods and Evidence

The Criterion One committee examined the structures and proc-
esses that involve the board, administration, faculty, staff, and
students. The committee undertook this examination in order to
evaluate the integrity of the college mission. In so doing, the
committee organized its work around the five core components of
this criterion.

The committee applied a relatively liberal definition of the term
“mission documents” when selecting which institutional docu-
ments to review. Mission documents were considered to be
those documents that referred explicitly to the mission and val-
ues of the college. In a similar way, the committee took a broad
institutional approach when selecting which college personnel to
consult. The presumption is that all faculty and staff, as well as
trustees and students, should be cognizant of the college’s iden-
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tity as a mission-driven organization.

The committee’s research revealed some recurring themes with
regard to the college’s mission integrity.

The Criterion One committee reviewed the following documents.

Admissions materials

Administrative memoranda

Annual fall faculty in-service materials
Campus ministry materials

College charter

College mission statement

College website

Development/Advancement materials
Faculty course evaluations

Faculty handbook

Financial statements/audit reports

Job descriptions

Liberal studies program descriptions

Minutes of meetings of the Administrative Council
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees
Minutes of meetings of the Faculty Forum
Minutes of meetings of the Student Government
Minutes of meetings of the Student Life Council
Mission symposium materials

Officers’ reports for the Board of Trustees
Orientation information packets

Past issues of Connections magazine

Past issues of Crossword newsletter
President’s reports to the Board of Trustees
Previous self-study report

Residence life training materials

Strategic planning materials

Student government bylaws

Student handbook

Survey responses

Vision statements and accompanying goals
Wall hangings on campus

Interviews were conducted with the following people:

Academic advisors

Alumni of the program in liberal studies
Directors of various campus offices
Faculty members

Officers of the college

Parents of current students
Prospective students
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

Student Government Association officers
Trustees

[ll. Core Components

Core Component la— Holy Cross College’s mission docu-
ments are clear and articulate publicly the college’s commit-
ments.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 83% of students,
81% of faculty, 92% of staff and administrators, and 96% of trus-
tees agree that they understand the mission of Holy Cross Col-
lege.

A review of the Holy Cross College mission and vision state-
ments shows that college clearly defines its Catholic identity, its
tradition as an institution in the legacy of the Congregation and
the Brothers of Holy Cross, and its purpose as meeting the intel-
lectual, physical, spiritual, and social needs of the students it
serves.

The college’s mission documents are available to students and
the public in many ways, including through publications from aca-
demic affairs, advancement, student life, and admissions publica-
tions.

An examination of the college’s Web site reveals it is perhaps the
major vehicle for making mission documents available to the
public.

A review of the vision statements of the strategic planning opera-
tional groups shows a clear linkage among the roles that bene-
factors, alumni, endowments, and community relations play in
realizing the mission of the college.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 77% of students,
65% of faculty, and 75% of staff and administrators agree that
college literature accurately defines the college’s commitments.

75% of students indicated on the self-study survey that the ad-
missions materials they received accurately portray the college.

Materials from the development of the liberal studies program
and Faculty Forum minutes reveal that new academic programs
have been directly inspired by the historic mission of the Brothers
of Holy Cross.
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Orientation program materials, residence hall staff training mate-
rials, and student life program literature demonstrate efforts to
respect the intentions of the college founders when conducting
operations and when determining college policy.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

A review reveals that neither the mission nor vision statements
explicitly declare that the college has “high academic standards,”
that the commitment to those high academic standards is
“strong,” or that those standards “sustain and advance the excel-
lence of higher learning.”

A review of college publications and interviews with faculty and
staff indicate that, despite some efforts to clarify the college’s
identity as either a baccalaureate or an associate institution,
there remain some inconsistencies in the messages received
both by some internal constituents (faculty, students, staff) and
by some external constituents (parents of current students, trus-
tees, prospective students).

Student life literature and reports from student life staff members
and students reveal that health and wellness programs must bet-
ter meet the needs of on-campus students in order to foster an
environment for developing mind, body, and spirit. Also, health
and wellness programs do not accommodate the needs of our
students with disabilities to their full extent.

Interviews with faculty and staff, and reviews of minutes of Fac-
ulty Forum and Student Life Council meetings raise a shared
view that there is no commonly understood process as to how
the college’s mission statement is revised. According to those
sources of evidence, there appears to be consensus that the
most recent revision process was not sufficiently collaborative.

Interviews with faculty, staff, and students reveal the widespread
contention that the most recently drafted mission statement,
while largely accurate and inclusive of the college’s values and
identity, is poorly written and fraught with syntax errors.

Core Component 1b — In its mission documents, the Holy
Cross College recognizes the diversity of its learners, other
constituents, and the greater society it serves.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the college’s mission statement shows the clear

statement that the college “accommodate[s] a broad spectrum of
needs, interests, and backgrounds within a challenging, suppor-
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tive, and sacred environment.”

The college’s vision statement for enroliment management states
that, “Ideally, the student body will be gender balanced, repre-
senting a unique socio-economic and cultural blend and appro-
priate geographic spread.”

Faculty and student handbooks clearly state behavioral expecta-
tions that are congruent with the college’s mission and that affirm
the college’s commitment to honor the dignity and worth of indi-
viduals. Explicit in those expectations is the presumption that
faculty and students will support and uphold the mission and val-
ues of the college as a Catholic institution in the tradition of the
Brothers of Holy Cross.

82% of students agree on the self-study survey that they are
treated well by the college, and 55% state that they feel a part of
the college community.

The self-study survey results indicate that 82% of students, 83%
of faculty, and 88% of staff and administrators agree that Holy
Cross College welcomes diversity of its community members.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Minutes of various committees and councils, as well as reports
from some faculty and staff, indicate the perception that there
needs to be more widespread involvement of the diverse college
constituents in the major and regular processes of reviewing and
revising the college mission statement.

Core Component 1c — Understanding of and support for the
mission pervade Holy Cross College.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the mission statement reveals that the mission of
Holy Cross College, which is to transform lives by pursuing an
integrated development of mind, body, and spirit, is clearly articu-
lated.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 83% of students,
81% of faculty, 92% of staff and administrators, and 96% of trus-
tees agree that they understand the mission of Holy Cross Col-
lege.

A review of the various vision statements of the strategic plan-
ning operational groups shows a direct connection between stra-
tegic decisions and the college’s mission. The vision statements
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declare that college programs must be developed in ways that
are appropriate to the mission, and that college resources will be
utilized primarily in support of mission activities.

College publications, including admissions and advancement
documents, highlight the institutional mission by addressing is-
sues of interest to parents, alumni, and benefactors. Discussions
of the college’s mission, history, and values are primary content
for such publications.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

While survey results indicate that most faculty staff and students
(more than 80% of all respondents) agree that Holy Cross Col-
lege promotes its Catholic character, documents (residence life
and campus ministry mission statements, job descriptions, com-
mittee and council minutes, handbooks) reveal that the various
functional areas of the college seem to have different under-
standings of the college’s Catholic, Holy Cross mission. While
the college’s historic Holy Cross mission may be very obvious in
some areas, it may seem hardly present in others.

Survey results indicate that only 30% of faculty respondents and
16% of staff respondents agree that alumni are dedicated to the
college. This indicates a possibility that alumni may not be as

incorporated into the life of the institution as would be desirable.

Core Component 1d — Holy Cross College’s governance and
administrative structures promote effective leadership and
support collaborative processes that enable it to fulfill its
mission.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Minutes and agendas of board meetings clearly reflect the
board’s focus on the college’s mission. Significant time and en-
ergy is devoted to issues related to the resources of time, talent,
and treasure needed to carry out the college’s mission. Board
retreats focus more specifically on strategic planning, with the
ultimate goal being mission fulfillment.

A review of orientation materials for new members of the board
of trustees are adequate for introducing new board members to
the college’s mission. The focus is almost entirely on the historic
Catholic and Holy Cross mission and identity of the college.

A review of standing and ad hoc committee minutes demonstrate

that these committees cover matters such as strategic planning,
academic governance and program planning, admissions, and
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student life. These committees have broad participation of fac-
ulty and staff in institutional decision-making, and use the col-
lege’s mission and vision as context for activities.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 89% of students,
77% of faculty, and 84% of staff believe that college administra-
tors are accessible.

Examination of the college’s budget and financial audit shows
that the college invests considerable institutional resources in the
professional development of the faculty and staff. Furtherance of
the college’s mission is one of the top priorities for professional
development activities funded by the college.

A review of board members’ and administrators’ respective re-
sumes and job descriptions reveal that people within the govern-
ance and administrative structures of the college are committed
to the mission and appropriately qualified to carry out their de-
fined duties.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

In reviewing agenda and minutes from various campus sources,
there appears to be an uneven emphasis on the college’s Catho-
lic and Holy Cross mission and identity in the workings of many
college groups. Some groups more explicitly emphasize the mis-
sion and identity in their planning than do other groups.

Interviews with faculty and staff indicate that organizational infor-
mation for internal use is frequently inadequate. Some job de-
scriptions and organizational charts are outdated. There is no
staff handbook, and the faculty handbook is in need of revision.

According to self-study survey results, 46% of faculty and 24% of
staff disagreed that the college’s organizational structures are
well defined.

A review of meeting minutes and interviews with faculty and staff
suggest that the success and productivity of campus committees
and groups vary greatly due to leadership differences. For ex-
ample, the effectiveness of the Faculty Forum, an important vehi-
cle for shared academic governance, depends almost entirely on
the quality of the Forum'’s leadership. Also, various councils and
committees are not consistent in their publication of accurate and
timely minutes.

A review of the agenda of committees indicates that there is cur-
rently no student representation on the Academic and Student
Life Councils, or on student judicial boards.
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Interviews with faculty and staff indicate that performance
evaluations of personnel are not conducted consistently through-
out the institution.

Core Component 1e — Holy Cross College upholds and pro-
tects its integrity.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

An examination of the bylaws of the college indicates that the
Brothers of Holy Cross and the Board of Trustees have clearly
delineated responsibilities and authority by which they abide.

Review of orientation materials for new students and syllabi for
the First-Year Seminar course (HCCC 101) show that the history
and traditions of the Congregation of Holy Cross, the Brothers of
the Congregation of Holy Cross, and the college are presented to
first-year students. Students are required to participate in “Mind,
Body, and Spirit” activities to encourage a holistic approach to
their own education.

A review of orientation materials for new faculty and staff demon-
strate that the history and traditions of the Congregation and the
Brothers of Holy Cross, and of the college are presented to new
employees. Also, college policies and procedures are explained
within the context of the college’s mission and the charisma of
Congregation and Brothers.

Self-study survey results indicate that 85% of faculty, 83% of
staff, and 85% of students agree that Holy Cross College is an
institution of integrity.

Examinations of various accreditation reports and institutional
audits, and interviews with staff indicate that Holy Cross College
abides by all federal and state laws, generally accepted reporting
standards, requests of benefactors, and accreditation require-
ments.

Analyses of college publications (such as admission materials,
development and public relations documents, and the Web site)
demonstrate that public information and marketing materials ac-
curately and fairly reflect the college.

A review of Student Life Council minutes, Student Government
Association minutes, documents from the office of student activi-
ties, campus ministry records, and all athletic materials indicate
that co-curricular activities promote the college mission and iden-
tity.
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Examinations of records from academic affairs and admissions
reveal that student admissions and academic dismissal decisions
are handled fairly, expeditiously, and without regard to institu-
tional enrollment concerns or inappropriate outside influences.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Comparisons of admissions and orientation materials show that
there are inconsistencies among messages conveyed to pro-
spective and incoming students. One area of particular concern
is the difference between some student expectations and the re-
ality with regard to the “Notre Dame connection” of the college.
Feedback from current and prospective students, parents, trus-
tees, academic advisors, and admissions personnel reveal that
more clarity is needed in public documents about the formal and
informal relationships that exist between Holy Cross College and
the University of Notre Dame.

Though college documents are generally accurate in their reflec-
tion of the college’s overall mission, a review of the college’s
Web site and brochures contain sparse references to the col-
lege’s Catholic identity.

Interviews with faculty and staff indicate some concern that sev-
eral of the college’s admissions and marketing materials fail to
emphasize the serious academic nature of the college in favor of
more trivial interests.

According to academic advisors, faculty members, residence life
personnel, and judicial affairs documents, there appear to be in-
consistencies in the overall message to prospective students
throughout various stages of the admissions process from re-
cruitment through orientation. These inconsistencies affect stu-
dent expectations about the Holy Cross College experience, in-
cluding expectations for the academic life and campus environ-
ment of the college.

V. Summary

After reviewing the evidence for this criterion, the analysis sug-
gests that Holy Cross College has fulfilled this criterion

As noted in the last self study report, the college’s ethos contin-
ues to be consistent with its Catholic foundation and the history
and heritage of the Brothers of Holy Cross. The mission state-
ment is lived out in the experience of the members of the college
community — trustees, administrators, faculty members, students,
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and alumni.

College officials have not allowed recent enrollment challenges
to cause institutional mission drift. College authorities have been
careful to ensure the integrity of admissions processes and ad-
herence to the college’s standards of academic performance and
student conduct.

New academic programs and student life offerings continue to
advance the mission of the college, especially in terms of the
Congregation’s historic focus on “educating hearts and minds.”

Efforts to educate all college constituents regarding the Holy
Cross College mission continue to enhance the college’s distinc-
tive Holy Cross identity.

Recommendations for future directions

While heavy dependence on tuition revenues may encourage
market-driven decisions, the college must be careful not to apolo-
gize for or de-emphasize its religious identity and mission. The
college must be mission driven, not market driven.

Given the pace at which programs are being added, the mission
statement needs to be further refined in light of the college’s new
academic direction.

The next mission statement revision must be preceded by a
carefully established and clearly understood process for broad
institutional involvement.

Proposed academic, student life, and athletic programs must be
responsive to the educational needs of students, and, at the
same time, these programs must directly reflect the historic Holy
Cross mission of the college.

The college must adopt a staff handbook that articulates fair and
consistent policies, procedures, and expectations of college per-
sonnel.

Although the college mission statement recently underwent a
comprehensive revision, it should be edited such that existing
grammatical problems are corrected without altering the mes-
sage.

The mission statement should be placed visually in each depart-
ment, major lobby, and strategic entrances to ensure to help re-
mind faculty and staff, and to inform students, prospective stu-
dents, and the public what Holy Cross College believes.
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As a baccalaureate institution, the college needs to consider
broader student representation in college decision-making struc-
tures such as the Academic and Student Life Councils and stu-
dent judicial boards.

The academic and administrative role of division chairs should be
assessed and clarified.

A fair and transparent system for evaluation of personnel needs
to be incorporated in a comprehensive staff handbook. This will
help the college promote consistent and high standards for all
employees. Peer review should be utilized as part of the evalua-
tion process. Also, evaluations of individual and departmental
goals should be formalized and implemented.



Chapter Four
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Criterion Two — Preparing for the Future

Criterion Statement — Holy Cross College’s allocation of re-
sources and its processes for evaluation and planning dem-
onstrate its capacity to fulfill its mission, improve the quality
of its education, and respond to future challenges and op-
portunities.

I. Background

The Criterion Two committee examined the fulfillment of the crite-
rion. The members of the criterion committee and their institu-
tional responsibilities are as follows.

Mark Mullaney (Co-chair) — vice president for administration
Father Merwyn Thomas (Co-chair) — mathematics
Jocelyn Arvisais — financial aid

Ann Baldinger — speech communications

Brother Charles Drevon — information technology
Vincent Duke — admissions

Mary Ellen Hegedus — library

Sara Kassen — public information

Brother James Leik — business

Dorene Muszer — business office

Father Michael Sullivan — theology and philosophy
Nathan Walker — student activities

Jack Berges — trustee

Daniel Fitzpatrick — trustee

Gregory Hoffman — trustee

Lucille McKenna — trustee

Richard Rice — trustee

Hastings Siegfried — trustee

Anthony Uebelhor — trustee

Activities undertaken to strengthen this area since the last self
study

¢ Holy Cross College has initiated an ongoing strategic plan-
ning process in 1998. Operational planning groups work on
specific areas of college operations, including academic pro-
grams and faculty development, enroliment management,
budget and finance/human resources, advancement, facili-
ties, and campus support/student and residence life. Faculty
and staff, trustees, and students make up the groups. The
groups have created vision statements and strategies for
their areas, and there is a continual process of review and
revision of the groups’ work. The operational planning
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groups considered the question of baccalaureate education
and its suitability to the college’s mission in 2001. The
groups responded to the prospect of baccalaureate education
and identified areas of concern and decisions to be ad-
dressed before a baccalaureate program would be offered by
the college.

The college has made significant increases in the resources
committed to the assessment of student learning. In 2001,
the college created a new position of director of assessment
to lead the college’s assessment efforts by working with fac-
ulty. The director of assessment is given a partial course re-
assignment to help faculty with the assessment efforts within
their courses and programs. The director also compiles and
reports on assessment data on a yearly basis.

The college has increased the resources available for the use
of external consultants and evaluators. The college has em-
ployed outside experts at various times to help analyze ad-
missions and enroliment, planning, and programs. In addi-
tion, every new grant-funded program has included money for
evaluation.

The college has conducted several strategic planning retreats
with the Board of Trustees. Planning retreats have focused
on the college’s mission and values, and have considered
institutional responses to opportunities and threats in the in-
ternal and external environments.

In the time since the last comprehensive self study, Holy
Cross College has significantly increased the resources com-
mitted to admissions. The Admissions Office now has a staff
that includes the director, three admissions counselors, and
an assistant. The Student Ambassadors group employs cur-
rent students to maintain communication with prospective
students.

In addition to increases in personnel, the college has also
increased technological and marketing resources available
for admissions purposes. The admissions module of the col-
lege’s administrative computing system allows staff to access
the admissions database from a distance and update infor-
mation on prospective students. In 2004, the college hired
Royall and Company to lead a targeted, prospective student
marketing and communication system. The college has also
increased the publications budget for admissions, and an ar-
ray of publications and Web resources have been created
and made available to prospective students. Finally, external
consultants have been retained to advise periodically on the
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college’s enroliment efforts.

e The college’s administrative computing system, Empower,
was installed in 2002. The system provides an integrated
database that serves admissions, financial aid, student ac-
counts, academic records, and housing.

e Holy Cross College has dramatically increased the commit-
ment of institutional funds for financial aid. Institutional aid for
financially needy students has been significantly improved.
The college has also created a system of merit-based schol-
arships for students with strong pre-college preparation. In
addition, the Board of Trustees approved a proposal to re-
structure tuition and financial aid for the 2006-2007 academic
year. This restructuring, which includes a tuition increase,
will make more financial aid available to more students.

e Since the last comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College
has added residential life to its services for students. Resi-
dence life has fueled an increase in a variety of student pro-
grams, such as campus ministry, athletics, and student activi-
ties. These new programs have engendered new revenues
and costs, and changes in institutional planning.

e The past ten years have seen considerable development of
the campus property. The addition to the Vincent building
has provided a substantial increase in classroom, laboratory,
and office space. With the inauguration of residence life, five
residence facilities are now in use. The Anselm, Basil, and
James complex represents one of the original campus facili-
ties, but the college has also added Pulte and South Halls.
Outdoor courts for basketball and tennis, and outdoor fields
for lacrosse and soccer have been created. In addition, the
development of Holy Cross Village has led to changes in the
campus entrance, roads, and several parking lots.

e Holy Cross College has improved the diversity of its revenue
sources. At the time of the 1997 self study, tuition and fees
accounted for approximately 92% of all college revenue, but
in the 2004-2005 fiscal year, tuition and fees comprised 43%
of total revenue. This is due in large measure to the introduc-
tion of residence life and the significant growth in fundraising
at the college.

e Holy Cross College has made an effort to increase its institu-
tional endowment since the last comprehensive self study. In
1997, the endowment of the college was approximately $2.1
million. Holy Cross College still has a modest endowment.
The college’s endowment totaled approximately $3.3 million
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in the 2004-2005 fiscal year. The endowment has experi-
enced some decreases in net assets in the past five years,
but the trend over the past ten years has been toward in-
creasing endowment funds.

[I. Methods and Evidence

The Criterion Two committee examined the structures and proc-
esses that involve the board, administration, faculty, staff, and
students. The committee undertook this examination in order to
evaluate how the institution fosters student learning and teach
effectiveness. In so doing, the committee organized its work
around the four core components of this criterion.

The committee reviewed the following documents.

Admissions materials

Administrative memoranda

Assessment newsletters

Assessment reports

College mission statement

College press releases

College Website

Faculty handbook

Financial statements/audit reports

Lists of college affiliations with professional groups
Lists of faculty and staff recognition awards
Minutes of meetings of the Academic Council
Minutes of meetings of the Administrative Council
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees
Minutes of meetings of the Faculty Forum
Officers’ reports for the Board of Trustees
Orientation information packets

Orientation materials for the Board of Trustees
President’s reports for the Board of Trustees
Previous self-study reports

Reports from the Center for Faculty Development
Reports from Community and Continuing Education
Results from the alumni survey

Self-study survey responses

Strategic planning materials

Student handbook

Vision statements and accompanying goals

Interviews were conducted with the following people.
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Directors of various college offices
Faculty members

Officers of the college

Trustees

[ll. Core Components

Core Component 2a — Holy Cross College realistically pre-
pares for a future shaped by multiple societal and economic
trends.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of strategic planning documents shows that Holy Cross
College accounts for its history and legacy as an institution of the
Brothers of Holy Cross and its mission throughout all long-range
planning. Itis also clear that the college uses environmental
scanning when engaged in strategic planning, and considers so-
cial and demographic trends that may affect the institution.

A review of information from the planning for the liberal studies
program and discussions with faculty show that the college ac-
counted for external forces and trends as the program was being
designed. What was learned by the faculty affected the elements
of the liberal studies program.

Discussions with faculty, the director of community and continu-
ing education, and the vice president for academic affairs reveal
that recent academic initiatives have been developed in direct
response to current societal and geographic needs. One such
program is the proposed degree in elementary education with its
dual licensure in teaching English as a new language. Another is
the initiative in gerontology currently in design. These efforts will
be distinctive to the college and will respond to a society that is
becoming more diverse and whaose senior population is growing
rapidly. There is potential appeal to non-traditional populations,
and the establishment of articulation agreements with other insti-
tutions could develop naturally. The programs are expected to
enhance enrollment and institutional revenues, and they provide
evidence that the college is paying careful attention to its function
in a multicultural society and a society facing noted demographic
shifts.

Discussions with college officers provides evidence that the col-
lege’s planning processes include environmental scanning, ex-
tensive market research, and feasibility studies in order to ex-
plore new degree programs. Currently, consideration of degree
programs for non-traditional populations has utilized all three
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methods.

Discussions with the president reveal that the college intends to
hire a reputable market research firm that would conduct com-
prehensive market research to confirm and identify primary and
secondary markets and to determine market perceptions of the
college in order to assist with the creation of an enroliment man-
agement plan.

Evidence from the strategic planning process shows that the en-
rollment management vision statement clearly emphasizes a
commitment to recruit a diverse student body. This fact repre-
sents an institutional response to the demographic trends in soci-
ety.

82% of students, 83% of faculty, and 88% of staff agree that Holy
Cross College welcomes diversity of its community members.

A review of the liberal studies program information shows that,
through the required international learning experience, the col-
lege demonstrates its understanding of the need to recognize
increased globalization. The college offers extraordinary study-
abroad programs in Ghana and Peru at facilities operated by the
Congregation and the Brothers of Holy Cross. Through this pro-
gram, the college intends to emphasize the importance of global
and cross-cultural perspectives to the liberally educated person.

Analysis of the strategic planning documents shows that Holy
Cross College recognizes the need to keep pace with technology
advancements. The plan identifies detailed steps which need to
be taken by calling for the college to expand and upgrade equip-
ment and networks and to develop plans for keeping equipment
and software current. It calls for enhanced and expanded train-
ing by increasing the availability and scope of information tech-
nology training sessions for students, faculty, and staff.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 58% of faculty
and 64% of staff agree that the integration of technology into the
college is a priority.

A review of the college mission and planning documents shows
that Holy Cross College clearly incorporates into its planning
those aspects of its history and heritage that it wishes to pre-
serve and continue. The mission statement emphasizes the col-
lege’s tradition in the Brothers of the Holy Cross and commitment
to be a values-centered institution that emphasizes effective
teaching and learning.
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An analysis of strategic planning materials shows that, while au-
thority for decision-making about organizational goals is not al-
ways clearly identified, there is an explicit call for the college to
strengthen the horizontal and vertical consensus-building proc-
esses in administrative decision-making.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Analysis of strategic planning materials shows that, while all fac-
ets of future planning are addressed in the college’s planning
documents, and while general goals are stated as part of plan-
ning, there do not seem to be specified objectives for achieving
these goals.

There is no clear-cut evidence in the planning documents that
the organization “clearly identifies authority for decision making
about organizational goals.” The documents call for the college
to examine its current horizontal and vertical structure but there
is no specific plan for doing so.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 34% of fac-
ulty and 48% of staff agree that the college’s mission drives stra-
tegic decisions. 47% of faculty and 48% of staff neither agree
nor disagree that the mission drives the college’s strategic deci-
sions.

Core Component 2b — Holy Cross College’s resource base
supports its educational programs and its plans for main-
taining and strengthening their quality in the future.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

72% of faculty agree on the self-study survey that there is a suffi-
cient number of faculty at the college.

Responses from the self-study survey indicate that 61% of fac-
ulty and 76% of staff agree that Holy Cross College provides ac-
cess to the equipment necessary for their respective duties.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 63% of students,
62% of faculty, and 72% of staff agree that Holy Cross College
provides them with adequate access to current technologies.

58% of students, 84% of faculty, and 76% of staff agree on the
self-study survey that the college’s physical facilities are well
maintained.

The technology staff provides adequate support for my needs:
59% of faculty agree or strongly agree, 80% of staff and adminis-
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trators agree or strongly agree.

A review of reports from the McKenna Library shows that the li-
brary provides excellent resources and services in support of stu-
dents and faculty. Interviews with faculty support the view that
the staff of the library provide superb assistance with materials
and services available on-campus, as well as those materials
and services available through cooperative libraries.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 61% of students,
62% of faculty, and 61% of staff agree that holdings in the
McKenna Library (books, periodicals, journals, and so on) are
satisfactory. According to the self-study survey, 66% of students,
58% of faculty, and 66% of staff agree that the electronic re-
sources in the McKenna Library (online resources, electronic
journals, and so on) are satisfactory.

An analysis of institutional advancement information shows that
the college has enjoyed significant growth in fundraising since
the last self study. The percentage of institutional revenues at-
tributed to gifts rose from 3% to 37%. Since 2002, one of the
principal sources for the increased gifts has been the Lilly En-
dowment. The college has benefited from two “matching gifts”
challenges resulting in approximately $2 million in direct match-
ing gifts from the Lilly Endowment to Holy Cross College. In ad-
dition, the Lilly Endowment has awarded grants to the college for
career services and faculty development projects totaling $1.25
million. There is no question that the Lilly Endowment has been
a major reason for the college’s ability to weather the enroliment
downturn of the past four years.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

A review of enrollment and financial data indicates that the enroll-
ment decline that the college has experienced since 2002 is the
biggest threat to the institutional health of Holy Cross College. In
2001, the college had an enrollment of 558 students. In the time
since then, the enrollment has eroded to the point that the 2005
enrollment was 362 students. This decrease in enrollment has
had a significant deleterious effect on the college’s operational
budgets. Shortfalls in revenues have been covered by increases
in institutional fundraising. This has adversely affected the initia-
tion of necessary capital projects, including the construction of a
recreational and athletics center. Another effect of the decrease
in enrollment is that the college has had to forego additions to
personnel and enhancements in technology because of budget-
ary uncertainties.

36% of staff agree and 48% of staff disagree on the self-study
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survey that there is a sufficient number of staff at the college.

Interviews with faculty and information technology staff suggest
that faculty need more training on utilizing technology in their
classes. This suggests the college is not making full use of its
technological resources. In addition, the consensus of faculty
and information technology staff is that the college’s administra-
tive computing system, Empower, is under-utilized. While a
number of staff have had training with the system, the capabili-
ties of Empower are not being exercised for full benefit of the col-
lege.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 26% of fac-
ulty and 28% of staff agree that Holy Cross College budgets ade-
quately for its activities. 37% of faculty and 32% of staff disagree
that the college budgets adequately for its activities.

Evaluations of development records suggest that, while there
have been strong recent successes in fundraising, the college’s
advancement efforts need to be matured. Prospect research
needs to be strengthened through a more formal process for
qualifying major gift potential. Attention to planned gifts would
help the college with long-range development projects.

Core Component 2¢c — Holy Cross College’s ongoing evalua-
tion and assessment processes provide reliable evidence of
institutional effectiveness that clearly informs strategies for
continuous improvement.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of strategic planning documents and interviews with col-
lege officers show that the college’s ongoing planning process
provides an excellent mechanism for strategic decision-making.
Operational planning groups have focused on major areas of in-
stitutional activities and have created vision statements and
strategies for their respective areas. These vision statements
and strategies are reviewed, analyzed, and revised during peri-
odic meetings of the groups. Membership in the planning groups
includes faculty, staff, trustees, and students. The planning proc-
ess has been utilized to consider some of the most important in-
stitutional changes in the past ten years.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 65% of faculty,
51% of staff, and 81% of trustees agree that Holy Cross College
uses resources creatively.

71% of students and 88% of faculty agree on the self-study sur-
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vey that the assessment of student academic achievement is im-
portant at Holy Cross College.

Self-study survey results reveal that 65% of faculty, 67% of staff,
and 85% of trustees agree that Holy Cross College is flexible.

76% of trustees agree on the self-study survey that changes at
Holy Cross College result from deliberate planning.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 73% of trustees
believe that Holy Cross College is well positioned for future suc-
cess.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

A review of the college’s assessment program and discussions
with the director of assessment, the vice president for academic
affairs, and the vice president for administration reveal that there
are no formal, systematic means for connecting assessment data
with academic planning and budgeting. The budget and planning
processes for the college are not sufficiently mature such that
information from the assessment of student learning is used to its
fullest capacity to shape program planning and budgeting. Re-
sults from assessment are used to shape planning, but the man-
ner in which that may happen is less formal than what other insti-
tutions may experience.

Self-study survey results reveal that only 37% of faculty and 44%
of staff agree that changes at Holy Cross College are the result
of deliberate planning.

Interviews with the vice president for academic affairs and the
director of assessment revealed that faculty involvement in for-
mal programmatic assessment is inadequate for the demands of
the curriculum. Most faculty have addressed assessment
through the utilization of classroom assessment techniques. Pro-
grammatic-level assessment has been spurred largely through
the development of baccalaureate education. While there has
been insufficient collaboration among faculty for program assess-
ment, indications are that there is some openness to the de-
mands of program assessment, even absent knowledge of how
to effect such assessment efforts.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 35% of fac-
ulty and 37% of staff agree that Holy Cross College has struc-
tures and processes that permit quick and effective response to
opportunities and threats.

A review of the college assessment plan and interviews with the
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director of assessment and the vice president for academic af-
fairs indicate that the college has not made formal, systematic
efforts to assess the Holy Cross College experience through the
eyes of alumni. Plans are in place to do so, but they have not
been implemented yet.

Interviews with faculty and staff indicate that there does not seem
to be a clear understanding of the reasons for the enroliment de-
cline in the last four years. In addition, faculty and staff believe
that there is no systematic effort to evaluate the enroliment de-
cline and develop strategies for addressing it. That is not to sug-
gest that they believe that no efforts are underway, only that
those efforts lack a systematic quality with the implied rigor of
analysis.

Interviews with staff and the vice president for administration indi-
cate that there is a lack of responsibility accounting and account-
ability for programs, departments and divisions, and personnel.
The college has no yearly budgets for departments, five-year
budget plan, or monthly financial reports for departments and di-
visions. There is a lack of evaluation of physical plant usage,
including classrooms, offices, and residences both on- and off-
campus.

On the self-study survey, only 46% of faculty agree that senior
faculty provide strong leadership for the college. In addition,
45% of faculty agree that academic division chairs provide effec-
tive academic leadership.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 34% of fac-
ulty and 37% of staff agree that Holy Cross College is well posi-
tioned for future success.

Only 26% of faculty and 28% of staff agree on the self-study sur-
vey that Holy Cross College budgets adequately for its activities.
In addition, only 25% of faculty and 21% of staff agree that the
budgeting process is far, but 53% of faculty and 50% of staff nei-
ther agree nor disagree that the budgeting process is fair.

Core Component 2d — All levels of planning align with Holy
Cross College’s mission, thereby enhancing its capacity to
fulfill that mission.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met
Minutes of meetings from the Board of Trustees, Administrative
Council, Academic Council, and various planning groups support

the notion that the values, goals and priorities reflect the col-
lege’s mission. In addition, topics chosen for in-service and insti-
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tution-wide meetings show evidence of being drawn from and
aligned directly with planning priorities and mission.

An orientation program has been instituted for all new faculty and
staff to ensure that all at the College understand its mission as
the driving force behind its values, goals, and priorities.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 72% of faculty,
56% of staff, and 85% of trustees agree that Holy Cross College
supports innovation by all members of the college community.

Self-study survey results show that 76% of trustees agree that
changes at Holy Cross College result from deliberate planning.

Minutes from the Academic Council shows that new courses and
programs are analyzed and ultimately accepted or and rejected
based on the “fit” with the academic direction and the mission of
the college.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 56% of staff and
97% of trustees agree that Holy Cross College administrators are
effective leaders.

93% of trustees agree on the self-study survey that the mission
of Holy Cross College drives strategic decisions.

Analyses of reports from the director of community and continu-
ing education shows that many external constituents have been
involved in planning processes for institutional activities. Focus
groups have been used to review the potential for adult degree
programs, residents of Holy Cross Village have offered input on
community education program, officials from the Diocese of Fort
Wayne — South Bend have collaborated on the development of
continuing education programs for educators and religious edu-
cators, and local medical centers have helped design continuing
education programs for their staff.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 56% of students,
50% of faculty, 54% of staff, and 85% of trustees agree that they
are upbeat about the future of Holy Cross College.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Reports from operational planning groups show inconsistency in
operations among the various groups. Some operational plan-
ning groups meet more regularly than others. There also seems
to be a lack of coordination among the operational planning
groups.

Only 33% of faculty and 48% of staff agree on the self-study
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survey that the mission of Holy Cross College drives strategic
decisions.

A review of strategic planning documents shows evidence that
some strategic decisions have lacked follow up. In some cases,
changes in strategic decisions have been made without explicit
rationale, and there sometimes appears to be a lack of aware-
ness across operational groups about changes.

Self-study survey results reveal that only 37% of faculty and 44%
of staff agree that changes at Holy Cross College are the result
of deliberate planning.

Only 35% of faculty and 32% of staff agree on the self-study sur-
vey that organizational structures at Holy Cross College are well-
defined.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 34% of fac-
ulty and 37% of staff agree that Holy Cross College is well-
positioned for future success.

Only 26% of faculty, 33% of staff, and 47% of trustees agree that
they are confident that Holy Cross College has sufficient re-
sources to meet future opportunities and threats.

V. Summary

After reviewing the evidence for this criterion, the analysis sug-
gests that Holy Cross College has fulfilled this criterion. Holy
Cross College has wisely used its resources in fulfillment of the
college’s mission.

Personnel resources are deployed in ways that have enhanced
the college’s focus on teaching and learning. Expansions of fac-
ulty and staff over the past ten years have been undertaken as
new institutional needs and services have been implemented. In
some cases, faculty and staff positions have been eliminated
when institutional needs no longer supported the commitment of
such resources. Some full-time faculty have been given reas-
signed time for institutional needs (assessment, faculty develop-
ment, program development, and so on), and these reassign-
ments have been carefully considered and evaluated. Fewer ad-
junct faculty are in use now than in previous years, but the col-
lege has benefited from a core of long-time adjunct faculty. A
number of current faculty and staff positions are supported by
grant programs, providing important budget relief in more lean
fiscal years.
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Holy Cross College has diversified its sources of institutional
revenue since the last comprehensive self study. There is less
institutional reliance on tuition and fees than ten years ago.
Fundraising has enjoyed recent successes and has helped cush-
ion the effects of the enrollment decline of the past four years.

Debt service has been manageable, as the college has taken
advantage of favorable economic circumstances and judicious
planning so as to use debt for campus expansion. Balanced
budgets have been the standard for the past ten years, despite
the recent downturn in enroliment.

The college has expanded physical facilities in the past ten
years. New academic space, student residences, and athletic
and recreational resources have been developed on the campus
property. Evidence suggests that those facilities have been
maintained well. Very little deferred maintenance exists, none of
which is foundational or structural.

Without question, the most serious threat to the ability of Holy
Cross College to fulfill this criterion is the enroliment decline that
the college has experienced since 2002. The enrollment has de-
clined by almost 200 students between 2002 and 2005. While
there is no evidence that this enrollment decline has affected
academic quality at the college, the decrease has significantly
curtailed institutional growth. New academic and student life pro-
grams and services have not been developed and implemented
as desired. New faculty and staff positions have not been inau-
gurated for academics, student life, and institutional support. Im-
portant new capital projects, most notably the planned recreation
and athletics center, have been put on hold until enrollment re-
bounds. Finally, upgrades and replacements for campus tech-
nology have been forestalled.

The college’s strategic planning process provides a practical and
constructive means for evaluating institutional effectiveness and
for determining strategic directions. The process promotes col-
laboration across levels of expertise and responsibility. In addi-
tion, consensus on strategic decisions appears to be a by-
product and hallmark of this institutional approach to planning.

The budgeting process for the college is too informal. There has
been a considerable degree of flexibility that the current ap-
proach affords for institutional leaders. This flexibility has proven
useful, especially in uncertain fiscal times. However, there is no
systematic evaluation of institutional priorities as they relate to
devising college budgets. This has led to a lack of transparency
inherent in such circumstances. There is no responsibility-
centered budgeting for departments and divisions, so those in
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charge of certain functions of the college have no idea about a
critical aspect of institutional operations. Holy Cross College has
not made adequate progress in utilizing the assessment of stu-
dent learning in planning. Progress on improving assessment
efforts has been made since the last comprehensive self-study.
However, the college still lacks formal “feedback loops” for incor-
porating assessment information in program planning. This has
prevented the college from realizing the potential of assessment
as it relates to program and institutional improvement.

The college has very good technology applications and services.
Empower, the college’s administrative computing system, has a
well-designed Web portal that allows for easy access to informa-
tion for students, faculty, and staff. The college’s director of in-
formation technology and the registrar have proven particularly
adept and creative in helping make the system useful and user-
friendly.

Results from the self-study survey reveal consistent and stark
differences of opinion between faculty and staff and trustees
about the college’s effectiveness in planning and budgeting. The
trustees appear to be far more positive and optimistic about the
college’s planning efforts and ability to respond to institutional
opportunities and threats. The faculty and staff appear much
more guarded and concerned about the college’s future.

Recommendations for future directions

Holy Cross College should begin an immediate and formal
evaluation of its enroliment efforts. Many initiatives have been
undertaken in the past four years to address specific enrollment
activities. However, there do not seem to be clear answers as to
why enrollment has declined as so precipitously since the 2002-
2003 academic year. The evaluation of the college’s enrollment
efforts should address the external demographic forces affecting
the prospective student pool, the college’s competitive position
for enhancing enrollment compared to similar institutions, the mix
of institutional programs and services that will attract and retain
students, and the performance of the college’s current admission
staff and processes. An external consultant may be helpful as
the college considers these important matters.

The assessment of student academic achievement at Holy Cross
College still is not as developed as it should be. The college
needs to provide more professional development activities for
faculty in order to help develop a culture of assessment. As a
result of this self study, Holy Cross College applied to the Higher
Learning Commission to join the Assessment Academy. The
application was accepted, and Holy Cross College will join the
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academy in February 2007.

Holy Cross College needs a more formal process of yearly plan-
ning and budgeting. Results from the self-study survey reveal
that faculty and staff do not believe that the college budgets ade-
guately, but they appear not to know whether the current system
of developing budgets is fair. The college needs to develop a
system of budgeting that is transparent, that is formalized, and
that incorporates accountability at the appropriate levels of op-
erations. All departments and divisions should have yearly budg-
ets, and budget information should be available during the fiscal
year for monitoring by those responsible for their budgets. Feed-
back loops need to be incorporated into the planning and budget-
ing process so that data on program effectiveness can inform
planning. Information from the assessment of student learning
must be a critical part of those feedback loops. Consideration
should be given to linking assessment results with budgeting.

Holy Cross College has begun exploring the possibility for formal
academic degree programs aimed at adult learners. Any such
programs that may be developed must adhere to rigorous plan-
ning. While the potential for adult degree programs represents
an exciting avenue for institutional growth, any such programs
cannot impinge on the college’s resource bases and threaten the
health of long-standing programs.

Holy Cross College needs a formal mechanism for institutional
research. Institutional planning and budgeting would benefit from
a systematic approach to analyzing college data for decision-
making purposes.

Some consideration should be given to the reasons why faculty
and staff and trustees differ in their views about the college’s ef-
fectiveness in planning and budgeting. The trustees appear to
be far more positive and optimistic, while the faculty and staff are
much more cautious about the college’s future. The reasons for
these differences may yield useful information, and the implica-
tions of those differences could be of assistance when consider-
ing strategic directions for the college.

There is an advisory committee of faculty and staff considering
the future of the McKenna Library. The ideas that come out of
these discussions will need to be connected with the strategic

planning process.

The college should consider additional resources for the develop-
ment area. This could include assistance with prospect research
and major gifts.
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Criterion Three — Student Learning and Effective Teach-
ing

Criterion Statement — Holy Cross College provides evidence
of student learning and teaching effectiveness that demon-
strates it is fulfilling its educational mission.

I. Background

The Criterion Three committee examined the fulfillment of the
criterion. The members of the criterion committee and their insti-
tutional responsibilities are as follows.

Dr. Brian Greve (Co-chair) — English and assessment
Dr. William Mangan (Co-chair) — vice president for academic af-
fairs

Dr. Henry Borne — sociology and faculty development
Thomas Cashore — library

Patricia Hamilton — advancement

Brian DevlescHoward — academic advising

Jean Marquez — mathematics

Sandra Ohlund — Spanish

Suzanne Schoen — English

Phyllis Scott — academic affairs

Brother John Tryon — English

Dr. Justin Watson — English

John Carnesale — trustee

William Giles — trustee

Michael Kiley — trustee

Mark McNamee — trustee

John Rosenthal — trustee

Brother Philip Smith — trustee

Gary Vanderbeek — trustee

Activities undertaken to strengthen this area since the last Self
Study

e In 2004, the faculty began a process to review and revise the
college’s associate of arts curriculum. This curriculum consti-
tutes the general education curriculum for Holy Cross Col-
lege. The process also mandated that the nine transferable
skills of the college curriculum be infused at the course level.

e Holy Cross College received approval from the Higher Learn-
ing Commission to add baccalaureate-level education to the
college’s degree levels. The first Bachelor of Arts program
was the liberal studies program.
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The college established an underclass honors program in
1999. The program was first designated as an “accelerated”
honors program. The program now offers students the op-
portunity to accelerate or complete the pro-

gram at a conventional pace.

Holy Cross College created the Center for Faculty Develop-
ment in 2001. The center coordinates the college’s faculty
development activities. The center provides professional de-
velopment opportunities, assists faculty attending confer-
ences and meetings, coordinates mentoring of new faculty,
and directs the college’s program of faculty development
grants.

In 2001, Holy Cross College established the Office of Assess-
ment and the new position of director of assessment. The
director, a faculty member with a partial course reassignment,
leads the college’s assessment efforts by working with faculty
on their assessment activities and compiles and reports on
assessment data on a yearly basis. The director led the
creation of the assessment plan for the liberal studies pro-
gram and the integration of the transferable skills into
courses.

In 2000, Holy Cross College articulated the standards for
academic dismissal and revised the process for student ap-
peals of dismissals.

The college strengthened the standards for admission by es-
tablishing the Admissions Committee in 2004. The Admis-
sions Committee reviews all applicants for admission to Holy
Cross College and makes a determination of admit, proba-
tionary admit, or non-select for prospective students. Prior to
the creation of the committee, the Admissions Office re-
cruited, compiled admission files, and determined admission
status for prospective students.

The Lilly Career Development Center was founded in 2003.
Prior to the establishment of the center, the college had no
formal career services for students. The center was devel-
oped in response to the addition of baccalaureate education
at the college. The Lilly Endowment provided funding
through a grant for the center.

In 2006, the Conditional Acceptance Program was redes-
igned as the College Success Program. The Conditional Ac-
ceptance Program had evolved over several years to focus
on students who showed some academic aptitude but may
have lacked motivation. Participation in the program was re-
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quired of selected applicants in order for them to be admitted
to the college. The College Success Program replaced the
Conditional Acceptance Program as an optional academic
initiative for students who are admitted to the college on aca-
demic probation. The College Success Program helps stu-
dents develop habits and skills necessary for academic suc-
cess. The expectation is that students are committed to the
goals of the program and the work necessary to achieve
those goals. Students may choose to exit the program but
are then subject to the full terms of their status as students on
academic probation.

e The Spring academic convocation was started to recognize
students named to the academic honors list during the previ-
ous year.

e The First-Year Seminar course (HCCC 101) was established
as the cornerstone component of the first-year experience.
The seminar extends the work of new student orientation and
assists students in the transition to the academy.

e« The Phi Theta Kappa and Psi Beta academic honorary frater-
nities were chartered to help recognize academic excellence
of students. Phi Theta Kappa honors overall academic per-
formance within two-year programs, and Psi Beta honors stu-
dents who show excellence in studying psychology.

e New policies for the Faculty Handbook have been developed,
including a policy on retirement and sabbaticals. In 2005, a
comprehensive review and update of the handbook was be-
gun with the hope of proposed changes being ready for the
2006-2007 academic year.

e In 2004, Holy Cross College hired a director of international
programs to lead planning for the college’s study-abroad ex-
periences. The director is a half-time position that addresses
the logistics of the study-abroad experiences and prepares
and debriefs students participating in the trips. New interna-
tional programs have been developed in Ghana and Peru,
and a program in under development in Bangladesh.

¢ 1In 2002, a course was developed to help train students as
peer academic tutors. These tutors work in the college’s
Math Center and Writing Center.

e The Fall faculty lecture series was begun in 2002 to stimulate
scholarly discourse on campus. On a rotating basis among
divisions, divisional faculty identify a speaker who addresses
a topic of broad academic interest to the college community.
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e Holy Cross College sponsored a campus-wide symposium in
2002 on academic integrity and its importance at Holy Cross
College.

[I. Methods and Evidence

The Criterion Three committee examined the structures and
processes that involve the board, administration, faculty, staff,
and students. The committee undertook this examination in or-
der to evaluate how the institution fosters student learning and
teach effectiveness. In so doing, the committee organized its
work around the four core components of this criterion.

The committee reviewed the following documents.

Academic advising handbook

Academic convocation programs

Admissions materials

Administrative memoranda

Annual fall faculty in-service materials
Assessment newsletters

Assessment reports

College mission statement

College press releases

College Website

Course syllabi

Electronic portfolios of graduating students
Faculty handbook

Fall faculty lecture series programs

Financial statements/audit reports

Handbook of disabilities services

Information on the transferable skills

Lists of college affiliations with professional groups
Lists of faculty and staff recognition awards

Lists of service learning activities

Minutes of meetings of the Academic Council
Minutes of meetings of the Administrative Council
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees
Minutes of meetings of the Faculty Forum
Officers’ reports for the Board of Trustees
Orientation information packets

Orientation materials for the Board of Trustees
President’s reports for the Board of Trustees
Previous self-study reports

Report on the symposium on academic integrity
Reports from the Center for Faculty Development
Reports from Community and Continuing Education
Reports from the Mathematics Center
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Reports from the Writing Center

Results from the alumni survey

Self-study survey responses

Strategic planning materials

Student handbook

Vision statements and accompanying goals

Interviews were conducted with the following people.

Academic division chairs

Directors of various college offices
Faculty members

Students

Officers of the college

Trustees

[ll. Core Components

Core Component 3a — Holy Cross College’s goals for stu-
dent learning outcomes are clearly stated for each educa-
tional program and make effective assessment possible.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the college catalog, admissions materials, and the
college Web site demonstrates that Holy Cross College articu-
lates the learning goals for all academic programs.

75% of faculty and 73% of students responding on the self-study
survey agreed that the college has identifiable goals for student
learning.

Defined eleven years ago, the college’s nine transferable skills
provide a set of common learning goals for the college curricu-
lum. The skills are the following.

critical thinking

creative thinking

writing

reading

religious, moral, and social development

oral communication

quantitative literacy

library and information literacy

technological skills

A review of the college catalog, admissions materials, and the
college Web site revealed that these transferable skills are publi-
cized to students as well as those outside the college community.
The assessment plans for the liberal studies program and the
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general education curriculum (associate of arts degree program)
expressly incorporate the transferable skills into the learning
goals.

A review of course syllabi indicates that faculty have incorporated
the transferable skills into their courses. The expectation that
each syllabus indicate the transferable skills that its course de-
velops was articulated by the vice president for academic affairs
in 2001. In addition, other measurable student learning objec-
tives are incorporated into course syllabi. More that 85% of all
college syllabi contain such objectives.

88% of faculty and 71% of students agreed on the self-study sur-
vey that “the assessment of student academic achievement is
important at Holy Cross College.”

A review of the catalog, program materials, and the assessment
plan for the Bachelor of Arts in liberal studies program demon-
strate that the program incorporates the nine transferable skills
throughout the curriculum and the assessment program.

A review of electronic portfolios of graduating students in the lib-
eral studies program indicates that, without exception, all student
portfolios had some expression of the goals for learning within
the program and how well the learning goals were achieved. The
use of multiple methods and authentic students works shows that
learning is considered complex, and the philosophy of capstone
assessment emphasizes the need to connect assessment with
curriculum and pedagogy.

A review of reports from the director of assessment reveals that
course-level and program-level assessment are tracked by the
college. The review also indicates that the director provided con-
siderable guidance to faculty on ways to improve assessment at
the course and program levels.

A review of course syllabi shows that nearly all faculty stress be-
havioral expectations that lead to academic success. For exam-
ple, active participation by students is a norm for classes. Also,
attendance is strongly encouraged in order to receive the maxi-
mal benefits of the college’s courses.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Interviews with the vice president for academic affairs and the
director of assessment revealed that broad faculty involvement in
formal programmatic assessment is inadequate for the demands
of the curriculum. Faculty have worked to incorporate a variety
of classroom assessment techniques within their individual
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courses. However, there has been insufficient collaboration
among faculty for the considering assessment at the program
level.

33% of faculty agreed and 27% disagreed on the self-study sur-
vey that “academic programs at Holy Cross College require intel-
lectual interaction among faculty.”

A review of the college assessment plan indicates that the col-
lege is to follow up with alumni about their experiences at Holy
Cross College. However, interviews with the director of assess-
ment and the vice president for academic affairs indicate that the
college still has not implemented a formal process to assess the
effects of the undergraduate experience in alumni.

A review of the assessment plan and reports from the director of
assessment shows that, while the transferable skills are incorpo-
rated at the course-level throughout the college, there is incon-
sistency in terms of how deeply the skills are infused within
courses. Many courses do not indicate the levels that the skills
are developed.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 39% of fac-
ulty agree that academic programs at Holy Cross College are
rigorous. While only 23% of faculty disagreed that the college’s
academic programs are rigorous, 39% neither agreed nor dis-
agreed. Subsequent discussions with faculty reveal that there
are different interpretations about what are the college’s aca-
demic standards as well as the commitment of the institution to
those standards.

While there is strong consensus about the centrality of the bac-
calaureate degree to the future of the college, discussions with
faculty and the vice president for academic affairs indicate that
there is no common vision about the future of the associate de-
gree at Holy Cross College. Interviews revealed that there is dis-
agreement about the value and desirability of the associate de-
gree to the long-term identity of the college.

A review of the college’s assessment program and discussions
with the director of assessment and the vice president for aca-
demic affairs reveal that there is no formal means for connecting
assessment data with academic planning and budgeting. The
budget and planning processes for the college are not sufficiently
mature such that information from the assessment of student
learning can help shape program planning and budgeting.
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Core Component 3b — Holy Cross College values and sup-
ports effective teaching.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the college mission statement and strategic planning
documents indicates that Holy Cross College states publicly and
clearly that the college values excellence in teaching.

A review of the Faculty Handbook shows that excellence in
teaching is the primary criterion for hiring and promotion at Holy
Cross College. An interview with the vice president for academic
affairs confirms that this standard is realized.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 83% of students,
92% of faculty, 96% of staff, and 100% of trustees agree that
Holy Cross College is primarily dedicated to teaching and learn-

ing.

A review of the college budget indicates that significant institu-
tional funds are allocated to the Center for Faculty Development.
The center provides resources to help faculty improve teaching
and learning. The center organizes on-campus professional de-
velopment opportunities for faculty, supports conference and
workshop attendance for faculty, and directs the institutional pro-
gram for faculty development grants. An important discovery is
that, despite the enrollment downturn during the past four years,
the college has not reduced funding for faculty development.

Responses on the self-study survey indicate that 87% of stu-
dents and 83% of faculty agree that the faculty of Holy Cross
College are well prepared to teach.

An interview with the vice president for academic affairs indicates
that the college’s standard course evaluation process was re-
vised in 2002 to include a mid-term course evaluation process for
all courses. Faculty must conduct a mid-term course evaluation
of their choosing with results available only to them. In 2004, the
course evaluation form was revised through the Center for Fac-
ulty Development so as to provide more direct feedback on
teaching effectiveness.

A review of reports from the Spring academic convocation indi-
cates that the college instituted a biennial award for excellence in
teaching in 2001. Every two years, one faculty member receives
the award based on student nominations.
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Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 30% of fac-

ulty agree that excellence in teaching is rewarded by Holy Cross
College. 25% of faculty disagree that teaching excellence is re-

warded, but 46% of faculty neither agreed nor disagreed that ex-
cellence in teaching is rewarded by the college.

Interviews with the director of the Center for Faculty Develop-
ment and the vice president for academic affairs indicate that
most faculty do not take advantage of the faculty development
opportunities made available to them. The director personally
encourages certain faculty members to attend off-campus devel-
opment opportunities, but the most frequently cited reasons cited
for failure to attend conferences and workshops is heavy teach-
ing loads.

An analysis of faculty data shows that the next ten years at Holy
Cross College will bring numerous retirements of senior faculty.
Reports from the Center for Faculty Development detail modest
efforts to orient new faculty to the college, but a more formal ap-
proach to mentoring junior faculty will be necessary in order to
perpetuate the college’s historic focus on excellence in teaching.

Interviews with faculty suggest that innovation in teaching meth-
ods goes largely unrecognized by the institution. While 71% of
faculty agreed on the self-study survey that Holy Cross College
supports innovation by faculty, many who were interviewed think
that their efforts to improve their courses are largely unknown by
other faculty and staff.

Core Component 3c — Holy Cross College creates effective
learning environments.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Reports from the Office of Assessment show that the office and
the director provide frequent assistance to faculty on assessment
issues. The assistance includes explorations of the college’s
transferable skills, ideas on assessment methods in classes and
courses, and teaching for effective learning. In addition to the
issues of common interest, the director provides individual con-
sultations with faculty as needed for development of individual
learning activities, courses, and programs.

A review of course syllabi and discussions with the director of
assessment reveal that classroom assessment techniques are
commonly used across disciplines.

The vice president for academic affairs states that all courses are
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required to use a mid-term course evaluation to assess the effec-
tiveness of courses in progress. This requirement for all courses
was established in 2002.

Discussions with academic division chairs and the director of as-
sessment confirm that the development of courses and programs
are informed by considerations of the assessment of student
learning. The director of assessment is the most likely person to
initiate such conversations.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 61% of students
and 54% of faculty agree that Holy Cross College faculty incorpo-
rate technology effectively into the learning process.

61% of faculty agreed on the self-study survey that the college
provides access to the equipment necessary for their duties.
62% of faculty agreed that the college provides adequate access
to current technologies.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 61% of faculty
and 64% of staff agree that the integration of technology into the
college is a high priority for Holy Cross College.

A review of financial and facilities records shows that the college
has high quality technological resources that support learning for
students. In addition to classroom resources, the college pro-
vides access to the college computing network throughout the
residence halls. In addition, wireless access to the college net-
work has expanded since 2002 and is now available throughout
almost the entire campus.

Discussions with faculty and the vice president for academic af-
fairs indicate that the coordinator of disability services provides
excellent support to faculty in addressing the learning needs of
students with disabilities. The coordinator will discuss the needs
of individual students and help faculty determine the most appro-
priate methods for addressing those needs.

Evaluations of the orientation for new students and the First-Year
Seminar course (HCCC 101) show that the two experiences work
well in tandem to habituate students to life at Holy Cross College.
The First-Year Seminar extends the work begun in the orienta-
tion by helping prepare students for the expectations for aca-
demic and student life at the college.

Analysis of evaluations of the college’s Conditional Acceptance
Program shows that the program provides useful academic sup-
port to many new students who are at risk of academic failure.
Many successful students attribute their success at Holy Cross
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Discussions with faculty and student life staff reveal that the co-
curricular life of the college provides effective support for the aca-
demic environment on campus and student learning.

75% of faculty agreed on the self-study survey that the residen-
tial services offered by Holy Cross College (e.g., housing, dining
services, and so on) effectively support academics.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 97% of faculty
agree that they generally know an appropriate resource where to
refer a student if that student has an academic concern.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

A review of course syllabi and discussions with the director of
assessment and the vice president for academic affairs reveal
that assessment strategies and standards vary greatly among
the faculty, even within academic divisions. Many courses rely
too heavily on indirect methods of measuring student learning. In
addition, there seems to be little interest in exploring assessment
methods that could be shared across courses and programs.

A review of the college’s financial record indicates that, while the
college maintains a significant investment in technology, the
pace at which new technology is introduced and the extent to
which old technology is replaced have slowed with the decline in
overall enrollment. In some cases, computers in faculty offices
and other academic areas have not been replaced for more than
six years because of the four-year cycle of enroliment declines.

While aimed at students who are deemed “at risk” of academic

failure, program literature and evaluations of the Conditional Ac-
ceptance Program suggest that the program primarily addresses
those students for whom motivation is an issue. The program is
not intended for students who have remedial educational needs,
and this seems to be a hole in the services the college provides.

A review of classrooms and discussions with faculty indicate that
the availability to faculty of instructional technology is inconsis-
tent. There are a limited number of classrooms with computers
and integrated technology, and portable equipment and applica-
tions (disc players, projectors, and so on) are frequently difficult
for faculty to procure. Some academic divisions have utilized
their funds to purchase dedicated technology for their courses,
however, the “proprietary” sentiment that surrounds such equip-
ment may not be good for the institution. It is unclear if this situa-
tion inhibits the introduction of technology in courses.
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Interviews with college officers show that Holy Cross College
lacks a formal institutional research function. Institutional re-
search is conducted in informal ways by faculty and staff who
investigate specific questions of interest.

Discussions with the vice president for academic affairs indicate
that Holy Cross College does not keep longitudinal data on
course evaluations. The evaluation form and process have been
revised since the last self study, but there is no way to track how
results from the evaluation have changed over time.

Interviews with faculty, the director of the Center for Faculty De-
velopment, and the vice president for academic affairs suggest
that scholarship among students and faculty is a low academic
priority. More attention to scholarship (conferences, research,
publications) among faculty is needed, as well as opportunities
for students to gain some experience with scholarly activities.

An analysis of faculty assignments and discussions with the vice
president for academic affairs reveal that there is a lack of multi-
ple faculty in certain disciplinary areas. In several cases, only
one faculty member is in charge of certain disciplinary offerings
of the college. In addition, a number of disciplinary areas are the
sole purview of adjunct faculty (e.g., art, political science, music,
theater). While the academic quality of those areas is not in
guestion, the lack of multiple faculty perspectives calls into ques-
tion the academic depth that students can expect. One ramifica-
tion of this is that the college faces pressure when trying to ex-
pand the upper-division offerings within certain disciplines. This
is an important consideration as the college continues its evolu-
tion as a baccalaureate institution.

Discussions with faculty, the director of Center for Faculty Devel-
opment, and information technology staff reveal that technology
skills of faculty are quite varied, as are the applications of tech-
nology that faculty make to learning situations. Some faculty dis-
play sophisticated uses of multimedia resources in their courses,
while some other faculty neither use technology in the learning
process nor expect their students to develop their own technol-
ogy skills.

Discussions with faculty and the vice president for academic af-
fairs show that, aside from course evaluations by students, the
college does not utilize any other methods for evaluating the
teaching effectiveness of faculty. There is no peer review or for-
mal evaluation by academic division chairs.
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Core Component 3d — Holy Cross College’s learning re-
sources support student learning and effective teaching.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

An analysis of the college’s budget indicates that there has been
an increase in staff in academic support services since the last
comprehensive self study. The college has three full-time advi-
sors, four part-time advisors, part-time directors of the Mathemat-
ics Center and the Writing Center, and a part-time disabilities
services coordinator. In addition, the college has established the
Lilly Career Development Center, with a director and staff mem-
ber, to provide support for the career planning of students and
alumni.

A review of reports from the McKenna Library shows that the li-
brary provides excellent resources and services in support of stu-
dents and faculty. Interviews with faculty support the view that
the staff of the library provide superb assistance with materials
and services available on-campus, as well as those materials
and services available through cooperative libraries.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 61% of students,
62% of faculty, and 61% of staff agree that holdings in the
McKenna Library (books, periodicals, journals, and so on) are
satisfactory.

66% of students, 58% of faculty, and 66% of staff agree on the
self-study survey that the electronic resources in the McKenna
Library (online resources, electronic journals, and so on) are sat-
isfactory.

The self-study survey showed that 60% of students agree that
space in the McKenna Library is adequate.

62% of students and 97% of faculty agree on the self-study sur-
vey that Holy Cross College provides appropriate accommoda-
tions to those with documented learning disabilities.

A review of campus facilities shows that the college’s science
and computer laboratories are well designed and appointed.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 62% of students
agree that laboratory resources are adequate at Holy Cross Col-
lege. In response to the same item, 36% of faculty agreed that
laboratory resources are adequate, but 53% neither agreed nor
disagreed, most likely indicating lack of personal knowledge.

A review of reports from the Mathematics Center and the Writing
Center, and discussions with faculty indicate that both centers
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provide exceptional support for students. Evaluations of the
effectiveness of both tutoring areas point to improvements in
the skills of students using tutoring services. Reports also indi-
cate that many Holy Cross College students are trained to as-
sist as tutors for other students.

55% of students, 69% of faculty, and 68% of staff agree on the
self-study survey that the Center for Student Support Services
(advising, tutoring, disabilities services) provides appropriate
learning resources to students.

The self-study survey revealed that 66% of students, 59% of
faculty, and 80% of staff agree that the college’s technology
staff provides adequate support for the technological needs of
individuals.

76% of students, 55% of faculty, and 60% of staff agree that
Empower, the college’s administrative computing system, pro-
vides easy access to information. Most students and faculty
access Empower through a Web portal feature.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 72% of stu-
dents agree that the college provides adequate study space.

Self-study survey results indicate that 75% of students and
86% of faculty agree that academic advising is important at
Holy Cross College.

70% of students and 54% of faculty agreed on the self-study
survey that the academic advising process is effective.

Discussions with academic advisors and the vice president for
academic affairs reveal that academic advising is very accessi-
ble to students and prospective. Advisors are available for
scheduled appointments and drop-in visits, and many contacts
with students occur by e-mail and telephone.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Analyses of usage patterns and reports from the Mathematics
Center and the Writing Center and discussions with the two
directors suggest that both centers are in need more space and
equipment.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 34% of
faculty and 48% of staff agree that space in the McKenna Li-
brary is adequate. 50% of faculty and 32% of staff disagreed
that space is adequate in the McKenna Library.
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Reports from the director of academic advising and the vice
president for academic affairs suggest that the college’s aca-
demic advisors have very large, and in some cases, uneven
numbers of students for advisees. The college needs to offer
students easy accessibility to advisors, so there may be a need
to restrict advising loads.

As noted above, faculty report on the self-study survey that they
believe that the college accommodates students with docu-
mented learning disabilities. However, discussions with faculty
also reveal that they do not think they are particularly knowledge-
able about strategies that are useful for instructing students with
disabilities.

V. Summary

After reviewing the evidence for this criterion, the analysis sug-
gests that Holy Cross College has fulfilled this criterion.

The Criterion Three committee judges that focus of Holy Cross
College on teaching and learning is the primary academic
strength of the institution. Without question, the college is fo-
cused on student learning, and the main avenue for effecting that
focus is an institutional commitment to excellence in teaching.
The evidence clearly demonstrates that the bulk of the college’s
human and financial resources are dedicated to teaching and
learning. It is quite clear that this institutional emphasis on teach-
ing and learning is well understood by students, faculty, staff,
trustees, and friends of the college.

The college’s commitment to the holistic formation of students
ensures strong collaboration between the curriculum and the co-
curriculum. The institutional emphasis on creating practical,
pragmatic education dovetails with the interest in preparing stu-
dents to become lifelong learners. The use of experiential learn-
ing activities engages students with those in local, national, and
international settings.

Holy Cross College makes a considerable investment in the de-
velopment of faculty skills for improving learning. In the six years
since its founding, the Center for Faculty Development has be-
come the major institutional driver for helping faculty develop
their professional knowledge and skills.

The college’s evolution as a baccalaureate institution will neces-

sitate that the faculty evaluate the value of the associate of arts
curriculum and its future at Holy Cross College.
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Despite the clear commitment of the college to student learning
through excellence in teaching, the evidence demonstrates that
Holy Cross College has not progressed far enough in its efforts
to assess student academic achievement. Certainly, the college
has made great strides to improve assessment since the last
comprehensive self-study. In addition, the work that has take
place around the creation of baccalaureate education has been
well planned and executed. However, the college still has not
developed a “culture of assessment” among the faculty. Faculty
do not seem hostile to the idea of assessing student learning, but
assessment still is not a natural part of the work of the faculty.
Holy Cross College continues to make a significant commitment
to academic student support services in terms of personnel and
finances. These services have received strong evaluations from
students.

The McKenna Library provides exceptional service to the college
community. In spite of space limitations, library staff members
are recognized for their dedication to assisting students, faculty,
and staff with their library and information needs. The consortial
arrangements that Holy Cross College enjoys with local, state,
and regional libraries makes research materials easily and
quickly available.

The faculty and staff in the Center for Student Support Services
(advising, tutoring, disabilities services) are exceptionally dedi-
cated to assisting students with their academic needs. Students
receive personalized service in a way that challenges them to be
responsible and independent.

By philosophy and practice, the college’s student life area is a
strong contributor to the educational mission of the college.
There have been effective attempts to bridge the curriculum with
the co-curriculum in order to support student learning. These
efforts must be expanded and strengthened.

Empower, the college’s administrative computing system, has a
fine Web portal that allows for easy access to information for stu-
dents, faculty, and staff. The college’s director of information
technology and the registrar have proven particularly adept and
creative in helping make the system useful and user-friendly.

Recommendations for future directions

The operational planning groups should undertake a process of

evaluating the associate of arts degree. The faculty should also
review the purposes of the degree and provide input for the stra-
tegic planning process.
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The assessment of student academic achievement still is not as
developed at Holy Cross College as it should be. Progress has
been made, but there still is no faculty culture in which assess-
ment is a natural part of academic work. As a result of these
findings, Holy Cross College applied to the Higher Learning
Commission to join the Assessment Academy. The application
was accepted, and Holy Cross College will join the academy in
February 2007. This effort will form one of the most important
academic initiatives for the next ten years.

Holy Cross College needs a more formal process of yearly plan-
ning and budgeting for academic programs. The process should
include a mechanism so that information from the assessment of
student learning can be fed back into evaluating program effec-
tiveness. Consideration should be given to linking assessment
results with budgeting.

The faculty must begin a process of reviewing the transferable
skills of the curriculum. The skills have not been reviewed or re-
vised in the eleven years since they were developed. Because
baccalaureate education is still relatively new for the college, the
faculty should analyze the appropriateness of the skills and their
levels, determine if other skills need to be defined, and identify
institutional approaches for assessing the skills.

Holy Cross College has begun exploring the possibility for formal
academic degree programs aimed at adult learners. The many
strong points of the Holy Cross College experience would be ap-
pealing to adults. However, because college services are so
geared toward serving traditional-age students, the college will
need to consider ways to tailor its experience to the needs of
adult learners. Special consideration will need to be given to
such issues as the academic calendar, course schedules, reme-
diation, advising, and so on. The college should not rush into
adult degree programming without satisfactorily addressing these
issues.

Faculty should consider ways in which new technologies can be
used to help supplement the learning experience at the college.
The potential for developing courses or sections of courses

online should be explored. Another possibility to examine is the
development of online assignments and student evaluations for
those times in which student are involved in off-campus learning
activities (i.e., international experiences, internships, and so on).

Holy Cross College should explore a structure under which for-
mal institutional research can occur. This may involve identifying
a staff member to direct such efforts. The benefit to the college
would be a more systematic approach to analyzing institutional
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data for decision-making purposes.

Greater attention to standardization of syllabi is needed to pro-
mote more effective dialogue of curricular and pedagogical con-
cerns.

The Conditional Acceptance Program is being reviewed for effec-
tiveness. A new director of the program was hired for the 2005-
2006 academic year, so such a review is timely for the college.
The college should consider how the program fits into its educa-
tional philosophy, how the program is connected to the

institution’s admissions efforts, and what mix of student abilities,
knowledge, and skills are most predictive of individual academic
success.

More research needs to be done on faculty attitudes and inter-
pretations about the college’s academic standards and rigor.
Discussions should center on why faculty think as they do and
what are the implications of any differences.

Instead of merely encouraging faculty to go off campus for devel-
opment events, the college could use greater financial resources
to host more events on improving teaching and learning. In the
same way, the college could bring colleagues from other institu-
tions to consult with the faculty.

The college needs to identify a way to compile results from
course evaluations for longitudinal analysis. While the college
has experimented with online course evaluations, whatever
method is devised needs to incorporate how to retain information
from the evaluations for individual and aggregate purposes.

Holy Cross College should consider new ways to recognize and
reward faculty for academic initiatives which have great institu-
tional benefit.

Because faculty technology skills are varied, more technology
training for faculty would be useful. Such training should be co-
ordinated through the Center for Faculty Development.

Aside from course evaluations, there are no formal means for
evaluating teaching effectiveness. One approach that the col-
lege should consider for evaluating teaching is a systematic peer
review system. In addition, formal evaluations by academic divi-
sion chairs are necessary.

In order to continue offering students easy accessibility to advi-
sors, Holy Cross College may to consider restricting advising
loads.
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More efforts to integrate curricular and co-curricular activities should
be explored. Faculty should find ways to incorporate the efforts of
the student life area in support of formal academic programs and
courses.

Holy Cross College should consider using the summer to organize
faculty development activities (reading groups, technology training,
and so on).

The McKenna Library has a committee of faculty and staff that have
been discussing the future of the library. Those discussions should
be extended to the rest of the campus in an exploration of what kind
of library the college needs and how to prepare the library for future
usage.
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Criterion Four - Acquisition, Discovery, and Application
of Knowledge

Criterion Statement - Holy Cross College promotes a life of
learning for its faculty, administration, staff, and students by
fostering and supporting inquiry, creativity, practice, and
social responsibility in ways consistent with its mission.

I. Background

The Criterion Four committee examined the fulfilment of the cri-
terion. The members of the criterion committee and their institu-
tional responsibilities are as follows.

Brother Richard Gilman (Co-chair) — president
Dr. Doris Van Auken (Co-chair) — psychology
Dr. John Alter — chemistry

Father Maurice Amen — philosophy

Diane Fox — academic advising

Dr. M. V. Frohne — physics

Dr. Maryann Keating — economics

Zhen Liu — information technology

Mary Merrill — mathematics and computer science
Sherry Raven — admissions

Dr. John Raymer — English

Christopher Stackowicz — art

Father Thomas Chambers — trustee

Christine Klauer — trustee

Terry O'Reilly — trustee

Daniel Ruettiger — trustee

Thomas Sopko — trustee

Robert Wade — trustee

Activities undertaken to strengthen this area since the last self
study

e The Holy Cross College Board of Trustees determined in
2003 that the college had substantially completed the strate-
gic plan filed with the Higher Learning Commission in 1998.
As a result, the board directed a new vision exercise for the
college, which led to the adoption of seven strategic vision
statements and a new strategic plan.

e The assessment of student learning has been strengthened

since the last comprehensive self-study. The Office of As-
sessment has been created to help coordinate the assess-
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ment efforts of the faculty. The nine transferable skills of the
college curriculum have been articulated more fully, and fac-
ulty have incorporated the skills at the course level. In addi-
tion, the skills have been used to help develop the institu-
tional assessment plan filed with the Commission in 1999 and
the assessment plan created for the liberal studies program.

The college created the Center for Faculty Development in
2001 to help direct faculty development efforts for the institu-
tion. This has dramatically increased the amount of profes-
sional development programming for faculty since the last
comprehensive self-study. The college has provided a
course reassignment for the director in order to lead the cen-
ter.

The college has outlined faculty handbook provisions for the
annual allotment of professional development money for indi-
vidual faculty members. In addition, the Center for Faculty
Development coordinates the faculty development grant proc-
ess for the institution, which makes available additional insti-
tutional funding for faculty development projects.

In 2002, the Board of Trustees approved an addition to the
faculty handbook that outlines provisions for a sabbatical pro-
gram for faculty. The program provides opportunities for pro-
fessional renewal for faculty members. One faculty member
has taken advantage of the program since it was added to
the faculty handbook, but so far only two others have been
eligible for sabbaticals since the initiation of the program.

The spring academic convocation and the Fall Faculty Lec-
ture series have been developed to provide avenues for pub-
lic scholarly discourse for students and faculty. Both events
feature outside speakers who address topics of academic
interest.

The college’s intranet has been substantially expanded as an
information source for the entire institution. Many faculty
have enhanced their courses by utilizing online resources
available through the intranet.

A formal orientation program for faculty and staff has been
implemented to assist new employees with adapting to mis-
sion, culture, and life of Holy Cross College.

The Phi Theta Kappa and Psi Beta academic honorary frater-
nities have been chartered to help recognize academic excel-
lence of students. Phi Theta Kappa honors overall academic
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performance within two-year programs, and Psi Beta honors
students who show excellence in studying psychology.

e Holy Cross College undertook an initiative to raise awareness
about academic integrity in 2003. A campus-wide sympo-
sium was held that explored basic issues revolving around
academic honesty. An outgrowth of the work was the crea-
tion and implementation of an institutional process for review-
ing cases alleging violations of academic honesty.

[I. Methods and Evidence

The Criterion Four committee examined the structures and proc-
esses that involve the board, administration, faculty, staff, and
students. The committee undertook this examination in order to
evaluate how the institution fosters a culture of learning. In so
doing, the committee organized its work around the four core
components of this criterion.

The committee reviewed the following documents.

Academic advising handbook

Academic convocation programs

Admissions materials

Administrative memoranda

Annual fall faculty in-service materials
Assessment newsletters

College mission statement

College press releases

College Website

Electronic portfolios of graduating students
Faculty handbook

Fall faculty lecture series programs

Financial statements/audit reports

Handbook of disabilities services

Information on the transferable skills

Lists of college affiliations with professional groups
Lists of faculty and staff recognition awards
Lists of service learning activities

Minutes of meetings of the Academic Council
Minutes of meetings of the Administrative Council
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees
Minutes of meetings of the Faculty Forum
Officers’ reports for the Board of Trustees
Orientation information packets

Orientation materials for the Board of Trustees
President’s reports for the Board of Trustees
Previous self-study reports
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Report on the symposium on academic integrity
Report on the symposium on Catholic identity
Reports from the Center for Faculty Development
Reports from Community and Continuing Education
Reports from the Mathematics Center

Reports from the Writing Center

Results from the alumni survey

Self-study survey responses

Strategic planning materials

Student handbook

Vision statements and accompanying goals

Interviews were conducted with the following people.

Directors of various college offices
Faculty members

Students

Officers of the college

Trustees

The committee produced the following evidence as part of the
analysis.

1. Alist of all professional memberships for individual
faculty and staff

2. Alist of all institutional memberships for the college

3. An update of personnel records of staff to reflect staff
development activities since last self-study

4. A brief survey of faculty, staff, students, and trustees
of items related to the criterion (apart from the com-
prehensive institutional survey used for this self study)

5. A comparison of some key indicators with identified
peer institutions

The committee drafted a preliminary list of its own strength and
concerns as a result of examining the evidence. These were
shared with the Board of Trustees at the board retreat in 2005.

The self-study steering committee and the Board of Trustees
held a joint retreat to assess the preliminary strength and weak-
nesses. Related to Criterion Four, the trustees indicated interest
in the faculty and staff evaluation processes and evaluating the
utilization of professional development funds.

The Criterion Four committee reviewed the input from the trus-
tees and then reviewed and revised its list of strengths and con-
cerns after reviewing the results of the survey instrument and
analyzing other institutional data sources generated for the self
study.
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[ll. Core Components

Core Component 4a — Holy Cross College demonstrates,
through the actions of its board, administrators, students,
faculty, and staff, that it values a life of learning.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 76% of students,
95% of faculty, and 72% of the staff believe that they have free-
dom of intellectual inquiry at Holy Cross College.

An analysis of the college’s budget reveals that the college pro-
vides significant funding for professional development of faculty
and staff. Areas of this funding include support for the Center for
Faculty Development, the program of faculty development
grants, and development activities for administrative staff. In ad-
dition, the college has financially supported faculty and staff in
their pursuit of advanced academic degrees.

An analysis of the college’s budget shows support for co-
curricular student learning experiences, such as financial assis-
tance with internships, and seamless funding for international
experiences.

Interviews with faculty and staff indicate that the Center for Fac-
ulty Development presents a wealth of on- and off-campus op-
portunities for faculty to improve their skills and enhance their
knowledge. Faculty stated that the director of the center and the
vice president for academic affairs actively encourage faculty
participation in such opportunities.

Interviews with faculty revealed that the Fall Faculty Lecture Se-
ries and the spring academic convocation have been successful
in providing for excellent campus discussion of academic topics.

A review of minutes from the Board of Trustees showed that the
board has approved and disseminated statements supporting
freedom of inquiry for students, faculty, and staff.

Results from the self-study survey revealed that 53% of students,
73% of faculty, and 63% of staff agreed that the college rewards
excellence from students.

An analysis of information from college chapters indicates that
the academic fraternities of Phi Theta Kappa and Psi Beta recog-
nizes student academic achievement,

A review of institutional and individual memberships indicates
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that the college and the faculty are engaged in appropriate pro-
fessional organizations.

An examination of reports from continuing and community educa-
tion, and interviews with the director and the vice president for
academic affairs indicate that the college has been supremely
successful in offering significant learning opportunities for mem-
bers of the broader community. Examples of these activities in-
clude the medical Spanish program developed for Saint Joseph
Regional Medical Center, hosting the Education for Ministry pro-
gram for the Diocese of Fort Wayne — South Bend, continuing
education courses for local educators, the Youth Enrichment Pro-
gram offered in the summer, and the community education pro-
grams for adult learners.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 65% of students,
53% of faculty, and 56% of staff agreed that the college provides
for the intellectual needs of each member of the college commu-
nity.

The self-study survey revealed that 92% of faculty and 96% of
staff agreed that the college is primarily dedicated to teaching
and learning.

62% of students, 54% of faculty, and 64% of staff agreed on the
self-study survey that students develop a commitment to lifelong
learning as a result of their association with the college.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

On the self-study survey, only 30% of the faculty and 40% of staff
agreed that excellence in teaching is rewarded at the college.

Results from the self-study survey revealed that 43% of faculty
and 44% of staff agreed that the college is committed to fostering
excellence of staff.

32% of faculty agreed on the self-study survey that excellence in
scholarship is rewarded by the college.

A review of the faculty handbook and interviews with faculty and
the vice president for academic affairs suggest that the role of
scholarship is not adequately defined in terms of expectations for
faculty. Scholarship is not given significant weight in the rank
and promotion process.
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Core Component 4b — Holy Cross College demonstrates that
acquisition of a breadth of knowledge and skills and the ex-
ercise of intellectual inquiry are integral to its educational
programs.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of course syllabi reveals that faculty members are incor-
porating the nine transferable skills within their courses. In the
syllabi reviewed, students find the skills required for that course,
the assignments that will help them develop those skills, and the
criteria used for assessing those skills.

A review of reports from the Center for Faculty Development
shows that faculty at the college have an active intellectual life.
Faculty attend local and national conferences. Faculty develop-
ment grants are awarded annually to those who are working to
improve their knowledge and skills.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 65% of students
and 63% of faculty agree that academic programs at the college
require intellectual interaction among students.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 67% of students
and 61% of faculty agree that academic programs at the college
require intellectual interaction among students and faculty.

An analysis of programs from the Fall Faculty Lecture series and
the academic convocation shows that the college provides public
events that stimulate intellectual discourse.

A review of graduating liberal studies students’ electronic portfo-
lios demonstrates that the college requires students to reflect on
their learning in the liberal arts tradition. The nine transferable
skills of the curriculum are integral components that students
must address in their portfolios. In addition, the learning devel-
oped by the other elements of the program (international experi-
ence, service learning, and career development) are incorpo-
rated in the self-evaluation that students undertake.

A review of reports from the psychology area note that students
participate in a spring presentation of poster sessions from stu-
dent groups conducting research on issues in psychology. The
review is held in a public area on campus and is open to all from
the college community.
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Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

An analysis of admissions information reveals that prospective
students identify interests in many academic programs not of-
fered by the college. In surveys conducted by the admissions
office of students who choose not to enroll, lack of academic pro-
grams is one of the most frequently cited reasons for deciding
against attending Holy Cross College. Retention data suggest
that lack of academic programs is one of the most commonly
cited reasons for leaving the college.

A review of the public information sources of the college sug-
gests that many college constituents may not be well informed
about the high academic standards and educational programs
provided by the institution.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 33% of fac-
ulty agree that academic programs at the college require intellec-
tual interaction among faculty. Follow-up discussions with faculty
cited lack of time as the primary reason for inadequate faculty
conversations.

Core Component 4c — Holy Cross College assesses the use-
fulness of its curricula to students who live in a global, di-
verse, and technological society.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the transferable skills matrix and the assessment
plan for the skills reveal that themes related to global awareness,
diversity, and technology skills are explicit learning goals for the
curriculum. An analysis of course syllabi shows that the skills are
present in a variety of courses, and some courses are specifically
oriented to these issues.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 54% of students
and 80% of faculty agree that international experiences are im-
portant at Holy Cross College. The difference in this measure of
perception could be mitigated by the fact that 23% of students
neither agreed nor disagreed that international experiences are
important, implying a lack of awareness about international pro-
grams.

An examination of the follow-up evaluations from the interna-
tional experience reveal a high level of student reflection on the
experiences and preliminary evidence that the students are work-
ing on integrating the experiences into their lives.

A review of campus activities shows growing evidence of stu-
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dent-led involvement in cultural and global programming for other
students. For instance, many students who have participated in
study-abroad programs also participate in information sessions
about those programs for prospective students. Some of the stu-
dents returning from international experiences have even gone
into high schools and the broader community to help spread the
word about the college’s international programs.

A review of program information and course syllabi show that as-
sessment methods focus on using technology in many cases.
PowerPoint is commonly employed to make presentations.
There are sporadic but growing efforts to take assessment be-
yond the classroom into the community and internship experi-
ences. The evaluation of capstone projects and electronic port-
folios for liberal studies seniors is the most well developed exam-
ple of the incorporation of technology in assessment.

Analyzing the assessment of the liberal studies program reveals
that there is improvement in using feedback from the Lilly Career
Development Center and the students’ internship experiences to
link theory to practice and evidence “usefulness” of the curricu-
lum.

A review of electronic portfolios of liberal studies students shows
that the integration of global learning, diversity, and technology
with work and life were featured heavily in senior capstone pro-
jects.

Results from the self-study survey show that 82% of students,
83% of faculty, and 88% of staff agree that Holy Cross College
welcomes diversity within its community members.

Feedback from alumni and community members involved in the
assessment of the capstone projects positively confirms the use-
fulness of the curriculum in producing graduates who are capable
of functioning in a diverse, global, and technological world.

A review of the institutional budget and comparison with the Edu-
cause Guide to Evaluating Campus Technology shows that Holy
Cross College offers an exemplary level of staffing support and
access to technology. The comparison showed low ratios of stu-
dents to instructional technology staff, access to computer labo-
ratory and technically supported classrooms, and Web-based
access for student accounts.

An analysis of issues of the faculty newsletter, Teaching and
Learning Across the Curriculum, shows that the newsletter
serves as a rich source of ways to enhance inter-disciplinary as-
sessment and usefulness of the curriculum. The newsletter also
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has a strong commitment and awareness to improving the re-
sponsiveness of the curriculum, and improving methodology and
continuity in the assessment process with utility as a filter.

Interviews with students and staff indicate that the Lilly Career
Development Center ties global awareness, diversity, and tech-
nological competence to practical employability. The director of
the center works with students to determine how to showcase
those skills as part of their career development efforts. Periodic
reports from the center to the Lilly Endowment reveal that the
college is linking to the outside world.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 79% of students
and 80% of faculty agree that Holy Cross College students are
capable of using current technologies.

A review of student orientation materials shows that the use of
technology is emphasized to new students. There is an orienta-
tion to use of campus technology, including the Empower admin-
istrative computing system, the wireless services available of
campus, and the common applications that students use (such
as e-mail).

An analysis of course syllabi reveals that some use of technology
is specifically embedded into more than 70% of course offerings.

The curriculum as well as student-life activities incorporates cul-
tural, racial, religious, and socio-economic variations as a regular
filter, and learning is assessed to assure that students recognize
and can address these variations in new learning situations.

An examination of the college mission statement shows that Holy
Cross College clearly states that it welcomes diversity within the
college community.

A review of program information, course syllabi, and student life
activities reveals that service learning is an important part of the
Holy Cross College experience. A service learning course is re-
quired for the liberal studies major. The course, “Community In-
volvement,” provides an academic framework for service learn-
ing, catering mostly to underclass students. Some other individ-
ual course have service requirements. Finally, the Student Com-
mittee on Social Concerns and the programs offered through
“Cross and Anchors” demonstrate a commitment to service and
project these themes outside the classroom.

A review of course syllabi shows that the curriculum is exception-
ally strong in looking at socio-economic diversity, its impact on
our politics and culture, and the teachings of the Church in the
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areas of social justice. The moral implications of dealing with
diversity are clear and are assessed.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

An examination of course syllabi revealed in many instances a
lack of baseline assessment information as to students’ technol-
ogy skills. Standardized assessments of technological readiness
are available and should probably be used to determine which
entering students may need intervention and what types of inter-
vention they may need in order to make use of campus technol-

ogy.

A large percentage of students (43%), faculty (44%), and staff

(44%) neither agree nor disagree that Holy Cross College pro-

vides for the cultural needs of the members of the college com-
munity.

A review of program information and assessment data suggest
that, although student learning outcomes for global awareness
and technology seem reasonable (or in some cases, exemplary),
there is mixed evidence that the effects of assessment are tied to
the overall curriculum design.

Self-study survey results showed that only 41% of students be-
lieve that their education at Holy Cross College has prepared
them for the world of work.

A review of the student orientation program shows that the stu-
dent orientation to campus technology has not been evaluated to
demonstrate its sufficiency.

Review of the strategic planning documents of the college re-
veals that the institution does not have a long-range plan for im-
plementation of technology.

A fiscal analysis shows that, while the college has made signifi-
cant investment in technology, that investment has at time been
unpredictable depending on the availability of funds. This has
made the college more reactive than proactive in meeting its
technology needs. The result has been inadequate remote ac-
cess, wireless access, and multimedia server systems.

A review of the college’s intranet resources shows a lack of stan-
dardization and indexing of materials. The technical expertise of
faculty varies widely and thus the inconsistency in the on-line ap-
pearance of the college’s curriculum. The college’s image and
brand would be enhance by a more standardized appearance
and approach to online resources.
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An analysis of enrollment and staff data shows that the college
needs to improve students’ experience of diversity by increasing
the racial and cultural diversity and sex balance of the faculty and
student body. Progress has been made in this regard since the
last comprehensive self study. The student body has very good
geographic diversity (more than 30 states represented), but the
sex imbalance is noticeable and contrary to national standards.
There has been some increase in minority representation in re-
cent years but this is almost totally due to an increase in Hispanic
students. There has been a small decline in African-American
population and a significant decline in international students
since 1991.

Self-study survey results showed that 49% of students and 37%
of faculty agree that Holy Cross College students are aware of
current events in the world.

Core Component 4d — Holy Cross College provides support
to ensure that faculty, students, and staff acquire, discover,
and apply knowledge responsibly.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

An evaluation of college budgets and reports from the Center for
Faculty Development demonstrate that the college provides sig-
nificant financial support for faculty and staff to attend confer-
ences.

Results from the self-study survey show that faculty (56%) and
staff (64%) agree that Holy Cross College provides for the pro-
fessional needs of members of the college community.

An examination of library services available to faculty and staff
reveals that Holy Cross College enjoys excellent facilities and
services. In addition to the McKenna Library, the faculty and
staff have consortial access to libraries at the University of Notre
Dame, Saint Mary’s College, and a number of libraries through-
out the state.

A review of public information documents shows that the college
invites speakers to visit campus several times each year. The
college is able to capitalize on its location by inviting highly ac-
complished scholars as part of the Fall Faculty Lecture, the
spring academic convocation, and the spring commencement
exercises.

The self-study survey reveals that 74% of faculty agree that the
Center for Faculty Development enhances faculty effectiveness.
An analysis of fiscal reports and interviews with faculty and staff
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reveal that the college provides financial assistance to faculty
and staff pursuing advanced degrees.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 71% of faculty
agree that Holy Cross College supports innovation by faculty
members.

Interviews with faculty and staff indicate broad agreement that
Holy Cross College encourages the development of new pro-
grams. Examples cited included the liberal studies program, the
optional academic concentrations for the liberal studies majors,
the proposed degree programs in theology and education, and
numerous initiatives through community and continuing educa-
tion.

Interviews with students and faculty and reviews of program in-
formation indicate that the college encourages out-of-class learn-
ing experiences as important complements to the formal aca-
demic program. International experiences, service learning, field
experiences, internships and job shadowing, and student activi-
ties were identified as important components of the college’s
educational mission.

A review of the academic catalog reveals that the college has a
general education requirement in philosophy for all degree-
seeking students. Two courses that are commonly used to fulfill
this requirement are ethics and business ethics.

Analysis of campus information sources show that the college’s
“Cross and Anchors” program provides information to students
on numerous wellness issues, such as relationships, alcohol and
drug abuse, and depression and mental health.

A review of event literature demonstrates that Holy Cross Col-
lege provides opportunities for campus performance and displays
of fine and performing arts. The college hosts a theater perform-
ance each spring. Also, Arts Day is a spring event in which stu-
dent art, musical performances, theatrical, and literary works
(through publication of The Cauldron) are performed and dis-
played for the entire college community.

Holy Cross College sponsored a symposium on academic integ-
rity for faculty, staff, and students in 2003. Reports of the event
show that the matter of responsible scholarship was explored.
Follow-up work from the symposium has included drafting a code
of academic honesty.

An examination of the college catalog and the student handbook
reveal that the institution emphasizes academic honesty through
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its policies and within its courses. In addition, good conduct in
courses and residence life is enforced by academic and student
life policies and procedures.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Interviews with the faculty and the vice president for academic
affairs indicate that, in spite of the institutional resources avail-
able for faculty development, many faculty do not take full advan-
tage of faculty development activities and funds.

Interviews with faculty and staff reveal the perception that incon-
sistent personnel evaluation processes hinder the appraisal of
scholarship and innovation by members of the college commu-
nity.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 41% of staff
agree that Holy Cross College supports innovation by staff. In-
terestingly, 42% of staff respondents neither agreed nor dis-
agreed that the college supports innovation by staff.

A review of the assessment plan indicates that there is no broad
institutional measure that assesses how well students have de-
veloped ethical and responsible uses of knowledge.

V. Summary

After reviewing the evidence for this criterion, the analysis sug-
gests that Holy Cross College has fulfilled this criterion.

There is the strong belief among students, faculty, and staff that
they have freedom of intellectual inquiry at Holy Cross College.

While Holy Cross College remains an institution dedicated to
teaching and learning in the strictest sense of what that means,
the college also boasts as one of its most important learning ob-
jectives the goal of facilitating the creation of lifelong learners.
This goal is a distinguishing characteristic of institutions in the
legacy of the Congregation and Brothers of Holy Cross. This
commitment flows from the college’s philosophy of creating a
pragmatic, practical liberal education. It also extends beyond the
students served directly by the college. The college seeks to
promote learning among all constituents: students, faculty, staff,
trustees, alumni, friends, and the broader community. This com-
mitment compels the college to seek new ways of meeting the
evolving educational needs of all members of the college com-
munity.
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As a means of helping develop lifelong learners, the focus on the
nine transferable skills within the curriculum represents an ac-
knowledgement of the learning skills necessary for life. The
strength of the transferable skills lies in their applicability across
learners and academic disciplines.

The commitment of the college to develop lifelong learning can
be seen in the significant expansion of resources dedicated to
faculty and staff development since the last comprehensive self
study. The college has established the Center for Faculty Devel-
opment which helps fund collective and personal development
activities for faculty. The college has also significantly contrib-
uted to the development of staff by supporting advanced educa-
tion and training. These activities have helped stress the impor-
tance of continuing learning for those professionals who actualize
the college’s academic mission. The importance of this commit-
ment cannot be understated, as the college has maintained the
financial resources for these activities even when institutional
budgets have been pressed for cost savings during enrollment
declines.

The college’s evolution as a baccalaureate institution has cast a
light on the role of scholarship in the life of the faculty. Scholar-
ship is not significantly weighted in the rank and promotion proc-
ess. A review of faculty scholarly activity has shown that there is
a growing interest among some faculty in pursuing scholarly ac-
tivities. However, the role of scholarship in determining faculty
productivity is underdeveloped, and there is no sense of how re-
ward systems should reflect scholarly endeavors.

The sabbatical program implemented in 2002 has tremendous
potential to contribute to the life of faculty and advance a culture
of scholarship. Only one faculty member has taken advantage of
the sabbatical so far, but only two others have been eligible for
the program since its addition, and neither applied for a sabbati-
cal.

Holy Cross College has had significant success in developing
public events which focus on academic issues. The Fall Faculty
Lecture series and the spring academic convocation have intro-
duced scholars and speakers to the entire college community.
These events have become anticipated parts of the yearly aca-
demic calendar.

The college’s intranet has become a more powerful resource for

information for the college community. Many courses now utilize
online resources as supplemental materials in the learning proc-
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Early evaluations of the orientation program for faculty and staff
suggest that the program does a credible job of assisting new
faculty and staff with adapting to mission, culture, and expecta-
tions of Holy Cross College.

Holy Cross College has made some improvements in publicly
recognizing student excellence. The spring convocation honors
students named to the academic honors list. The Phi Theta
Kappa and Psi Beta academic honorary fraternities have been
chartered to identify students who have become examples of
academic excellence.

Developing an institutional perspective on academic honesty has
been a priority for several years. A symposium on academic in-
tegrity was received very well by faculty and students. An institu-
tional process for reviewing cases alleging violations of academic
honesty has been articulated and implemented. A code of aca-
demic integrity has been drafted.

The college’s community and continuing education efforts have
made a significant contribution to learning among other constitu-
ents of the college. Continuing education programs for profes-
sionals and for specific groups have been enthusiastically re-
ceived and strongly evaluated. The community education pro-
gram has provided high quality enrichment activities for the entire
age spectrum of learners in the local area.

A sizeable portion of the faculty do not believe that there is intel-
lectual interaction among faculty members within the college’s
academic programs.

Recommendations for future directions

In light of the fact that the nine transferable skills in the curricu-
lum were articulated more than a decade ago, the faculty should
review the skills for relevancy and further refinement.

The academic programs and divisions should consider ways in
which student research is incorporated in courses and programs.
Methods of involving students and faculty in research should be
explored.

The proposed academic programs of education and theology
should consider ways in which they can develop new contribu-
tions to public academic discourse on campus.

While the biennial award for excellence in teaching is a positive
step, the college should consider new ways to recognize and re-
ward excellence in teaching that is comprehensive across faculty
members.
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The faculty should undertake a review of the standards for faculty
scholarship and consider proposals for inclusion of scholarly ac-
tivities in evaluating promotion.

The college’s two academic honorary fraternities are oriented
toward associate degree students. Holy Cross College should
identify and seek to charter appropriate academic societies that
reflect the college’s focus on baccalaureate education.

The college must consider ways of formalizing faculty interaction
within the academic programs offered by the college. Because
so many faculty do not believe that they share intellectual inter-
action, methods needs to be explored for enhancing intellectual
discourse within programs. Cross-disciplinary discussion groups
for addressing specific academic programs would be useful. An
examination of how faculty workloads affect such conversations
should be considered.

The college should consider developing a strategic plan for infor-
mation technology to include the expansion of remote access,
wireless access, and multimedia server systems.

With the college’s focus on international experiences, hew pro-
grams and activities should be developed to celebrate the experi-
ences of students in the international experience. These efforts
will help publicize the college’s programs and enhance under-
standing and appreciation of the global cultures encountered
through the college’s programs.

A fair and transparent system for evaluation of faculty and staff
needs to be implemented throughout the college. A comprehen-
sive staff handbook needs to be developed. Peer review should
be considered as part of the evaluation processes.

The college should consider ways to enhance diversity among
students, faculty, and staff. While developing targets for num-
bers may not be the best approach, a serious discussion would
be in order on methods and strategies to identify and recruit com-
munity members from different cultural, ethnic, and socioeco-
nomic backgrounds.

The college should consider an institution-wide method to assess
how well students have internalized lessons regarding academic
integrity and the responsible and ethical use of knowledge.

A method to assess baseline technology skills of entering stu-

dents should be considered. In addition, such an assessment
would help determine what educational interventions are neces-
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Criterion Five — Engagement and Service

Criterion Statement — As called for by its mission, Holy
Cross College identifies its constituencies and serves them
in ways both value.

I. Background

The Criterion Five committee examined the fulfillment of the crite-
rion. The members of the criterion committee and their institu-
tional responsibilities are as follows.

Edward Gareau (Co-chair) — theology

Timothy Ryan (Co-chair) — career services

Patricia Adams — community and continuing education
Sister Joanne Becker - library

Daniel Cochran — residence life

Brother Christopher Dreyer — student counseling services
Patricia Falvey — advancement

Ibett Giannone — business office

Michael Griffin — international education

Jodie Przybysz — president’s office

Sara Whitfield — admissions

Brother James Everett — trustee

Luanne Hallett — trustee

Jerry Love — trustee

Mark Pulte — trustee

Father Kevin Russeau — trustee

Brother Donald Stabrowski — trustee

Paula Waters — trustee

Activities undertaken to strengthen this area since the last self
study.

e In 2002, Holy Cross College received permission from the
Higher Learning Commission to add the bachelor of arts in
liberal studies degree. One critical component of the degree
program is a mandatory international experience in a part of
the world where the Brothers and Congregation of Holy Cross
have ministries. Another important component of the pro-
gram is a required service-learning course (THEO 450, The-
ology of Christian Service) that incorporates a theological
framework with directed service activities.

e In 2000, Holy Cross College established the Office of Com-
munity and Continuing Education to provide outreach educa-
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tional services to the broader community. The office has pro-
vided development programs for professionals who need ad-
vanced education. The office also directs personal enrich-
ment programs for youth and adults in the community.

Since the last comprehensive self study, Holy Cross College
has expanded the Campus Ministry Office to provide assis-
tance to students in their spiritual development. The office is
now led by a full-time director of campus minister and a part-
time assistant director. In addition to the common liturgical
and catechetical services offered by the Campus Ministry Of-
fice, the office also programs a variety of student service op-
portunities. The office organizes the student Mission Team to
help strengthen the faith life of the campus. Finally, the Cam-
pus Ministry Office also sponsors outreach activities such as
the summer workshop for high school students to explore the
faith.

In addition to the required service-learning course for liberal
studies majors, an elective course (HCCC 150, Community
Involvement) which offers students opportunities to engage in
service.

The Brothers of Holy Cross have expanded Holy Cross Vil-
lage on the property shared with Holy Cross College. Holy
Cross Village incorporates a residential community for sen-
iors. The presence of the Village has spurred the college to
offer programming for residences from the Village. Program-
ming has included participation in the community education
programs, as well as service opportunities for college stu-
dents.

Since the last self study, Holy Cross College has become a
member of Indiana Campus Compact. Indiana Campus
Compact is an organization of colleges and universities in
Indiana dedicated to the promotion of service learning. Indi-
ana Campus Compact awards grants to students, faculty,
and staff who create projects, curricula, and programs that
utilize service learning. Holy Cross College faculty have re-
ceived funding from Indiana Campus Compact.

Holy Cross College established the Social Concerns Commit-
tee, a student group that provides service both on- and off-
campus. The Social Concerns Committee sponsors a variety
of outreach activities, including hosting the Halloween party
for local children, sponsoring Thanksgiving baskets for needy
families, collecting gifts for the Toys for Tots drive at Christ-
mas, coordinating relief drives for victims of natural disasters,
and directing spring community service days.
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e In 2002, Holy Cross College established the award for out-
standing service to be given every other year. The award
recognizes a faculty or staff member who has become an ex-
emplar of selfless service to the broader college community
beyond the scope of one’s ordinary duties.

[I. Methods and Evidence

The Criterion Five committee examined the structures and proc-
esses that involve the board, administration, faculty, staff, and
students. The committee undertook this examination in order to
evaluate how the institution fosters a culture of engagement and
service. In so doing, the committee organized its work around
the four core components of this criterion.

The committee reviewed the following documents.

Admissions materials

Administrative memoranda

Annual fall faculty in-service materials
Assessment newsletters

College mission statement

College press releases

College Website

Electronic portfolios of graduating students

Fall faculty lecture series programs

Financial statements/audit reports

Information on the transferable skills

Liberal studies program materials

Lists of college affiliations with professional groups
Lists of faculty and staff recognition awards

Lists of service learning activities

Minutes of meetings of the Academic Council
Minutes of meetings of the Administrative Council
Minutes of meetings of the Board of Trustees
Minutes of meetings of the Faculty Forum
Officers’ reports for the Board of Trustees
Orientation information packets

Orientation materials for the Board of Trustees
President’s reports for the Board of Trustees
Previous self-study reports

Report on the symposium on academic integrity
Report on the symposium on Catholic identity
Reports from the Center for Faculty Development
Reports from Community and Continuing Education
Self-study survey responses

Strategic planning materials
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Vision statements and accompanying goals
Interviews were conducted with the following people.

Directors of various college offices
Faculty members

Students

Officers of the college

Trustees

As stated, Criterion Five is very general and can be interpreted in
many ways. Every institution of higher learning has a multiplicity
of constituents, both internal and external, as well as multiple
ways of engagement. Holy Cross College has internal constitu-
ents essential to its mission which it engages and serves. It has
significant external constituents as well. The 1997 comprehen-
sive self study addressed the issues of engagement and service
throughout its contents. However, it put little emphasis on the
college’s service to constituencies external to the institution itself.
This seems to have been a lesser priority in the Commission’s
approach to accreditation during time of the last self study.

At the Fall 2005 conference of the Indiana Campus Compact on
Criterion Five, Dr. Steven Crow, Executive Director of the Higher
Learning Commission, made it quite clear that although all the
constituents of an organization are of concern, the Commission’s
emphasis in this new criterion is placed on an institution of higher
learning’s engagement of and service to its external constituents.
This emphasis comes from the renewed awareness that colleges
and universities have a responsibility to the common good of so-
ciety and not just to the individuals they directly serve.

Much has changed at Holy Cross College since 1997. These
changes have significantly affected the internal constituencies of
the college and expanded its relationships with external constitu-
encies. lItis the mission of the college which has inspired this
growth. This growth has further intensified the appreciation and
explication of the mission of the college. Because of the connec-
tion of the college’s mission to the mission of the Catholic Church
and the Brothers and Congregation of Holy Cross, the self
awareness of the college community intuitively engages and
serves constituencies outside of itself. Holy Cross College did
not have to wait for outside influences for motivation to engage
and serve external constituencies.
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[ll. Core Components

Core Component 5a — Holy Cross College learns from the
constituencies it serves and analyzes its capacity to serve
their needs and expectations.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of minutes from the Student Government Association
reveals that student representatives meet regularly with repre-
sentatives of the administration.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 68% of students,
80% of faculty, and 84% of staff agree that Holy Cross College is
responsive to student needs.

A review of the course evaluation process shows that students
are given formal opportunities to provide input on the quality of
academic courses at the college.

An examination of minutes from the Academic Council and divi-
sion meetings show evidence that Holy Cross College analyzes
its capacity to serve students’ learning needs and expectations.

Minutes from meetings of the Administrative Council, Student
Life Council, and strategic and operational planning groups evi-
dence continual analysis of the college’s capacity to respond to
student needs.

Self-study survey results indicate that 55% of students agree that
other students they know feel like they are part of Holy Cross
College.

80% of faculty and 76% of staff agree on the self-study survey
that students they work with feel like they are part of the college.

A review of the records regarding the development of the liberal
studies program shows that college faculty, staff, and trustees
gave considerable weight to evidence of students’ desires and
needs when considering the addition of baccalaureate education
to the college’s curriculum.

An examination of minutes from Administrative Council meetings
and Board of Trustees meetings reveals that responding to stu-
dent needs has been a primary motivation when planning devel-
opment of facilities, programs, structures, and procedures since
the last comprehensive self study.
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Results from the self-study survey indicate that 67% of faculty
state that other faculty they know feel like they are part of the col-
lege.

A review of records from the strategic planning process shows
that faculty and staff members are included in all strategic and
operational planning groups.

An examination of bylaws and minutes from the Faculty Forum
shows that faculty, through the structure of the Faculty Forum,
are consulted for advice by administration on academic matters.
In addition, two faculty representatives elected by the Faculty Fo-
rum participate as full members on the Academic Council.

A review of records from the academic divisions shows that fac-
ulty within the divisions meet regularly at their discretion to dis-
cuss issues of academic concern.

Results from the self-study survey reveal that 64% of faculty and
80% of staff agree that they believe they have a meaningful role
to play in determining the future of the college.

Interviews with faculty, the director, and the vice president for
academic affairs confirm that the Center for Faculty Development
has been responsive to professional needs and interests ex-
pressed by faculty.

An analysis of the college’s budget shows that significant con-
tinuing education funds are made available for faculty and staff in
response to needs and expectations.

A review of information regarding orientation weekend for new
students indicates that the college evaluates the activities and
services provided during the weekend and has made adjust-
ments in the events of orientation based on new students needs.

An examination of the records surrounding the establishment of
Parents’ Weekend shows that the college has developed and
expanded the events in light of expressed needs and interests of
students and families.

An analysis of documents and records from the Office of Com-
munity and Continuing Education since its establishment in 2000
shows that the director has undertaken extensive formal and in-
formal efforts to determine educational needs in the community.
The office surveys those taking community and continuing edu-
cational programs for their evaluations of services offered and
their interests in other kinds of educational programming.



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY

Most college
committees do not
have student
representation.

Admissions
processes show a
lack of a
systematic,
methodical
approach to
gathering
information on
prospective
students who are
accepted to the
college but do not
matriculate.

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

Interviews with the director of community and continuing educa-
tion and the vice president for academic affairs indicate that
many new programs for professional learners has been devel-
oped as the result of college outreach efforts. For instance, the
medical Spanish program was initiated after extensive discus-
sions with the staff of Saint Joseph’s Medical Center. Also, pro-
grams in service of diocesan needs, such as the Education for
Ministry series, has come about from discussions between the
college and the diocese on continuing education needs.

Interviews with the director of community and continuing educa-
tion and the vice president for academic affairs reveal that the
college has made significant outreach efforts to the residents of
Holy Cross Village. The residents have provided frequent input
on the community education courses offered by the college.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

An analysis of membership lists of various college committees
reveals that most college committees do not have student repre-
sentation.

A review of the records of many planning exercises shows that
faculty and staff were not consulted as groups. Faculty and staff
were represented on committees involved in planning (such as
strategic operational planning groups), but there were not ave-
nues for faculty and staff to comment on such planning as dis-
tinct groups.

Only 43% of students agree on the self-study survey that they
believe they have a meaningful role to play in the determining the
college’s future.

A review of the Faculty Handbook and other institutional policies
shows that there are no or only poorly defined institutional poli-
cies for merit review or grievances.

Admissions policies and processes show a lack of a systematic,
methodical approach to gathering information on prospective stu-
dents who are accepted to the college but do not matriculate.
The college does not determine the reasons why such students
choose not to attend the college.

An examination of the college assessment plan reveals that Holy
Cross College does not currently follow up formally with alumni
on the long-term effects of the college’s education. Interviews
with the director of assessment and the vice president for aca-
demic affairs reveals an intention to conduct such assessment.
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A review of the community and continuing education initiatives of
the college from the past ten years shows that Holy Cross Col-
lege relies on informal means for identifying outreach opportuni-
ties for the wider community. Most such initiatives come about
on an ad hoc basis through the efforts of individual members of
the college community. More formal and structured methods for
determining community needs should be explored.

Core Component 5b — Holy Cross College has the capacity
and commitment to engage with its identified constituencies
and communities.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

A review of the Holy Cross College mission statement reveals
that the college has a stated commitment to reach out to those
individuals and groups that the college can serve.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 52% of faculty,
75% of staff, and 81% of trustees agree that Holy Cross College
is an important member of the community.

Interviews with the director of community and continuing educa-
tion shows that the college has established a very vibrant and
effective educational outreach program since the office of com-
munity and continuing education was founded in 2000. The ef-
forts of the director have resulted in the expansion of the col-
lege’s engagement with external constituencies in the region.

A review of student life opportunities shows that Holy Cross Col-
lege engages students, faculty, and staff with external communi-
ties through a variety of co-curricular activities. These activities
include Phi Theta Kappa service projects, the Homework Tutor-
ing Program, the Social Concerns Committee, various events for
the Center for the Homeless, the Toys for Tots program, and so
on.

An examination of reports from the Lilly Career Development
Center shows that the center has been a significant vehicle for
expanding the engagement of the college with the local business
community. This has been done through internships and job
shadowing experiences, career fairs that match employers and
students, and so on.

The self-study survey indicates that 56% of faculty and 51% of
staff agree that Holy Cross College faculty and staff are visibly
engaged in community organizations.

Lists of course offerings indicate that the community involvement
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course (HCCC 150) has been taught every semester at the col-
lege since 1993. Also, the course on Christian perspectives on
service (THEO 450) is a required course for all students in the
liberal studies program.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 53% of students
and 83% of faculty agree that service learning is an important
part of the Holy Cross College experience.

A review of the service learning courses at the college shows
that the college has established official contacts with more than
one hundred different agencies and social service organizations
in the local area so that students may volunteer their services
either in connection with service projects or service learning.

An analysis of lists of faculty activities shows that numerous fac-
ulty members actively connect students with community organi-
zations and service opportunities. Examples of such efforts in-
clude South Bend Catholic Worker House, the Walk for Hospice,
the Buddy Walk for Down Syndrome, the annual drive for the
Muscular Dystrophy Association, the Relay for Life, and so on.

A review of recipients of the award for outstanding service indi-
cates that Holy Cross College has used the award to identify
those faculty and staff members who are excellent models of ser-
vice to the college community.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

A review of the Faculty Handbook indicates that requirements for
evidence of civic and ecclesial engagement are not significant
aspects of the faculty promotion process.

An examination of the college assessment plan shows that as-
sessment of service learning is not incorporated into the plan.

A review of orientation materials for new faculty, staff, and trus-
tees shows that engagement with external constituencies is not
emphasized for college members as an expectation for excel-
lence.

The orientation program for new students only obliquely ad-
dresses the importance of service learning at Holy Cross Col-
lege.

Despite the considerable successes the college has had in work-
ing with Holy Cross Village, reports of activities that engage vil-
lage residents suggests that a more formal working relationship
between the college and the village could help strengthen the

PAGE 99 ]



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY

38% of faculty, 38%
of staff, and 46% of
trustees do not
know if Holy Cross
College faculty and
staff are visibly
engaged in the
local community.

A number of
changes in the
liberal studies
program have
resulted from
direct student
input.

Many initiatives
from the Office of
Community and
Continuing
Education have
developed as the
result of direct
suggestions from
external
constituents.

[ PAGE 100

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

relationship between the two entities and provide better service
to village residents.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 38% of faculty,
38% of staff, and 46% of trustees do not know if Holy Cross Col-
lege faculty and staff are visibly engaged in the local community.
This suggests that the college has not done enough to promote
the ways in which faculty and staff are publicly active.

Core Component 5¢c — Holy Cross College demonstrates its
responsiveness to those constituencies that depend on it
for service.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 68% of students,
80% of faculty, and 84% of staff agree that Holy Cross College is
responsive to the needs of students.

Interviews with faculty and admissions personnel indicate that
the founding of the liberal studies program has compelled consid-
eration of ways to serve students who wish to transfer to Holy
Cross College. As a result, processes for analyzing transfer ap-
plicants have been developed, and the result has been that sev-
eral transfer students have enrolled.

Interviews with faculty and the vice president for academic affairs
reveal that a number of changes in the liberal studies program
have resulted from direct student input. One example is that,
based on student suggestions, course schedules have been
modified so as to free up blocks of time later in the day for work
and internships. Another example is that some students with
identified medical needs have had alternative placements for
their international experiences.

Interviews with faculty and the vice president for academic affairs
indicate that many course adjustments have been made as the
result of student evaluations.

A review of annual reports from the Office of Community and
Continuing Education indicates that participants in community
education and continuing education activities are surveyed for
their interest in other courses and programs. The reports also
indicate that new courses and programs have been developed as
the result of such feedback.

Interviews with the director of community and continuing educa-
tion and the vice president for academic affairs show that many
initiatives from the Office of Community and Continuing Educa-



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

Several intramural
sports programs
were developed
based on student
initiative.

tion have developed as the result of direct suggestions from ex-
ternal constituents. One example is the medical Spanish pro-
gram which developed from a discussion about educational
needs of staff at Saint Joseph Regional Medical Center. Another
example is continuing education courses for teachers in the
Catholic schools in the South Bend area.

Interviews with the director of student activities and the vice
president for student affairs indicate that many student activities
have resulted from directly from student requests. Several intra-
mural sports programs, as well as club lacrosse, developed
based on student initiative. Some fitness activities, such as aero-
bics and Pilates, came about as the result of student requests.
Some suggestions were funneled through channels such as the
Student Government Association, while others were proposed
directly to student life staff.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that students agree
that the college provides for their various needs. 65% of stu-
dents agree that the college provide for their intellectual needs,
56% agree that the college provides for their personal needs,
75% agree that the college provides for their spiritual needs, and
52% agree that the college provides for their physical needs.

Reports from the director of community and continuing education
reveal that outside groups that utilize the college facilities for
meetings and events are asked to evaluate the services that the
college provides. Feedback from these evaluations has been
used to improve services.

According to the director of community and continuing education,
the Youth Enrichment Days summer program for children has
been madified based on comments from families. One signifi-
cant modification was the coordination of the schedule for the
program with the summer program at Saint Joseph High School.
In 2006, many families took advantage of the coordination by
participating in both the Holy Cross College program and the
Saint Joseph High School program.

Reports from the Office of Campus Ministry show that outreach
efforts, such as the Summer Youth Conference, are evaluated for
program effectiveness.

The college gymnasium has been made available to members of
the community (a constituency group) for a variety of uses, in-
cluding baton twirling, and table tennis clinics.

Interviews with student life staff reveal that the college’s resi-
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dence life and dining services routinely use student feedback for
improvement of services. One example of significant student in-
volvement in planning facilities and services is the renovation of
the college dining hall during 2005. Students were integral mem-
bers of the committee planning the renovation. Another example
is the planning that went into opening the various residence halls.
In those cases, significant student input was utilized in planning
for the facilities and their usage.

Reports from campus technology staff indicate that the college
utilizes student, faculty, and staff feedback in determining needs
for technology equipment and services. This feedback has been
important planning computer laboratory services, wireless ac-
cess, IP telephony, and television services on campus.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

Analysis of admissions data collected from prospective students
indicates that lack of academic and student life program depth
hurts the college’s appeal to prospective students. There is indi-
cation that some of that information has informed program plan-
ning, but there appears to be no systematic incorporation of such
information into academic and student life programming.

Results from the self-study survey indicate that only 49% of fac-
ulty and 36% of staff agree that there is adequate internal com-
munication among faculty and staff at the college.

Core Component 5d — Internal and external constituencies
value the services Holy Cross College provides.

Evidence that demonstrates the criterion is met

Results from the self-study survey indicate that 81% of students
agree that Holy Cross College treats its students well.

86% of students agree on the self-study survey that Holy Cross
College provides a healthy environment for students.

According to the self-study survey, 75% of students agreed that
Holy Cross College provides the education it advertises.

According to a 2006 survey of seniors in the liberal studies pro-
gram, the average student response was “Agree to Strongly
Agree” that the liberal studies program met student expectations.

Reports from the Office of Community and Continuing Education
and interviews with the director show that the community educa-
tion initiatives sponsored by the office have been very well re-
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ceived. Between 2000 and 2005, community education offerings
have grown from twelve courses to more than thirty courses each
semester. Courses are evaluated by participants, and evalua-
tions have been very strong. Ideas for new courses have helped
shape the schedule.

According to reports from the Office of Community and Continu-
ing Education, the Youth Enrichment Days summer program for
children has been a remarkable success. Evaluations of the pro-
gram by parents have been very strong since the program began
in 2001. The program averages approximately 100 participants
each year.

Reports from the Office for Community and Continuing Education
and interviews with the director indicate that continuing education
programs sponsored by the office have grown since 2000. Con-
tinuing education offerings include professional development
seminars in areas such as secondary education teaching, den-
tistry, and other health professions. The college’s very success-
ful medical Spanish program was developed as a continuing edu-
cation program in partnership with Saint Joseph Regional Medi-
cal Center. Evaluations of the continuing education offerings
have been very strong. Word-of-mouth discussion in the com-
munity about the value of these experiences has led to discus-
sions on other continuing education program with other health
organizations, law enforcement, educational institutions, and so
on.

Evidence that demonstrates the area needs strengthening

According to the vice president for academic affairs, the college
does not keep and track longitudinal data from course evalua-
tions. The result is an institutional inability to track student
evaluations and how those evaluations have been used to im-
prove courses.

Discussions with the director of community and continuing edu-
cation reveal that, despite the overall satisfaction with program-
ming offered by the office, several outside groups have been un-
able to utilize the college for programs or services because of
limitations in facilities. The reason cited most often includes a
lack of sufficiently large meeting space.

V. Summary

After reviewing the evidence for this criterion, the analysis sug-
gests that Holy Cross College has fulfilled this criterion.
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As called for by its mission, Holy Cross College identifies its con-
stituencies and serves them in valued ways. The evidence
shows that the college learns from the various constituencies it
serves and analyzes its capacity to meet their needs and expec-
tations. The evidence supports the capacity and commitment of
Holy Cross College to engage its constituents. The evidence
demonstrates the responsiveness of the college to those who
depend on it for service. It is clear from the evidence provided
that the college’s services are valued by those who receive them.

Among the many strengths that the college has in regard to en-
gagement and service, particular attention should be paid to the
way the college interacts with two of its primary constituents:
students and the external stakeholders served through commu-
nity and continuing education.

The focus of undergraduate education at Holy Cross College is
on the holistic welfare of students. The college faculty under-
stand the academic needs of its students as learners. Student
life staff understand the spiritual, personal, and physical needs of
students. The emphasis on experiential learning engages stu-
dents with people in real world settings that are local, national,
and international in scope. The student life area works well in
learning from students and identifying their co-curricular and life
needs. Students are very involved in campus decision-making,
and the evidence is clear that they value their experiences at the
college.

The Office of Community and Continuing Education at Holy
Cross College has initiated educational outreach programs that
have actively sought to serve educational needs of professional
and adult learners within the region. The office, led by the very
successful director, has mastered how to learn from program
participants and from other organizations in the community. The
programs sponsored by the office have provided successful out-
reach engagement by the college. Partnerships have been
formed with various external groups that have been of significant
value for both the college and the community. The successes
enjoyed by the office and the director have led to other prospects
for service to the community. These prospects portend other im-
portant partnerships that will significantly enhance the college’s
engagement in and service to the community.

Recommendations for future directions

There is some evidence that the lack of structured communica-
tion between the faculty and the administration hinders effective
engagement of the faculty beyond their immediate role in teach-
ing and learning. The college should consider the appointment
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Each member of the steering committee was designated as a co-
chair of one of five criterion groups. Each criterion group ex-
plored in-depth the criterion assigned to it. The criterion groups
of a dean of faculty who would serve as a representative of the
faculty.

There is insufficient emphasis on human resources especially for
staff employees. This affects the communication regarding em-
ployment issues. There needs to be more formal development of
handbooks, procedures, job descriptions, personnel evaluations
and promotion procedures. The hiring of a human resource con-
sultant might expedite these needs.

To facilitate the building of a more explicit culture of external en-
gagement at Holy Cross College, a more mature approach to ex-
ternal relations the committee is needed. The appointment of a
director of external engagement or external relations would help
in this respect. Currently, the responsibility for this is divided
among the various staff, include the vice president for advance-
ment and the director of community and continuing education. A
more coordinated approach would formalize the capacity and
commitment of the college to engagement with its external con-
stituents. This would be a positive step toward developing the
institutional culture.

Based on student input and recommendations of student life
staff, the construction of a recreation center and the development
of an intercollegiate athletic program are imperative as means for
meeting the wellness needs of students. Such a facility, and its
related athletic programs, would also provide another avenue for
outreach to the community. Wellness programs could be devel-
oped for Holy Cross Village residents. Also, sports camps could
complement the successful Youth Enrichment Days program dur-
ing the summer months.

The Lilly Career Development Center needs more effective mar-
keting, both internally and externally. In addition to its service to
students, the center could become a more useful resource to
alumni.

Holy Cross College needs a more robust system to track how
well it serves two groups. One group is prospective students.
More data need to be collected that address how the college’s
programs and services appeal to potential enrollees. Analysis of
such data will help the college identify the factors that affect en-
roliment decisions of prospective students. The second group
that the college needs to track better is alumni. More effort
needs to be made to determine the long-term effects of the Holy
Cross College experience on alumni after they leave the college.
This will help faculty and staff improve programs by identify and
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strengthening the activities that are most formative to student
learning and development.

The perception of the college’s identity among its constituents
must be determined if the college is to engage these constituents
more effectively in the future.

Holy Cross College should continue to pursue other significant
program partnerships with external constituencies. Partnerships
that hold great potential include those emanating from current
discussions, including the Diocese of Fort Wayne — South Bend,
Memorial Hospital, and local law enforcement agencies.

The college should explore the development of more space on
campus for hosting external groups. This space should include
larger meeting space, much like a conference center.
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Request for Change — Addition of a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Education

I. What is change is being proposed?

The specific change that is being proposed

Holy Cross College is proposing expanding its authority to grant
baccalaureate degrees. The college proposes the elimination of
the stipulation to its accreditation limiting baccalaureate pro-
grams to the liberal studies program. The college requests au-
thority to add a new Bachelor of Arts program in education.

The first program in education that the college proposes to de-
velop is an elementary education major with dual licensure. The
program will prepare candidates for teaching children in grades
K-6. The inclusion of the second licensure area of English as a
New Language (ENL) reflects the acknowledged need for begin-
ning teachers to be culturally competent in working with children
from all language backgrounds. The content of the program in-
cludes educational foundations, second language acquisition,
appropriate instruction and modeling in the content areas, and a
specific focus on English language learners. Specific perform-
ance competencies are tied courses and assessments. The pro-
gram will also promote recruitment of and/or development of can-
didates who are bicultural/bilingual.

Mission of the new teacher education program

The teacher education program of Holy Cross College cultivates
a faith-centered, value-oriented environment in which teacher
education candidates are prepared for lives of service through a
program grounded in the liberal arts, knowledge of teaching, and
critical school experiences. Candidates are equipped with the
knowledge, skills, and values to be empathetic and culturally
competent professionals who function as scholars, problem-
solvers, and effective decision-makers in private and public
schools.

Philosophy of the program

The theme for the new teacher education program is Compelled
to Act: Educating hearts and minds of teachers for all children.
This theme embraces a moral imperative to teach in certain
ways. It is not enough to provide technically strong teaching.
The mission of the college and the program addresses this moral
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component of compassion, justice, and selflessness.

The program attempts to educate candidates for teacher educa-
tion who see themselves as changed, profoundly different. As
the candidates become more informed, intellectually developing,
they will form their vision and values in such a way that they can
act on behalf of all children. By being educated in mind and
heart, candidates are able to foster Gospel values in secular as
well as parochial ways. Candidates have multiple opportunities
to develop their teaching skills to enhance the education of all
children. All of this preparation is done in an effort that will pro-
duce beginning teachers who are compelled to act as stewards
who will support the education of all children. This development
is ongoing and requires skilled abilities to reflect upon perform-
ance and thus grow and transform continuously.

Scope and objectives of the program

The education program, and the division of education which pro-
vides its academic home in the college, embraces the mission of
the college fully. In fact, the mission provides the foundation for
the program’s purposes in preparing teachers to transform the
lives of their future students. The teacher education program has
the following as objectives.

e to prepare competent minds and compassionate hearts of
future teachers so that they can transform the lives of their
future students

e to prepare teachers who are passionate, life-long learners
that see teaching as a vocation

e to prepare teachers who are compelled to act on behalf of all
children, especially those marginalized by society

Holy Cross College principles of teaching

The principles developed for the Holy Cross College division of
education have been developed through a conversation with fac-
ulty and key stakeholders in the South Bend, Indiana, area.
Course work, assessment expectations, and fieldwork reflect the
content and practice standards of the State of Indiana and the
National Council on the Accreditation of Teacher Education
(NCATE). The principles are organized into three domains: Pas-
sionate Teachers, Content Knowledgeable Teachers, and Re-
flective Professionals.

Passionate Teachers

Candidates view teaching as a vocation.

Candidates develop compassionate hearts for teaching.
Candidates value the cultural and linguistic backgrounds of their
students.
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Candidates embrace action on behalf of all children.

Candidates foster Gospel values in secular and parochial ways.
Candidates see themselves as teachers who serve those mar-
ginalized by society.

Candidates promote acceptance and understanding of cultural
and language diversity in the school and community.

Candidates create high and positive expectations for all learners,
including those for whom English is not their first language.
Candidates integrate the disciplines to create meaningful curricu-
lum.

Candidates provide all learners with access to learning opportu-
nities.

Content Knowledgeable Teachers

Candidates develop their minds within a liberal arts tradition.
Candidates know their content well.

Candidates understand second language acquisition and devel-
opment and can adjust instruction and assessment tools to pro-
mote interaction and learning for English language learners in
their classrooms.

Candidates create challenging and engaging curriculum for all
children.

Candidates set learning goals, create instruction, and develop a
variety of assessments for children that show command of the
subject matter and respect for students’ primary cultures.
Candidates model effective communication, writing and speaking
effectively.

Candidates use a variety of media and technology, multiple
strategies, and effective materials to engage students, including
those for whom English is not their first language.

Candidates encourage students to see, question, and interpret
ideas.

Candidates use appropriate classroom procedures.

Candidates create collaborative, supportive environments for all
children to learn.

Reflective Professionals

Candidates make effective decisions and solve problems in the
best interest of students.

Candidates see themselves as lifelong learners.

Candidates review their performance constantly to improve.
Candidates seek help from other professionals as needed.
Candidates collaborate with families and community as needed.

Experiential learning

Students in the elementary education program will begin their
experiential components in their first year. Local schools in the
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South Bend area, both Catholic and public, have been working
with Holy Cross College faculty to develop the parameters for the
various field experiences and student teaching.

In the first two years, early field experiences provide a context for
candidates to begin learning the meaning of skill performance.
Performance activities are included in each of the field experi-
ences. Candidates’ abilities to perform skills range from basic
understandings to skilled and mastery levels in student teaching.
Performance evidence is gathered from mentors in the field as
well as college instructors for each of field placement.

Candidates are asked to reflect on and assess their own per-
formances. They are provided many opportunities for self-
analysis, including observation logs, journals, and self-
evaluations. Strategies for reflection are connected to course
content. For example, candidates may be asked to keep learn-
ing logs regarding their work with a small group in reading.

In addition to the field experiences that each student in the pro-
gram will have, all teacher education majors will be required to
complete an international experience in another country in the
emerging world where there are Holy Cross communities. This
will be experienced most commonly during the junior or senior
year. The experience is an opportunity to learn about the Holy
Cross character of the college in a different cultural setting. The
impetus for this program requirement came from the extraordi-
nary success that Holy Cross College has had with its interna-
tional requirement for the liberal studies major. Student partici-
pating in the trips report life-changing encounters with the devel-
oping world. Given the cultural emphases of the teacher educa-
tion program, a similar international requirement for teacher edu-
cation majors should yield the same kinds of transformative ex-
periences for education majors.

Courses

Lifespan Development: focus on childhood development with
emphasis on children ages 5-11; observation and description of
young children and intermediate level children. (Year 1)

[With field practicum]

Transformative Teaching in a Diverse World: focus on a multi-

cultural curriculum, working with diverse families; establishing a
strong learning environment for children; historical practices of

education; multicultural education, equity education. (Year 1)

Second Language Acquisition: focus on how children develop
language and acquire second languages; basic linguistics, cul-
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tural and social implications; bilingualism, English language
learners. (Year 2)
[With field practicum]

Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment: Focus on assessment
driven practices that allow more careful analysis of student learn-
ing; multiple types of assessment; integrated and organized cur-
riculum design; instructional variety, including technology; devel-
oping a systematic approach to support student learning; and
student behavior. (Year 2)

Classroom Environments and School Communities: Focus on
working with families, school partners, community agencies; de-
veloping positive classroom environments; conflict resolution
(Year 4).

Literacy and Developmental Reading/Language Arts: focus on
language and literacy practices outside and inside school
(including disciplinary language; language variations and regis-
ters; basics of reading instruction; relationship between reading
and writing; multicultural literature. (Year 3)

[With field practicum]

Reading and Writing Assessment: focus on practices to diag-
nose reading and writing difficulties and provide interventions
and assistance to struggling students. (Year 3)

[With field practicum]

Inclusive Teaching: focus on working with students with disabili-
ties; inclusive curricular design and assessment, parent and fam-
ily engagement. (Year 2)

[With field practicum]

Kindergarten Teaching and Practicum: focus on early childhood
and kindergarten curriculum and instruction, parent and family
engagement. (Year 3)

[With field practicum]

Disciplinary Teaching: Social Sciences: focus on integrating his-
tory, geography, sociology, psychology, economics, and culture
into the curriculum (Year 3)

Disciplinary Teaching: Sciences and Mathematics: focus on in-
tegrating life science, physical science, environmental science
and mathematics into the curriculum (Year 3)

Disciplinary Teaching: Arts: focus on integrating the arts as well
as rhythm and movement into the curriculum (Year 2)
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Senior Capstone Experience: ENL classroom/aide with reading
and major paper on the experience (Year 4)
[With field practicum]

Student Teaching (Year 4)
Two placements: 1) primary classroom
2) intermediate classroom

Year 1 Lifespan Development; Transformative Teaching in
a Diverse World

Year 2 Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment; Second
Language Acquisition; Disciplinary Teaching: the
Arts; Inclusive Teaching

Year 3 Literacy and Reading; Assessing Reading and
Writing; Disciplinary Teaching: Sciences and
Mathematics; Disciplinary Teaching: Social Sci-
ences; Kindergarten teaching

Year 4 Senior Capstone in ENL; Classroom Environments
and School Communities; Student teaching at both
developmental levels

Outcomes

The proposed teacher education program has the following out-
comes that will become part of the evaluation of the program.

1. Connection between the mission of the college and the his-
torical legacy of education within the Congregation of Holy Cross
2. Enhanced institutional enrollment and fiscal stability

Learning outcomes as defined in the plan to assess student
learning

Impact
Mission

The legacy of Holy Cross College comes from the inspiration of
the founder of the Congregation of Holy Cross, Father Basil An-
thony Moreau. Influenced by Father Jacques Dujarie, the foun-
der of the Brothers of Saint Joseph, Moreau was moved in 1837
to accept direction of the Brothers and add to their membership
priests — the Salvatorists — and sisters — the Marianites. The
three groups became the Congregation of Holy Cross and were
immediately responsive to the plight of many children left home-
less after the carnage of the French Revolution. Today the
priests and brothers operate secondary schools, colleges, univer-
sities, and many other apostolates throughout the world under
the banner of the Cross and the Anchor. The mission is to edu-
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cate first the hearts and then the minds of those desiring ser-
vices.

Moreau taught that the purpose of education is to lead persons
“out of ignorance and disorder.” Moreover, the purpose of Chris-
tian education is to lead these persons back to a time before the
fall of man — back to Paradise — or “forward to completeness in
Christ.” Moreau believed that teachers must receive a call to
teach, and this call is tangent with vocation, both a religious one
and a lifestyle choice for a layperson. If not called, the teacher
will burn out because of all-consuming needs of students.

Established by the Brothers of Holy Cross in 1966, the purpose
of Holy Cross College was to provide foundational collegiate
work for members of the Brothers of Holy Cross. Within two
years of first offering courses, Holy Cross College began admit-
ting laywomen and men to the college’s academic program. This
was the response to requests from local lay people to participate
in the educational program at the college. This is the earliest evi-
dence of the institution reaching out to meet the diverse needs of
learners.

Many of those first Holy Cross Brothers who studied at the col-
lege ended up completing education degrees. The reason for
this is due to the influence of Father Moreau and the historic edu-
cational ministry of the Brothers and the Congregation of Holy
Cross. After studying at the college, brothers would go on to
earn education degrees at other colleges and universities.

Those same brothers would then end up teaching in and leading
schools sponsored by the Brothers and the Congregation. In ad-
dition, many of the lay people who came to Holy Cross College
were also bound for education degree programs. For the first
forty years of the college’s existence, teacher education became
one of the most common academic destinations for Holy Cross
College students.

The addition of teacher education at Holy Cross College is a logi-
cal curricular development for the college. There are two rea-
sons why this true. First, the legacy of service through education
by the Brothers and Congregation of Holy Cross makes a
teacher education program a natural strategy for furthering the
ministries of the Congregation. Second, throughout the college’s
history, many students have been attracted to careers in educa-
tion, in many cases because of the direct example of the Broth-
ers and other members of the Congregation. Such students dis-
covered a compatibility between the Holy Cross College mission
and curriculum and teacher education programs at other institu-
tions. For these mission-related reasons, teacher education is
quite consistent with the mission of Holy Cross College.
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In considering the addition of the teacher education program, the
Holy Cross College Board of Trustees examined how the pro-
posed program would enhance the mission of the college. In
votes of the trustees, the determination was made that a bacca-
laureate program in teacher education is consistent with the edu-
cational purposes of the college.

Educational offerings

Because of its strong connection to the ministries of the Brothers
and Congregation of Holy Cross, the proposed Bachelor of Arts
in teacher education degree completes the founding of the col-
lege. The proposed baccalaureate program complements the
liberal arts emphases in the rest of the curriculum with the focus
on developing elementary education generalists. The program
provides an academic area of frequent interest by targeting the
large percentage of Holy Cross College students who eventually
go on to receive education degrees. While the proposed pro-
gram involves the addition of education faculty in order to deliver
the major, the program will not overly tax the rest of the college
faculty. Some other disciplinary areas will provide supporting
coursework for the education program, but, where possible, such
courses will be designed so as to be available to those students
not majoring in education.

Policy relevant to this change

The proposed change falls under the commission policy on insti-
tutional change, 1.C.2.b. This policy states that “a change in edu-
cational offering” requires that institution seek approval from the
commission through an on-site visit prior to initiating the pro-
posed change.

II. What factors led Holy Cross College to undertake
the proposed change?

Relationship between the change and ongoing planning

Holy Cross College has had a continuous process of strategic
planning that has been operating for the past ten years. The
process includes trustees, faculty, staff, and students in an ongo-
ing conversation about the future of the college. This process
was used to consider the addition of baccalaureate education
beginning in the 2000-2001 academic year. The planning for the
new degree level was incorporated into the strategic planning
process of the college, and that planning led to the creation of
the liberal studies program.
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With the success that the liberal studies program has enjoyed,
faculty members began to consider new degree offerings that
would continue to develop the college as a baccalaureate institu-
tion. One of the first and most widely supported suggestions was
the creation of an education program. In 2004, the trustees en-
dorsed the exploration of a new education program, so a faculty
working group began to work on the details of a program pro-
posal. The program was considered as part of the strategic plan-
ning process during 2005, and that process was incorporated
into the college’s self-study process. The trustees authorized
that the faculty request approval from the Higher Learning Com-
mission for an expansion of baccalaureate programs at the col-
lege, and that the proposed education program receive approval
from the Commission and the State of Indiana.

Needs analysis

There were three means to determine the need for the proposed
program. First, the requirements from the State of Indiana for
planning a teacher education program mandates that the institu-
tion solicit input from community members regarding the pro-
posed program. This process helps to determine the community,
regional, and state need for the new program. Holy Cross Col-
lege hosted three different gatherings for representatives from
the community, and there emerged the consensus that the pro-
gram the college is planning fulfills a significant need.

The second avenue that Holy Cross College used for determin-
ing the need for the proposed education program was a survey of
a group of current students at the college. After the faculty plan-
ning the program created a proposed curriculum and program
outline, students in the course, Introduction to Education (EDUC
100), were surveyed about their interest in the program. Of the
twenty-two students enrolled in the two sections of the course,
fourteen expressed an interest in the pursuing education as a
major. The same fourteen asked for updates on the college’s
planning for the new program. Because this indication of student
interest was so strong in the current student population, the fac-
ulty determined that there was enough direct student interest in a
new teacher education major.

The third way that the need for the new teacher education pro-
gram was determined was through a review of information col-
lected in the admissions process. The Admissions Office collects
information on the academic interests of prospective students as
part of the college application process. An analysis of this infor-
mation indicates that there is broad interest in an education pro-
gram among prospective students.
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As the college continues planning for the education program, one
of the primary considerations for students in education will be the
availability of both elementary and secondary education pro-
grams. At this point, Holy Cross College is planning only the ele-
mentary education program, but the faculty will monitor the po-
tential for appropriate secondary education majors.

Involvement of constituencies

As required for the approval process by the State of Indiana,
Holy Cross College has made significant efforts to involve a
broad array of internal and external constituents in the planning
for the education degree. First, the staff at the Indiana Profes-
sional Standards Board, the body that oversees approval of
teacher education programs in the state and licensing of new
teachers, was consulted on the process for state approval and
the standards the college must address. Second, Holy Cross
College faculty from various academic divisions comprised a
planning group that designed the proposed program, and other
faculty not on the planning group and college trustees provided
important input into the program at multiple stages through the
planning process. Third, teacher and administrative representa-
tives from various Catholic and public schools and from central
offices served in an advisory capacity to the faculty working
group as the program was developed, offering suggestions and
comments informally and through three community meetings.
Fourth, teacher education faculty from the University of Notre
Dame and Saint Mary’s College participated in a community
meeting to offer feedback on the college’s proposed program.

The principles developed for the Holy Cross Division of Educa-
tion have been developed through a conversation with faculty
and key stakeholders in the South Bend, Indiana, area. Course
work, assessment expectations, and fieldwork reflect the Indiana
and NCATE content standards. Folded into these principles are
INTASC Standards, NCATE Elementary Education Standards,
Indiana Standards for Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
Generalist, Indiana Standards for Teachers of English as New
Language, and Indiana Standards for Teachers of Bilingual/
Bicultural Students.
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lll. What necessary approvals have been obtained to
implement the proposed change?

Internal approvals

In Fall 2004, the Academic Council, the primary vehicle for aca-
demic shared governance, considered the question of new bac-
calaureate programs. The recommendation of the council was to
explore the creation of a teacher education program at the col-
lege. At their Fall meeting that year, the Holy Cross College
Board of Trustees authorized the faculty to investigate the crea-
tion of a teacher education program as part of the institutional
self-study process for the Higher Learning Commission. At sub-
sequent meetings of the Academic Council and the trustees
throughout 2005, regular updates on the planning were pre-
sented. At the Fall 2005 Board of Trustees meeting, the board
authorized the addition of the new teacher education program.

External approvals

In addition to approval by the Higher Learning Commission, the
State of Indiana requires that Holy Cross College receive ap-
proval for its teacher education program as a requirement for of-
fering licensure to college graduates.

Indiana uses NCATE standards for teacher education programs.
The process for state approval requires that an institution serve a
three-year probationary period before full review is offered for the
teacher education programs. To be approved for probationary
status, Holy Cross College must submit a proposal that outlines
the institution’s response to “preconditions” that address institu-
tional readiness to offer education. The college submitted the
proposal to the state in May 2006. In Fall 2006, the Teacher
Education Committee of the Professional Standards Board will
consider the proposal and forward its recommendation regarding
approval of the college’s proposal to the State Superintendent.
The college should know the recommendation of the Teacher
Education Committee prior to the site visit by the team from the
Higher Learning Commission.

During the probationary period that Holy Cross College will serve
for the state, the college must collaborate with a sponsoring insti-
tution that has full program approval so that graduates will be eli-
gible for licensure. The Alliance for Catholic Education (A.C.E.)
at the University of Notre Dame, a graduate education program,
has agreed to serve as the sponsoring institution for Holy Cross
College during the three-year probationary period.
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IV. What impact might the proposed change have on
challenges identified by the Commission as part of or
subsequent to the last comprehensive visit?

Challenges related to the proposed change

In the past ten years, Holy Cross College has had two reviews by
teams from the Higher Learning Commission. The first review
was for the last comprehensive self study. That review took
place in January 1997. The second review took place in Sep-
tember 2002 as part of a focus visit to evaluate the college’s re-
guest to add baccalaureate level programs to the institution’s
Statement of Affiliation Status.

There are three concerns from the 1997 review that are related
to this proposal.

e There needs to be more governance at the college exercised
by faculty and staff. Communication needs to be improved on all
levels: between faculty, between administrators and faculty, and
between trustees and faculty.

Holy Cross College has an academic division structure in which
the faculty and the curriculum are arranged. In planning for the
education program, the college created a new academic division
for the program and any subsequent education programs. The
division of education joins the four other permanent academic
divisions of the college. The new division of education will pro-
vide faculty oversight of all education programs. As the repre-
sentative of an academic division, the chair of the division of edu-
cation will serve on the college’s Academic Council, the structure
utilized for shared governance. The division of education will
take part in planning and program review as defined by the Aca-
demic Council, and the chair of education will have input on other
academic developments at the college through review by the
council.

In planning for the new education program, an ad hoc planning
committee was appointed by the vice president for academic af-
fairs. The planning committee was composed of faculty, staff,
and others external to the college. The work of the committee
was reviewed by the Academic Council during the entire planning
process. The college’s Board of Trustees monitored the planning
process, offering review and approval as necessary.

e Enroliment growth is insufficient to produce greater economic
growth of the college.

At the time of the last comprehensive visit, Holy Cross College



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY

The evidence for
student interest in
the program
suggests that there
are a sizeable
number of
students who
would like to
pursue an
education
program.

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

had as its lone academic degree the associate of arts. When the
college began planning for the introduction of baccalaureate edu-
cation in 2000, one of the primary motives for the change was
the expectation of enhanced enroliment. The hope was that in-
corporating a base of upper-division students in the college’s en-
roliment would ease the pressure on the efforts of the college to
admit new students.

As noted in the self study, enrollment at Holy Cross College has
declined since the introduction of baccalaureate education. De-
spite this enroliment dip, there is no indication that the decline is
due to the initiation of baccalaureate education. In fact, there is
ample evidence that baccalaureate education has helped the
overall enrollment picture since its inception at the college. The
current baccalaureate program, the liberal studies program, has
had dramatic enrollment increases since its founding. Student
interest in the liberal studies program has continued to grow, and
the faculty, administration, and trustees of the college are con-
vinced that other baccalaureate programs can meet student in-
terest while furthering the mission of the college.

The proposed education program, like the liberal studies pro-
gram, will enhance the college enroliment because there will be a
fairly predictable student group that indicates an interest in con-
tinuing their baccalaureate education at the college. Education
majors will account for a number of students who can be built
automatically into enrollment projections for subsequent years,
thereby strengthening the academic planning process. This will
reduce the pressure on the college’s admission office to enroll
increasing numbers of new students in order to meet institutional
budgetary needs. The evidence for student interest in the pro-
gram suggests that there are a sizeable number of current stu-
dents who would like to pursue an education program, and the
admissions office has tracked a significant number of prospective
students who indicate an interest in completing education de-
grees.

As a product of the 2002 review of the liberal studies program,
there are three concerns that are related to this proposal.

e The college must determine how the baccalaureate program
(liberal studies) fits into the academic governance model of the
college.

Three years of working with the liberal studies program has
helped clarify ways in which the program should be incorporated
into the college’s academic governance structure. The college
has lodged oversight of the liberal studies program within the
Academic Council. This fits with how all academic programs are
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governed at the college. In the case of the liberal studies pro-
gram, this oversight by the council was especially important be-
cause of the multi-disciplinary nature of the program.

The experience with the liberal studies program has helped in-
form the planning for the education program. Like the liberal
studies program, the Academic Council will provide the means
for shared governance for the program. However, one of the
critical differences between the two programs is divisional over-
sight. Because of its multi-disciplinary character, no one aca-
demic division of the college has control for the liberal studies
program. In contrast, the education program will been overseen
by the division of education, one of the permanent academic divi-
sions of the college. The establishment of the division of educa-
tion was an important step to insure that the education program
and faculty have an academic home within the structure of the
entire curriculum. The division will maintain control over the aca-
demic standards and content of the degree, and the Academic
Council will retain authority over the program as exercised by the
entire college faculty.

¢ Program planning and fiscal constraints may be inconsistent.

The expectations for the financial impact of the liberal studies
program on Holy Cross College were proven correct. The col-
lege was able to absorb the costs of the program without any
negative consequences to the institution’s fiscal health. As pro-
jected, the liberal studies program helped the bottom line of the
college, even though overall enrollment has declined since the
addition of the program. The reason for this was the smart plan-
ning that went into designing the curriculum and utilizing faculty
resources.

The proposed teacher education program represents a signifi-
cant new investment for Holy Cross College. Prior to establish-
ing the program, the college did not have any professional edu-
cation faculty. This has necessarily changed with the addition of
the education program. The college has hired a chair of the divi-
sion of education. The chair will make recommendations to the
vice president for academic affairs on additional faculty who will
need to be hired. The expectation during the self study has been
that there will need to be one additional full-time equivalent fac-
ulty member needed for the 2006-2007 academic year. Addi-
tional faculty needs will be determined based on student interest
for the following academic year. There will be additional financial
expenditures necessary to support the education program (library
resources, materials, and so on), and the college has already
begun committing the resources to meet the needs of the pro-
gram.
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The pro forma accounting for the education program anticipates
that the level of interest of current students will make the educa-
tion program essentially a break-even financial commitment for
the college. As enrollment grows, the college will be able to take
advantage of increased revenue, not only to meet fixed program
costs, but also to contribute to the college’s overhead.

e The deliberate mixture of a four-year and a two-year culture
may be difficult to maintain.

Holy Cross College has discovered that this concern of the team
was well founded. Faculty, administration, and trustees deter-
mined early into baccalaureate education that the college cannot
have two identities. It also became clear that the institution
would be defined by its highest degree or otherwise the credibility
of that degree would suffer. With this understanding, and with an
eye on increasing enrollment, the faculty and administration of
Holy Cross College considered other programs that would further
develop the college as a baccalaureate institution.

The addition of the education program has broadened the hori-
zons of the college faculty. The faculty see that a professional
degree program can fit well with the mission of the college and its
legacy as an institution of the Congregation and Brothers of Holy
Cross. The education program itself will not provide service to
the general education curriculum of the college, but it will none-
theless occupy a distinctive place the academic life of the institu-
tion.

V. What are Holy Cross College’s plans to implement
and sustain the proposed change?

Involvement of faculty and staff necessary to support the
change

The planning for the teacher education program involved Holy
Cross College faculty from a variety of disciplinary areas. The
faculty working group that investigated the development of the
program and designed the proposed program were drawn from
the humanities, the social and behavioral sciences, and the natu-
ral sciences. The experience and institutional commitment of
these faculty were the most important elements they contributed
to the planning.

Because the college had no real internal expertise in education

to assist with the development of the program, a consultant was
hired from outside the institution to provide substantive profes-
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sional assistance in the developing the program. The consultant,
Dr. Susan Blackwell from Indiana University-Purdue University,
brought professional knowledge about the common designs of
teacher education programs and specific experience with the
standards for teacher education programs expected by the State
of Indiana. Dr. Blackwell was instrumental in helping the faculty
working group ask fundamental questions necessary for planning
a new teacher education program.

After the college submitted a proposal to the State of Indiana for
approval of preconditions for the teacher education program, the
chair for the college’s new division of education was hired to di-
rect the planning efforts. Dr. Susan Devetski joined Holy Cross
College in the Summer of 2006 to coordinate efforts to refine fur-
ther the planning that had been done for the teacher education
program. Dr. Devetski led the process of designing the proposed
courses for the major, and made recommendations regarding the
hiring of more education faculty to support the proposed pro-
gram.

Administrative structure

The education program at Holy Cross College will be adminis-
tered through the division of education, one of five academic divi-
sions of the college. The division of education will be headed by
the chair of education, who, like the other academic division
chairs of the college, will report directly to the vice president for
academic affairs. Full-time and adjunct faculty in the division of
education will report to the chair of the division. The division will
create a teacher education committee that will assist the division
chair in planning and evaluating the teacher education program.
The committee will review candidates for admission to the
teacher education and evaluate the academic progress of stu-
dents in the program. In addition, the college will consider creat-
ing a program advisory committee composed of people within the
community to offer input to the division chair about the program.
The program advisory committee would provide an important
conduit for collaboration with schools.

Learning resources and support materials
Student support services

In June 2006, Holy Cross College hired Dr. Devetski as chair of
the division of education. In addition to her efforts to develop fur-
ther the curriculum and build relationships with local schools, Dr.
Devetski will serve as academic advisor to students in the
teacher education program. As student enrollment increases in
the program, other advisors may be identified, but Dr. Devetski
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will coordinate their work.

The chair and the faculty in the division of education will monitor
how well students achieve the learning goals of the program.
Once the program begins, the faculty will review the need for
special tutoring services for education majors based on student
experiences.

Library resources

The Richard and Lucille McKenna Library on the Holy Cross Col-
lege campus has begun to establish a collection of education
holdings. These texts and other materials have been used as
background resources to the development of the new teacher
education program. These will be made available to students
and faculty through the library’s general collection. In addition,
the chair of education will begin identifying other resources nec-
essary for the education program, such as pedagogical materials
and resources that will be specific to methodology courses.

Organizational capacity

Faculty

The addition of the new Bachelor of Arts in education degree
represents a new curricular emphasis for Holy Cross College.
The college has committed to hiring an appropriate number of
education faculty for the program. The planning for the program
indicates that there needs to be two full-time equivalent (FTE)
faculty to start the program. One of the FTE will be the chair of
education who will have a teaching load of at least one course.
The other FTE will be spread out among any number of adjunct
faculty members. One of the adjunct faculty members will need
to be an expert in ENL and will probably represent a one-half
time appointment. As enrollment grows, the college will consider
making a full-time commitment to that position.

In addition to the professional faculty in the division, the educa-
tion program will require other faculty to teach supporting course
work for the program. For instance, the psychology area will pro-
vide support by teaching the course, Lifespan Development.
Also, the science and mathematics faculty will assist in the crea-
tion and delivery of the courses on teaching science and mathe-
matics. The college will need to monitor how these courses af-
fect faculty utilization in areas outside education.

Budget

Mark Mullaney, Vice President for Administration, analyzed the
impact of the proposed education program on the operational
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budget of the college. As it is currently proposed, the incre-
mental costs from the first year of offering the program are es-
sentially met by the incremental revenues generated by the pro-
gram. The majority of the fixed costs for the program are new to
the college budget, and these are predominantly personnel. The
college’s main academic building, the Vincent building, has the
additional capacity to support the program, and while the pro-
posed program will require some special materials, the college is
prepared to develop those as the faculty dictate.

Once fixed costs are borne by the college, enrollment will be the
factor that determines the ultimate budgetary impact of the edu-
cation program. Current student enrollment indicates that as
many as twelve Holy Cross College students would be interested
in pursuing an education degree immediately. Budgetary projec-
tions for the program accounted for eight students who would
stay at the college during the 2006-2007 academic year for the
purposes of ultimately pursuing education. If the enroliment in
the education program grows and generates sufficient revenue
over a couple of years, new full-time faculty can then be hired.

Example pro forma of first-year incremental revenue and costs

Revenue Amount

Tuition (annual tuition for eight new $116,000
education majors who continue at the

college)

Institutional aid (30% per student) 34,800
Net revenue for Year One $81,200
Expenses

Full-time faculty (one new full-time fac- $47,880
ulty member for the 2006-2007 aca-

demic year)

$36,000 + 33% benefits

Adjunct faculty (four new sections an- 27,957
nually and one-half full-time equivalent)

Library investment 6,000
Incremental expenses for Year One $81,837

Net contribution to institutional over-
heard by the addition of the new pro- ($637)
gram
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The financial risks of offering the education program appear to be
minimal. The most significant costs of the program are primarily
human resources. From a financial point of view, the college ex-
pects no profit from the education program for the first couple of
years of operation. After the first two years, the financial effect of
the program appears only to be positive for the college. If the
enrollment demand for the program outstrips these estimates,
additional full-time faculty hiring can take place to help cover the
divisional courses. Projections suggest that an additional six
new students in the education program would permit the college
to hire a second full-time faculty member.

There will be no real additional demands on student life and resi-
dence life that must be addressed which are specific to the edu-
cation program. The only pressures on student life and resi-
dence life will be due to an overall increase in college enroliment.
In such cases, the pressure for new or expanded services (such
as additional support services) can be addressed by the revenue
generated by increased enrollment.

Timeline

Some of the courses for the education program have been ap-
proved to be offered in the 2006-2007 academic year (Lifespan
Development, Transformative Teaching in a Diverse World). If
the Commission approves the addition of the Bachelor of Arts
degree, students will be admitted to the program beginning in
2007.

Site team from the Higher
Learning Commission re-
views the proposal for the ad-
dition of the new bachelor of
arts degree in education.

December Pending endorsement of the

new degree program by the
site team, begin recruiting
students for the new major
program.

January through February Based on indications of stu-

dent majors, identify potential
adjunct faculty needs for the
division.

Finalize education course
schedule for the Fall Semes-
ter of 2007.
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In addition, the teacher education program must document stu-
dent proficiencies as they are aligned with INTASC and Indiana
standards required for licensure of graduates. The standards are
as follows.

VI. What are Holy Cross College’s strategies to evalu-
ate the proposed change?

The measures to document the achievement of outcomes

Course work, assessment expectations, and fieldwork reflect the
Indiana and NCATE content standards. Folded into these princi-
ples are the following.

* INTASC Standards

* NCATE Elementary Education Standards

* Indiana Standards for Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
Generalist

* Indiana Standards for Teachers of English as New Language

* Indiana Standards for Teachers of Bilingual/Bicultural Students

The evaluation of the teacher education program will address the
expected outcomes of the program and involve many constitu-

Groups responsible Methods Timeline

for evaluation

Outcome

Connection between
the mission of the
college and the his-
torical legacy of edu-
cation within the Con-
gregation of Holy
Cross

* Administrative Coun-
cil

» Academic Council

« Education faculty

* Survey of the fac-
ulty and students

» The surveys of
faculty and stu-
dents will be con-
ducted as part of
the yearly divisional
report

Enhanced institu-
tional enrollment and
fiscal stability

* Administrative Coun-
cil

* Analysis of
enroliment reports
and institutional
audits

* Enroliment reports
will be analyzed
each year following
the beginning of
each academic
year.

* Institutional audits
will be analyzed
each October.
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(Evaluation grid con-
tinued.)

Groups responsible
for evaluation

Methods

Timeline

Outcome

Learning outcomes as
defined in the plan to
assess student learn-

ing

» Education chair

« Director of assess-
ment

» Academic Council
» Education faculty

* Analysis of stu-
dent portfolios
« Survey of alumni

* The baccalaureate
advisory committee
will analyze the
yearly program re-
port (including the
summative assess-
ment of learning)
from the program
director each June.
* The Academic
Council will analyze
the yearly divisional
report.

 The survey of
alumni will begin six
years after the inau-
guration of the pro-

gram.
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In addition, the teacher education program must document stu-
dent proficiencies as they are aligned with INTASC and Indiana
standards required for licensure of graduates. The standards are

as follows.

Elementary Generalist with English as a new Lanquage

INTASC Standards/Indiana Standards for
Early and Middle Childhood Teachers/
Indiana ENL Standards

Holy Cross Proficiencies for Dual Li-
cense: Elementary Generalist and ENL

INTASC 1: Content Pedagogy

The teacher understands the central con-
cepts, tools of inquiry, and structures of the
discipline he or she teaches and can create
learning experiences that make these as-
pects of subject matter meaningful for stu-
dents.

Early and Middle Childhood 2: Curriculum
(Mathematics, English/Language Arts, Sci-
ence, Social Studies, Fine Arts, Health Edu-
cation, Physical Education, Connections be-
tween Technology and the Disciplines*

ENL 1. Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage understand the process of language
acquisition and development and the role this
process plays in their students’ educational
experience.

ENL 2: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage recognize that the students’ primary
culture plays a crucial role in their adaptation
to United States culture

e Candidates develop their minds within a
liberal arts tradition

e Candidates know their content well

e Candidates understand second language
acquisition and development and can ad-
just instruction and assessment tools to
promote interaction and learning for Eng-
lish language learners in their classrooms

e Candidates integrate the disciplines to
create meaningful curriculum

INTASC 2: Student Development

The teacher understands how children learn
and develop, and can provide learning oppor-
tunities that support a child’s intellectual, so-
cial, and personal development.

Early and Middle Childhood 1: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood know, under-
stand, and use the major concepts, princi-
ples, theories, and research related to the
development of children and young adoles-
cents to construct learning opportunities, that
support individual students’ development,
acquisition of knowledge, and motivation.
ENL 3: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage understand students’ cognitive, affec-
tive, psychological, social and cultural devel-
opment and backgrounds

o Candidates foster Gospel values in secu-
lar and parochial ways

e Candidates provide all learners with ac-
cess to learning opportunities
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INTASC 3: Diverse Learners

The teacher understands how students differ
in their approaches to learning and creates
instructional opportunities that are adapted to
diverse learners.

Early and Middle Childhood 3a: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood understand
how elementary (primary and intermediate)
students differ in their development and ap-
proaches to learning, and create instructional
opportunities that are adapted to diverse
learners.

Candidates develop compassionate
hearts for teaching

Candidates value the cultural and linguis-
tic backgrounds of their students

Candidates embrace action on behalf of
all children

Candidates see themselves as teachers
who serve those marginalized by society

INTASC 4: Multiple Instructional Strate-
gies The teacher understands and uses a
variety of instructional strategies to encour-
age student development of critical thinking,
problem solving, and performance skills.
Early and Middle Childhood 3b: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood understand
and use a variety of teaching strategies that
encourage elementary (primary and interme-
diate) students’ development of critical think-
ing, problem solving, and performance skills.
ENL 4: Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage understand how to facilitate instruction
by creating a supportive environment and
implementing the appropriate activities that
promote optimal learning for English lan-
guage learners.

Candidates set learning goals, create in-
struction and develop a variety of assess-
ments for children that show command of
the subject matter and respect for stu-
dents’ primary cultures

Candidates create challenging and en-
gaging curriculum for all children

Candidates use a variety of media and
technology, multiple strategies, and effec-
tive materials to engage students, includ-
ing those for whom English is not their
first language

Candidates encourage students to see,
question, and interpret ideas

INTASC 5: Motivation and Management
The teacher uses an understanding of indi-
vidual and group motivation and behavior to
create a learning environment that encour-
ages positive social interaction, active en-
gagement in learning, and self motivation.
Early and Middle Childhood 3c: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood use their
knowledge and understanding of individual
and group motivation and behavior among
students to foster active engagement in
learning, self-motivation, and positive social
interaction and to create supportive learning
environments.

ENL 4: Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage understand how to facilitate instruction
by creating a supportive environment and
implementing the appropriate activities that
promote optimal learning for English lan-
guage learners.

Candidates use appropriate classroom
procedures

Candidates create collaborative, suppor-
tive environments for all children to learn
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INTASC 6: Communication and Technol-
ogy

The teacher uses knowledge of effective ver-
bal, nonverbal, and media communication
techniques to foster active inquiry, collabora-
tion, and supportive interaction in the class-
room.

Early and Middle Childhood 3d: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood use their
knowledge and understanding of effective
verbal, nonverbal, and media communication
techniques to foster active inquiry, collabora-
tion, and supportive interaction in the ele-
mentary (primary and intermediate) class-
room.

Candidates model effective communica-
tion, writing and speaking effectively, us-
ing technology effectively

INTASC 7: Planning

The teacher plans instruction based upon
knowledge of subject matter, students, the
community, and curriculum goals.

Early and Middle Childhood 3: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood plan and im-
plement instruction based on knowledge of
students, learning theory, subject matter, cur-
ricular goals, and community

Candidates create high and positive ex-
pectations for all learners, including those
for whom English is not their first lan-
guage

INTASC 8: Assessment

The teacher understands and uses formal
and informal assessment strategies to evalu-
ate and ensure the continuous intellectual,
social, and physical development of the
learner.

Early and Middle Childhood 4: Teachers of
Early and Middle Childhood know, under-
stand, and use formal and informal assess-
ment strategies to evaluate and ensure the
continuous intellectual, social, and physical
development of each elementary (primary
and intermediate) student.

ENL 6: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage are able to effectively use formal and
informal assessment strategies that include
methods to promote the development of the
learner.

Candidates set learning goals, create in-
struction and develop a variety of assess-
ments for children that show command of
the subject matter and respect for stu-
dents’ primary cultures
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INTASC 9: Reflective Practice: Profes-
sional Growth

The teacher is a reflective practitioner who
continually evaluates the effects of his or her
choices and actions on others (students, par-
ents, and other professionals in the learning
community) and who actively seeks out op-
portunities to grow professionally.

Early and Middle Childhood 5a: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood are aware of
and reflect on their practice in light of re-
search on teaching and resources available
for professional learning; they continually
evaluate the effects of their professional de-
cisions and actions on students, parents, and
other professionals in the learning commu-
nity and actively seek out opportunities to
grow professionally.

ENL 7. Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage are reflective practitioners who ac-
tively seek opportunities for professional de-
velopment.

Candidates see themselves as lifelong
learners

Candidates view teaching as a vocation
Candidates make effective decisions and
solve problems in the best interest of stu-

dents

Candidates review their performance con-
stantly to improve

Candidates seek help from other profes-
sionals as needed

INTASC 10: School and Community In-
volvement

The teacher fosters relationships with school
colleagues, parents, and agencies in the lar-
ger community to support students' learning
and well-being.

Early and Middle Childhood 5b: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood know the im-
portance of establishing and maintaining a
positive and collaborative relationship with
families to promote the academic, social, and
emotional growth of children.

Early and Middle Childhood 5c: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood foster relation-
ships with school colleagues and agencies in
the larger community to support students’
learning and well-being.

ENL 5: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage collaborate effectively to maximize
student learning

ENL 8: Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage promote acceptance and understand-
ing of cultural and language diversity in the
community and in the school.

Candidates promote acceptance and un-
derstanding of cultural and language di-
versity in the school and community

Candidates seek help from other profes-
sionals as needed

Candidates collaborate with families and
community as needed
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2a: Mathematics: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
know, understand, and use major concepts, procedures, and
reasoning processes of mathematics that define number sys-
tems and number sense, geometry, measurement, statistics
and probability, and algebra in order to foster student under-
standing and use of patterns, quantities, and spatial relation-
ships that can represent phenomena, solve problems, and
deal with data.

2b: English/Language Arts: Teachers of Early and Middle
Childhood demonstrate a high competence in the use of Eng-
lish language arts and they know, understand, and use con-
cepts from reading, language, and child development, to
teach reading, writing, speaking, listening, and thinking skills
and to help students successfully apply their developing skills
to many different situations, materials, and ideas. They teach
children to read with a balanced instructional program that
includes an emphasis on the use of letter/sound relationships
(phonics), the context (semantic and syntactic), and meaning-
ful text.

2c: Science: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use the fundamental concepts in the subject
matter of science, including physical, life, and earth and sci-
ence as well as concepts in science and technology, science
in personal and social perspectives, the history and nature of
science, the unifying concepts of science, and the inquiry
processes scientists use in discovery of new knowledge to
build a base for scientific literacy.

2d: Social Studies: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
know, understand, and use the major concepts and modes of
inquiry from the social studies — the integrated study of his-
tory, geography, the social sciences (such as anthropology,
archeology, economics, political science, psychology, and
sociology), and other related areas (such as humanities, law,
philosophy, religion, mathematics, science, and technology) —
to promote elementary (primary and intermediate) students’
abilities to make informed decisions as citizens of a culturally
diverse democratic society and interdependent world.

2e: Fine Arts: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use — as appropriate to their own under-
standing and skills—the content, functions, and achieve-
ments of dance, music, theater, and several visual arts as
primary media for communication, inquiry, and insight among
elementary (primary and intermediate) students.

2f: Health: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use the comprehensive nature of students’
physical, mental, and social well-being to create opportunities
for student development and practice of skills that contribute
to good health.

2g: Physical Education: Teachers of Early and Middle Child-
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hood know, understand, and use — as appropriate to their un-
derstanding and skills — human movement and physical activ-
ity as central elements to foster active, healthy life styles and
enhanced quality of life for elementary (primary and interme-
diate) students.

e 2h: Connections between Technology and the Disciplines:
Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know, understand,
and use the connections among concepts, procedures, and
apOplkications from content areas to motivate elementary
(primary and intermediate) students, build understanding, and
encourage the application of knowledge, skills and ideas to
real world issues.

Elementary Generalist/English as a New Language/Bilingual Bi-

cultural Program

INTASC Standards/Indiana Standards for
Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood/
Indiana ENL Standards/Indiana Bilingual
Bicultural Standards

Holy Cross Proficiencies for Multiple Li-
cense: Elementary Generalist /ENL/
Bilingual and Bicultural

INTASC 1: Content Pedagogy

The teacher understands the central con-
cepts, tools of inquiry, and structures of the
discipline he or she teaches and can create
learning experiences that make these as-
pects of subject matter meaningful for stu-
dents.

Early and Middle Childhood 2: Curriculum
(Mathematics, English/Language Arts, Sci-
ence, Social Studies, Fine Arts, Health Edu-
cation, Physical Education, Connections be-
tween Technology and the Disciplines*

ENL 1: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage understand the process of language
acquisition and development and the role this
process plays in their students’ educational
experience.

ENL 2. Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage recognize that the students’ primary
culture plays a crucial role in their adaptation
to United States culture

Bilingual/Bicultural 1: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students are fluent in two or more
languages and understand the processes of
language and literacy development and the
role they play in students’ educational experi-
ences and learning

e Candidates develop their minds within a
liberal arts tradition

e Candidates know their content well

o Candidates understand second lan-
guage acquisition and development and
can adjust instruction and assessment
tools to promote interaction and learning
for English language learners in their
classrooms

o Candidates integrate the disciplines to
create meaningful curriculum
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INTASC 2: Student Development

The teacher understands how children learn
and develop, and can provide learning oppor-
tunities that support a child’s intellectual, so-
cial, and personal development.

Early and Middle Childhood 1: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood know, under-
stand, and use the major concepts, princi-
ples, theories, and research related to the
development of children and young adoles-
cents to construct learning opportunities, that
support individual students’ development,
acquisition of knowledge, and motivation.
ENL 3: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage understand students’ cognitive, affec-
tive, psychological, social and cultural devel-
opment and backgrounds.

Early and Middle Childhood 3a: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood understand
how elementary (primary and intermediate)
students differ in their development and ap-
proaches to learning, and create instructional
opportunities that are adapted to diverse
learners.

Bilingual Bicultural 3: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students understand students’ cog-
nitive, affective, psychological, social and cul-
tural development and backgrounds to create
a supportive learning environment.

Candidates foster Gospel values in secu-
lar and parochial ways

Candidates provide all learners with ac-
cess to learning opportunities

INTASC 3: Diverse Learners

The teacher understands how students differ
in their approaches to learning and creates
instructional opportunities that are adapted to
diverse learners.

Early and Middle Childhood 3b: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood understand
and use a variety of teaching strategies that
encourage elementary (primary and interme-
diate) students’ development of critical think-
ing, problem solving, and performance skills
Bilingual Bicultural 2: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students have cultural competen-
cies in two or more cultures and understand
the assistive role these competencies play in
a student’s cultural adaptation, educational
experiences, and learning

Candidates develop compassionate
hearts for teaching

Candidates value the cultural and linguis-
tic backgrounds of their students

Candidates embrace action on behalf of
all children

Candidates see themselves as teachers
who serve those marginalized by society
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INTASC 4: Multiple Instructional Strate-
gies

The teacher understands and uses a variety
of instructional strategies to encourage stu-
dent development of critical thinking, problem
solving, and performance skills.

Early and Middle Childhood 3b: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood understand
and use a variety of teaching strategies that
encourage elementary (primary and interme-
diate) students’ development of critical think-
ing, problem solving, and performance skills.
ENL 4. Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage understand how to facilitate instruction
by creating a supportive environment and
implementing the appropriate activities that
promote optimal learning for English lan-
guage learners.

Bilingual Bicultural 4. Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students understand instructional
strategies and methods that promote optimal
learning

Candidates set learning goals, create in-
struction and develop a variety of assess-
ments for children that show command of
the subject matter and respect for stu-
dents’ primary cultures

Candidates create challenging and en-
gaging curriculum for all children

Candidates use a variety of media and
technology, multiple strategies, and effec-
tive materials to engage students, includ-
ing those for whom English is not their
first language

Candidates encourage students to see,
question, and interpret ideas

INTASC 5: Motivation and Management
The teacher uses an understanding of indi-
vidual and group motivation and behavior to
create a learning environment that encour-
ages positive social interaction, active en-
gagement in learning, and self motivation.
Early and Middle Childhood 3c: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood use their
knowledge and understanding of individual
and group motivation and behavior among
students to foster active engagement in
learning, self-motivation, and positive social
interaction and to create supportive learning
environments.

ENL 4: Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage understand how to facilitate instruction
by creating a supportive environment and
implementing the appropriate activities that
promote optimal learning for English lan-
guage learners.

Candidates use appropriate classroom
procedures

Candidates create collaborative, suppor-
tive environments for all children to learn
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INTASC 6: Communication and Technol-
ogy

The teacher uses knowledge of effective ver-
bal, nonverbal, and media communication
techniques to foster active inquiry, collabora-
tion, and supportive interaction in the class-
room.

Early and Middle Childhood 3d: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood use their
knowledge and understanding of effective ver-
bal, nonverbal, and media communication
techniques to foster active inquiry, collabora-
tion, and supportive interaction in the elemen-
tary (primary and intermediate) classroom.
Bilingual Bicultural 8: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students are cross-cultural commu-
nicators who promote acceptance and under-
standing of culture and language diversity in
the home, the community, and in the school

Candidates model effective communica-
tion, writing and speaking effectively,
using technology effectively

INTASC 7: Planning

The teacher plans instruction based upon
knowledge of subject matter, students, the
community, and curriculum goals.

Early and Middle Childhood 3: Teachers of
Early and Middle Childhood plan and imple-
ment instruction based on knowledge of stu-
dents, learning theory, subject matter, curricu-
lar goals, and community

Candidates create high and positive ex-
pectations for all learners, including
those for whom English is not their first
language

INTASC 8: Assessment

The teacher understands and uses formal and
informal assessment strategies to evaluate
and ensure the continuous intellectual, social,
and physical development of the learner.
Early and Middle Childhood 4: Teachers of
Early and Middle Childhood know, under-
stand, and use formal and informal assess-
ment strategies to evaluate and ensure the
continuous intellectual, social, and physical
development of each elementary (primary and
intermediate) student.

ENL 6: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage are able to effectively use formal and
informal assessment strategies that include
methods to promote the development of the
learner.

Candidates set learning goals, create
instruction and develop a variety of as-
sessments for children that show com-
mand of the subject matter and respect
for students’ primary cultures
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Bilingual Bicultural 6: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students are able to effectively use
formal and informal methods of assessment
that may include native language assess-
ment, to evaluate learners

INTASC 9: Reflective Practice: Profes-
sional Growth

The teacher is a reflective practitioner who
continually evaluates the effects of his or her
choices and actions on others (students, par-
ents, and other professionals in the learning
community) and who actively seeks out op-
portunities to grow professionally.

Early and Middle Childhood 5a: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood are aware of
and reflect on their practice in light of re-
search on teaching and resources available
for professional learning; they continually
evaluate the effects of their professional deci-
sions and actions on students, parents, and
other professionals in the learning community
and actively seek out opportunities to grow
professionally.

ENL 7: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage are reflective practitioners who ac-
tively seek opportunities for professional de-
velopment.

Bilingual Bicultural 7: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students are reflective practitioners
who actively seek opportunities for profes-
sional development

Candidates see themselves as lifelong
learners

Candidates view teaching as a vocation
Candidates make effective decisions and
solve problems in the best interest of stu-

dents

Candidates review their performance
constantly to improve

Candidates seek help from other profes-
sionals as needed

INTASC 10: School and Community In-
volvement

The teacher fosters relationships with school
colleagues, parents, and agencies in the lar-
ger community to support students' learning
and well-being.

Early and Middle Childhood 5b: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood know the im-
portance of establishing and maintaining a
positive and collaborative relationship with
families to promote the academic, social, and
emotional growth of children.

Early and Middle Childhood 5c: Teachers
of Early and Middle Childhood foster relation-
ships with school colleagues and agencies in
the larger community to support students’
learning and well-being.

Candidates promote acceptance and un-
derstanding of cultural and language di-
versity in the school and community

Candidates seek help from other profes-
sionals as needed

Candidates collaborate with families and
community as needed
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ENL 5: Teachers of English as a New Lan-
guage collaborate effectively to maximize stu-

dent learning

ENL 8: Teachers of English as New Lan-
guage promote acceptance and understand-
ing of cultural and language diversity in the
community and in the school.

Bilingual Bicultural 5: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students collaborate effectively with
ENL/ESL and content area teachers and oth-
ers within the school community to maximize
student learning through the use of the stu-
dents’ primary language and culture.
Bilingual Bicultural 8: Teachers of bilingual
bicultural students are cross-cultural commu-
nicators who promote acceptance and under-
standing of culture and language diversity in
the home, the community, and in the school
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2a: Mathematics: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
know, understand, and use major concepts, procedures, and
reasoning processes of mathematics that define number sys-
tems and number sense, geometry, measurement, statistics
and probability, and algebra in order to foster student under-
standing and use of patterns, quantities, and spatial relation-
ships that can represent phenomena, solve problems, and
deal with data.

2b: English/Language Arts: Teachers of Early and Middle
Childhood demonstrate a high competence in the use of
English language arts and they know, understand, and use
concepts from reading, language, and child development, to
teach reading, writing, speaking, listening, and thinking skills
and to help students successfully apply their developing
skills to many different situations, materials, and ideas. They
teach children to read with a balanced instructional program
that includes an emphasis on the use of letter/sound relation-
ships (phonics), the context (semantic and syntactic), and
meaningful text.

2c: Science: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use the fundamental concepts in the subject
matter of science, including physical, life, and earth and sci-
ence as well as concepts in science and technology, science
in personal and social perspectives, the history and nature of
science, the unifying concepts of science, and the inquiry
processes scientists use in discovery of new knowledge to
build a base for scientific literacy.

2d: Social Studies: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood
know, understand, and use the major concepts and modes
of inquiry from the social studies — the integrated study of
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history, geography, the social sciences (such as anthropol-
ogy, archeology, economics, political science, psychology,
and sociology), and other related areas (such as humanities,
law, philosophy, religion, mathematics, science, and technol-
ogy) — to promote elementary (primary and intermediate) stu-
dents’ abilities to make informed decisions as citizens of a
culturally diverse democratic society and interdependent
world.

e 2e: Fine Arts: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use — as appropriate to their own under-
standing and skills—the content, functions, and achieve-
ments of dance, music, theater, and several visual arts as
primary media for communication, inquiry, and insight among
elementary (primary and intermediate) students.

e 2f. Health: Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know,
understand, and use the comprehensive nature of students’
physical, mental, and social well-being to create opportunities
for student development and practice of skills that contribute
to good health.

e 2g: Physical Education: Teachers of Early and Middle Child-
hood know, understand, and use — as appropriate to their un-
derstanding and skills — human movement and physical activ-
ity as central elements to foster active, healthy life styles and
enhanced quality of life for elementary (primary and interme-
diate) students.

e 2h: Connections between Technology and the Disciplines:
Teachers of Early and Middle Childhood know, understand,
and use the connections among concepts, procedures, and
applications from content areas to motivate elementary
(primary and intermediate) students, build understanding, and
encourage the application of knowledge, skills and ideas to
real world issues.

Evaluation Methods

The candidate assessment plan includes standardized meas-
ures, traditional evaluations, and alternative and performance
assessments. The following is a sampling of what Holy Cross
intends to use.

e Standardized: Candidates will take the ACT or SAT to enter
the college. Prior to admission into the program, candidates
must pass PRAXIS I; Candidates must also pass PRAXIS I
tests required by Indiana for licensing in Elementary Educa-
tion and English as a New Language. Cut scores are deter-
mined by Indiana.

e Traditional: Course grades will be determined by teacher
made tests and quizzes; GPA is included in candidate as-
sessment; student teaching evaluation tool;
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o Alternative and Performance: the unit has established a vari-
ety of alternative assessments and performance assess-
ments, most notably the following:

0 Mentor ratings in practica,

0 Projects conducted in schools;

0 Interviews with teacher education committee mem-
bers;

0 Portfolios submitted to teacher education committee
members and program faculty;

0 Case studies of children with whom candidates work
in classrooms;

0 Senior capstone thesis, at this time to be an action
research project.

How the assessment of student learning is integrated into
the institution’s assessment program

Assessment of general education

Holy Cross College has an assessment program for general edu-
cation. All education majors will need to complete the general
education requirements as outlined for the college. In addition,
the education program will have an extensive program for as-
sessing student learning.

The assessment plan for the general education program is
guided by the transferable skills of the Holy Cross College cur-
riculum. The transferable skills focus the curriculum on nine ar-
eas of student learning that are common to liberal arts curricula
in higher education. These skills are the following.

critical thinking

creative thinking

writing

oral communication

library and information literacy
guantitative reasoning

reading

religious, moral, and social development
technological skills

The transferable skills are incorporated in each course of the
general education curriculum and are articulated to varying levels
of attainment depending on the course in question.

A major hallmark of the assessment plan for the teacher educa-
tion program is the learner-centered teaching and assessment
practices that the Holy Cross College faculty have been consid-
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ering for several years. The college’s director of assessment and
the director of faculty development have assisted the faculty in
adopting learner-centered approaches in their individual courses
and in their disciplinary curricula. One way in doing so is that
eight identifiers of learner-centered teaching and assessment
were presented to the faculty, identifiers that seem to fit the pro-
gram'’s goals and the transferable skills of the curriculum.

1. Learners are actively involved and receive feedback.

2. Learners apply knowledge to enduring and emerging issues
and problems.

3. Learners integrate discipline-based knowledge and general
skills.

4. Learners understand the characteristics of excellent work.

5. Learners become increasingly sophisticated learners and
knowers.

6. Professors coach and facilitate, intertwining teaching and as-
sessing.

7. Professors reveal that they are learners, too.

8. Learning is interpersonal, and all learners—students and fac-
ulty and staff—are respected and valued.

Assessment of the major
Candidates in the initial teacher education program pass through

four transition points. The following table illustrates the assess-
ments that are used at those transition points

Transition Point

Evidence of Competency

Transition Point 1: Admission Pass PRAXIS |
Occurs at the beginning of the second GPA of 2.5 minimum overall
year Minimum grade C in

English Composition

Speech

Math

Science
Interview
Writing sample or portfolio
Essay to assess dispositions
Philosophy of teaching statement
Early field practicum evaluations

Transition Point 2: Continuing Progress 2.5 GPA in major
Occurs at the end of the second year 2.5 GPA overall

Work Sample Portfolio

Practicum teacher recommendations
Sample unit and lesson plans

Sample student assessments created by
the candidate

PAGE 141




HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

Transition Point 3: Admission to Student
Teaching
Occurs at the end of the third year

2.5 GPA in major

2.5 GPA overall

Document submission for student teaching
application

Resume

Revised philosophy of teaching statement
Student teaching goal statement

Sample lesson plan and student assessment

Transition Point 4: Program Completion
Occurs at the end of student teaching and
program completion

2.5 GPA in major

2.5 GPA overall

Capstone Experience (Action Research)
Student teaching evaluations

Pass PRAXIS II

Narrative to explain the Unit Assessment System

The Teacher Education Committee (TEC) of the college’s divi-
sion of education will assume responsibility for managing this
system of candidate assessment. Faculty from the college and
division of education, as well as practitioners, will participate in
reviewing the candidates’ qualifications for entering the program,
continuing in the program, and completing the program success-
fully. Given that the candidate assessment will be based on
looking at developing competencies in the candidates as they
progress through the program, the assessments are tied to the

courses.

Course Sequence

Year 1 Child Development; Teaching in a Diverse World

Year 2 Curriculum, Instruction and Assessment; Second Language Acquisition;
Disciplinary Teaching: the Arts; Inclusive Teaching

Year 3 Literacy and Reading; Assessing Reading and Writing; Disciplinary Teach-
ing: Sciences and Mathematics; Disciplinary Teaching: Social Sciences

Year 4 Senior Capstone in ENL; Classroom Environments and School Communi-
ties; Student teaching at both developmental levels

Transition Point 1: Candidates who desire to enter the teacher
education program will be asked to submit a brief portfolio of
items for review by the TEC at the beginning of the second year.
Rubrics to assess candidates’ oral language and written lan-
guage abilities will be used. Candidates will be expected to
demonstrate commitment to the Principles of Teacher Educa-
tion, especially in terms of child development issues and diver-

[ PAGE 142




HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

sity issues. They will be reviewed for GPA minimums and ade-
quate PRAXIS scores.

Transition Point 2: Candidates will be asked to submit a portfolio
for review after completing their second year in the program.
This review will occur after candidates have completed courses
in second language acquisition, inclusive teaching, basic curricu-
lar design, and integrating the arts. Candidates will submit work
samples from their courses with reflections connecting their
learning to the appropriate Principles of Teacher Education.

Transition Point 3;: Candidates will be asked to submit a portfolio
for review after completing their third year in the program. This
review by the TEC will include lesson plans developed through-
out their methods courses as evidence of their ability to teach
content to children at different developmental levels, including
kindergarten. It will also include reflections that assess their
strengths and weaknesses as evidenced by practicum evalua-
tions and their own ongoing self assessment.

Transition Point 4: Candidates will submit a research paper on
working in the ENL setting as part of their capstone experience.
This paper will be read by the course instructor and another fac-
ulty member so it has two reviews. Additionally, the Teacher
Education Committee will review the student teaching evalua-
tions of the candidates for final approval for a licensing recom-
mendation.
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Request for Change — Addition of a Bachelor of Arts
Degree in Theology

I. What is change is being proposed?
The specific change that is being proposed

Holy Cross College is proposing expanding its authority to grant
baccalaureate degrees. The college proposes the elimination of
the stipulation to its accreditation limiting baccalaureate pro-
grams to the liberal studies program. The college requests au-
thority to add a new Bachelor of Arts program in theology.

State of the current program

From its founding, Holy Cross College has offered a theology
curriculum accessible to all students. The theology faculty and
curriculum have enjoyed an excellent reputation, and many stu-
dents who have studied theology at the college have gone on to
earn formal theology degrees at other institutions.

Currently, the theology curriculum fulfills two purposes. One is to
perpetuate the Catholic identity of Holy Cross College by provid-
ing an intellectual and disciplinary framework for the exploration
of the Catholic faith. The other purpose is to serve students as
part of the college’s general education and liberal studies curric-
ula. For the latter purpose, the theology curriculum offers
courses to meet the six-credit general education requirement for
all degree-seeking students, and offers twelve credits required
within the liberal studies major. In addition to the required theol-
ogy courses for the liberal studies major, students in the liberal
studies program are given the opportunity to complete an op-
tional academic concentration in theology by completing a num-
ber of elective courses in theology.

Philosophy of the proposed program

Catholic colleges and universities have a special and ancient
purpose. They exist to promote the intellectual, spiritual, social,
and physical development of their students, all within the forma-
tive influence of the faith of the Church. For centuries, the study
of theology has been called, “faith seeking understanding.” In
many ways, the study of theology was responsible for the mod-
ern university, because the development of the modern university
grew out of the Church’s commitment to learning. It was clear to
Church thinkers in the Middle Ages that sound theological stud-
ies must go hand-in-hand with strong liberal education. This
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A theology
program for a
Catholic institution
represents the
formal and real
intersection
between faith and
reason.
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view led to the development of great Catholic colleges and uni-
versities that were dedicated to excellence in theology and the
arts and sciences, a legacy that continues to this day.

A theology program is a very important program for a Catholic
institution. It represents the formal and real intersection between
faith and reason. The proposed theology program at Holy Cross
College is a rigorous intellectual program that is intended to bol-
ster the faith of the students in the program. That does not mean
that only Catholic students can pursue the degree. Through a
systematic inquiry into theology from a Catholic perspective, an
authentically Catholic theology program will challenge students to
be faithful, irrespective of their own religious backgrounds.

Students to be served by the proposed program

The theology program is intended for three types of students.
One type of student is those pursuing the theology degree for the
purposes of further graduate study in theology. A second type of
student is those planning to use the degree for work within the
Church, whether at the diocesan level, in parishes, or in schools.
The third type of student is those who are seeking a liberal arts
degree that has a strong faith orientation. With these three
groups in mind, the theology program has been designed to meet
the diverse needs of students who will enroll in the program.

Degree requirements

For the Bachelor of Arts degree in theology, the following degree
requirements will be in effect.

One hundred twenty-three (123) total academic credit hours

Sixty (60) credits of general education approximating the col-
lege’s associate of arts degree requirements. This includes three
(3) credits of a foundational theology course and the distribution
requirements among the three other academic divisions that pro-
vide general education service courses.

Thirty-nine credits (39) of theology (required and elective)
Three (3) credits of an international experience (currently,
Ghana, Peru, or Rome, with Bangladesh scheduled to be added

starting in the 2006-2007 academic year)

Twenty-one (21) hours of electives distributed in any way the stu-
dent chooses
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Courses

The following list of courses comprises the theology curriculum.
All theology courses are three semester credits.

THEO 140 - Introduction to Theology — examines key themes in
Catholic religious thought

THEO 210 — Introduction to Scripture — examines the Bible as
the Word of God written in the language of human beings

THEO 220 — Church History — studies the history of the Church
from its origin to the present

THEO 240 — Theological Anthropology — studies our relationship
as humans to God as revealed in Divine Revelation

THEO 241 — The Church — examines the teachings of the Sec-
ond Vatican Council on the Church and the development of ec-
clesiology in the New Testament and in the writings of Patristic,
Medieval, and post-Tridentine theologians

THEO 250 — Introduction to Moral Theology — examines moral
teaching in the Catholic tradition by investigation the formation of
conscience and the role of the Church, family, and community in
the moral life

THEO 280 — Directed Readings in Theology — an opportunity for
independent study for students with special program needs

THEO 290 — Seminar — one of a sequence of courses to intro-
duce a variety of theological disciplines and topics

THEO 310 — Old Testament — examines the development of the
literature of the Old Testament

THEO 311 — New Testament — examines the development of the
literature of the New Testament

THEO 321 — American Church History — explores the historical,
religious, cultural, and social dynamics that have shaped Catholic
identity in the USA

THEO 325 — Rome Through the Ages — investigates several as-
pects of Rome’s ancient, medieval, and modern culture with at-
tention to the city’s secular and religious history and its artistic
tradition and heritage
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THEO 330 — Sacraments — analyzes the Seven Sacraments from
the New Testament era to the present age

THEO 340 — Christ and the Trinity — examines the way Christol-
ogy has sought to understand the mystery of Jesus and his rela-
tionship to the Father and the Holy Spirit, and to the Church and
the world

THEO 341 — Christ, the Church, and the Modern World — utilizes
the three principal documents of the Second Vatican Council to
examine the Church as the people of God called to continue the
mission of Jesus

THEO 351 — Catholic Social Teaching — examines the key
themes of Catholic social teaching within the context of contem-
porary issues

THEO 360 — World Religions — studies universal religions for be-
liefs and practices

THEO 380 — Directed Readings in Theology - an opportunity for
independent study for students with special program needs

THEO 390 — Through Eyes of Faith: International Learning Ex-
perience — a three-week experience in a country in which the
Congregation of Holy Cross has ministries

THEO 420 — Second Vatican Council — explores the history and
theology of the Second Vatican Council

THEO 430 — Eucharist — examines the historical development of
the theology of, celebration of, and devotion to the Eucharist

THEO 441 — The Christian Vocation in the Twenty-first Century —
examines the Decree of the Laity from the Second Vatican Coun-
cil and explicates how lay people participate in the priestly, pro-
phetic, and kingly roles of the Risen Lord within the Church and
the world

THEO 442 — Women in the Church — a historical and theological
introduction to the topic of women in the Church

THEO 450 — Theology of Christian Service — offers a service
learning practicum within an intellectual and theological frame-
work informed by the many various Christian traditions of service

THEO 470 - Christian Spirituality - considers the great themes of
the spiritual life, including the Jewish roots of Christian spirituality,
prayer in the early Church, Marian devotion, mysticism, and the
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spirituality of the founder of the Congregation of Holy Cross, Ven-
erable Father Basil Moreau

THEO 480 — Directed Readings in Theology - an opportunity for
independent study for students with special program needs

THEO 490 — Seminar - one of a sequence of courses to intro-
duce a variety of theological disciplines and topics

THEO 495 — Senior Thesis Seminar — examines major methodo-
logical approaches to theology by producing and presenting a
major paper on a theme, author, of text

Required courses

THEO 210 — Introduction to Scripture
THEO 220 — Church History

THEO 240 — Theological Anthropology
THEO 241 — The Church

THEO 250 — Introduction to Moral Theology
THEO 330 — Sacraments

THEO 340 — Christ and the Trinity

THEO 351 — Catholic Social Teaching
THEO 495 — Senior Thesis Seminar

Required options (one of each pair)

THEO 310 — Old Testament or THEO 311 — New Testament
THEO 321 — American Church History or THEO 420 — Second
Vatican Council

THEO 325 — Rome Through the Ages or THEO 395 — Through
Eyes of Faith: International Learning Experience

THEO 430 — Eucharist or THEO 450 — Theology of Christian Ser-
vice

THEO 470 — Christian Spirituality or THEO 422 — Women in the
Church

Outcomes

1. Articulation of the Holy Cross and Catholic characters of the
institution

2. Service to the Church and the Diocese of Fort Wayne-South
Bend

3. Opportunities for programmatic collaboration with theology
faculty at other institutions and the college’s Campus Ministry
office.

4. Enhanced institutional enrollment and fiscal stability

5. Learning outcomes as defined in the plan to assess student
learning
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

Impact
Mission

Almost all Catholic institutions have some kind of theology or reli-
gious studies requirement for students completing academic de-
grees. In this respect, Holy Cross College is no different than
other Catholic institutions of higher learning. The college has
had a theology requirement as part of general education since
the institution’s founding. Currently, the requirement is six cred-
its, which includes THEO 140, Introduction to Theology.

Many Holy Cross College students have gone on to pursue theol-
ogy degrees at other institutions. Those students may be inter-
ested in graduate studies in theology or work as religious educa-
tors. Because of the college’s history of student interest in theol-
ogy, the theology faculty at Holy Cross College began to con-
sider the future of the theology curriculum. The faculty began an
examination of the theology curriculum in 2004, the result of
which was a redesign of the curriculum. In considering the new
curriculum, the faculty determined that a baccalaureate theology
degree would be easily deliverable.

In addition to its service for the “professional” purposes of stu-
dents, the proposed degree in theology will fill a demand for a
broad, liberal arts degree for students who seek the advantages
of a Holy Cross College education. The change proposed here
is appropriate to the college because the new degree program is
driven by the college’s mission as a Catholic institution and the
stated goals of the college. The goals of the college include pro-
viding a “program in the liberal arts” based on “interdisciplinary
study in which the principles of Christian thought have a central
role.” These goals are rooted in the history of Holy Cross Col-
lege and in the tradition of the Brothers and Congregation of Holy
Cross.

In considering the addition of the theology program, the Holy
Cross College Board of Trustees examined how the proposed
program would enhance the mission of the college. In votes of
the trustees, the determination was made that a baccalaureate
program in theology is consistent with the educational purposes
of the college.

Educational offerings

The proposed Bachelor of Arts in theology degree will provide
another strong liberal arts major for Holy Cross College students.
The courses in the theology program have been designed such
that non-majors may enroll, even in most courses at the upper-
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division level. Faculty usage for the major has been planned so
that the theology courses in both the major and general educa-
tion will be covered without the addition of new full-time faculty.
This condition should hold until such a time as enrollment in-
creases.

Policy relevant to this change

The proposed change falls under the commission policy on insti-
tutional change, I1.C.2.b. This policy states that “a change in edu-
cational offering " requires that institution seek approval from the
commission through an on-site visit prior to initiating the pro-
posed change.

ll. What factors led Holy Cross College to undertake
the proposed change?

Relationship between the change and ongoing planning

Holy Cross College has had a continuous process of strategic
planning that has been operating for the past ten years. The
process includes trustees, faculty, staff, and students in an ongo-
ing conversation about the future of the college. This process
was used to consider the addition of baccalaureate education
beginning in the 2000-2001 academic year. The planning for the
new degree level was incorporated into the strategic planning
process of the college, and that planning led to the creation of
the liberal studies program.

With the success that the liberal studies program enjoyed, faculty
members began to consider new degree offerings that would
continue to develop the college as a baccalaureate institution.
The creation of a theology program was proposed as a natural
curricular development that is consistent with the identity of the
college as a Catholic institution. In 2004, the trustees endorsed
the exploration of a new theology program, so the theology fac-
ulty began to work on the details of a program proposal. The
program was considered as part of the strategic planning proc-
ess during 2005, and that process was incorporated into the col-
lege’s self-study process. The trustees authorized that the fac-
ulty request approval from the Higher Learning Commission for
an expansion of baccalaureate programs at the college, including
the addition of the proposed theology program.

Needs analysis

After the theology faculty created a revised theology curriculum,
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a student meeting was convened in Spring 2006 to determine
student interest in the theology major. Eighteen students indi-
cated an interest in the theology major or an optional academic
concentration in theology for liberal studies majors. Because this
indication of student interest was so strong in the current student
population, the faculty determined that there was enough direct
student interest among enrolled Holy Cross College students in a
new theology major.

In addition to the results of the student meeting, the Admissions
Office collects information on the academic interests of prospec-
tive students. This information is collected as part of the college
application process. An analysis of this information indicates that
there is broad interest in a Bachelor of Arts degree in theology
among prospective students.

Involvement of constituencies

One of the primary catalysts for the investigation of the theology
program was a dialogue that started in 2004 between the theol-
ogy faculty and the Diocese of Fort Wayne-South Bend. The
conversation grew out of the interest of the diocese in the possi-
bility of the college hosting the diocesan program for formation of
permanent deacons. The ecclesial office of deacon is one of the
ancient levels of holy orders in the Church, but the Diocese of
Fort Wayne-South Bend had no such program to prepare men
for that office. In anticipation of beginning such a program,
Bishop John D’Arcy and his staff began speaking with one of the
college faculty members who had considerable experience work-
ing in a deacon formation program, Melissa Smeltzer. Professor
Smeltzer was asked to create a proposal for a program of forma-
tion for permanent deacons. The proposal included the offer for
Holy Cross College to host the program. As a result of her work,
one of the suggestions that became part of the proposal was that
candidates for the permanent diaconate be given the opportunity
to complete a theology degree. The reason for this suggestion
was that the candidates would have to complete extensive
coursework in theology necessary for the program, so the oppor-
tunity to convert that coursework into a formal academic creden-
tial represented one payoff to the work of the deacon candidates.

This suggestion for the diaconate program came from extensive
research on similar programs. The theology faculty began inves-
tigating theology programs at other Catholic institutions and used
2005 to outline the proposed program and develop courses.
During that planning period, the Diocese of Fort Wayne-South
Bend was involved in the planning of the theology program by
way of offering input as the program was developed, and theol-
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ogy faculty from other institutions offered counsel on course de-
velopment.

As the proposal for the diaconate program developed, it became
clear to the theology faculty that students other than deacon can-
didates may be interested in completing the theology degree. In
fact, it became quite apparent that there was greater potential for
interest in the theology program in the general student population
than there ever would be in a diaconate program with strictly lim-
ited enrollment. The theology faculty became convinced that the
potential for the theology program was so strong that the college
should pursue offering the degree, even if no agreement were
reached with the diocese to host the diaconate program. At that
point, the theology faculty began to inform undergraduate stu-
dents about the work that was being done on the theology cur-
riculum. Once the program outline was created, a student meet-
ing during Spring 2006 helped identify student interest and solicit
feedback on the proposed program.

lll. What necessary approvals have been obtained to
implement the proposed change?

Internal approvals

In Fall 2004, the Academic Council, the primary vehicle for aca-
demic shared governance, considered the question of new bac-
calaureate programs. The division of theology and philosophy
recommended to the council that the division analyze and redes-
ign the theology curriculum, and explore the creation of a theol-
ogy program at the college. At their Fall meeting that year, the
Holy Cross College Board of Trustees authorized the faculty to
investigate the creation of a theology program as part of the insti-
tutional self-study process for the Higher Learning Commission.
At subsequent meetings of the Academic Council and the trus-
tees throughout 2005, regular updates on the planning were pre-
sented. At the Fall 2005 Board of Trustees meeting, the board
authorized the addition of the new theology program.

External approvals

The only external approval necessary for the addition of the the-
ology curriculum is approval by the Higher Learning Commission.
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IV. What impact might the proposed change have on
challenges identified by the Commission as part of or
subsequent to the last comprehensive visit?

Challenges related to the proposed change and how the or-
ganization will address them

In the past ten years, Holy Cross College has had two reviews by
teams from the Higher Learning Commission. The first review
was for the last comprehensive self study. That review took
place in January 1997. The second review took place in Sep-
tember 2002 as part of a focus visit to evaluate the college’s re-
guest to add baccalaureate level programs to the institution’s
Statement of Affiliation Status.

There are three concerns from the 1997 review that are related
to this proposal.

¢ There needs to be more governance at the college exercised
by faculty and staff. Communication needs to be improved on all
levels: between faculty, between administrators and faculty, and
between trustees and faculty.

The planning for the theology degree came out of the college’s
academic governance process. Appropriate internal reviews
were conducted at their appropriate times in throughout the plan-
ning process. The academic division of theology and philosophy
reviewed the development of the program and the Academic
Council, the vehicle for shared governance, reviewed the pro-
gram as it was being developed. The college’s Board of Trus-
tees monitored the planning process, offering review and ap-
proval as necessary.

Perhaps more importantly than the procedural work that went
into the creation of the program, the proposed theology program
represents a cultural shift in the academic life of Holy Cross Col-
lege. Prior to the development of the program, almost all of the
impetus for new academic visioning and planning was adminis-
tratively driven. Faculty assumed a reactive role in this reality.
However, the new theology program grew organically out of the
division of theology and philosophy. The proposed program de-
veloped out of simultaneous discussions on how the division
could serve the Diocese of Fort Wayne-South Bend, what the
most desirable structure would be for the theology curriculum,
and how to meet increasing student interest in theology. In con-
sidering these matters, the theology faculty created some ideas
for a new program that would address all of these issues. After
some preliminary planning, the faculty initiated the internal proc-
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esses necessary for new program approval.

e Enroliment growth is insufficient to produce greater economic
growth of the college.

At the time of the last comprehensive visit, Holy Cross College
had as its lone academic degree the associate of arts. When the
college began planning for the introduction of baccalaureate edu-
cation in 2000, one of the primary motives for the change was
the expectation of enhanced enrollment. The hope was that in-
corporating a base of upper-division students in the college’s en-
roliment would ease the pressure on the efforts of the college to
admit new students.

As noted in the self study, enrolliment at Holy Cross College has
declined since the introduction of baccalaureate education. How-
ever, there is no indication that baccalaureate education per se
has hurt enrollment. In fact, there is ample evidence that bacca-
laureate education has helped the overall enrollment picture
since its inception at the college. The current baccalaureate pro-
gram, the liberal studies program, has shown dramatic enroll-
ment increases since its founding. Student interest in the liberal
studies program has continued to grow, and the faculty, admini-
stration, and trustees of the college are convinced that baccalau-
reate education represents the academic future of the college.

The proposed theology program, like the liberal studies program,
will enhance the ability of the college to weather enroliment vaga-
ries by building into institutional enroliment a predictable group of
upper-class students. This will reduce the pressure on the col-
lege’s admission office to enroll increasing numbers of new stu-
dents in order to meet institutional budgetary needs.

e The college needs to provide a more viable and active cam-
pus ministry program to ensure that religious and moral values
be perpetuated, especially as the sponsoring religious congrega-
tion retires.

As an academic initiative, the proposed theology program is dis-
tinct in control and approach from the student life program that is
campus ministry. However, there is great symbiosis between the
theology program and campus ministry. The theology program
supports the faith development of all students at the college,
which certainly complements the faith focus of campus ministry.
The theology program helps perpetuate the Catholic character of
the college and its legacy in the Brothers and Congregation of
Holy Cross. In addition, there are ways are that are less struc-
tural and organizational in which the theology faculty assist cam-
pus ministry efforts. These ways include assistance with litur-
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gies, catechesis, and outreach efforts such as retreats.

As a product of the 2002 review of the liberal studies program,
there are three concerns that are related to this proposal.

e The college must determine how the baccalaureate program
(liberal studies) fits into the academic governance model of the
college.

Three years of working with the liberal studies program has
helped clarify ways in which the program should be incorporated
into the college’s academic governance structure. The college
has lodged oversight of the liberal studies program within the
Academic Council. This fits with how all academic programs are
governed at the college. In the case of the liberal studies pro-
gram, this oversight by the council was especially important be
cause of the multi-disciplinary nature of the program.

The experience with the liberal studies program has helped in-
form the planning for the theology program. Like the liberal stud-
ies program, the Academic Council will provide the means for
shared governance for the program. However, one of the critical
differences between the two programs is divisional oversight.
Because of its multi-disciplinary character, no one academic divi-
sion of the college has control for the liberal studies program. In
contrast, the theology program will have oversight from one of
the permanent academic divisions of the college, namely, the
division of theology and philosophy. In this way, the division re-
tains control over the academic standards and content of the de-
gree, and the Academic Council retains authority over the pro-
gram as exercised by the entire college faculty.

e Program planning and fiscal constraints may be inconsistent.

The expectations for the financial impact of the liberal studies
program on Holy Cross College were proven correct. The col-
lege was able to absorb the costs of the program without any
negative consequences to the institution’s fiscal health. As pro-
jected, the liberal studies program helped the bottom line of the
college, even though overall enrollment has declined since the
addition of the program. The reason for this was the smart plan-
ning that went into designing the curriculum and utilizing faculty
resources.

Like the liberal studies program, the proposed theology program
should also only improve the overall financial health of the col-
lege. As noted in the pro forma statement for the theology pro-
gram, the program has been designed so as to efficiently use
current faculty to deliver a well-designed curriculum.
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e The deliberate mixture of a four-year and a two-year culture
may be difficult to maintain.

This concern of the team has manifested itself in reality for Holy
Cross College. Faculty, administration, and trustees discovered
early in baccalaureate education that the college cannot survive
with two identities. It also became clear that the institution must
be defined by its highest degree, the baccalaureate degree. If
not, the credibility of that degree will suffer. With this under-
standing, and with an eye on increasing enrollment, the faculty
and administration of Holy Cross College considered other pro-
grams that would further develop the college as a baccalaureate
institution.

The addition of the theology program has helped the professional
development of the theology faculty. The faculty have had to
think about how the new program must address the needs of ma-
jor students, and also how it must continue to serve general edu-
cation at the college. This consideration further develops the cul-
ture of the college as a baccalaureate institution and provides an
example for other college faculty as to the issues that will con-
front the development of new baccalaureate programs.

V. What are Holy Cross College’s plans to implement
and sustain the proposed change?

Involvement of faculty and staff necessary to support the
change

The original rationale for the theology program grew out of a dis-
cussion between one of the theology faculty members and the
Diocese of Fort Wayne-South Bend about the creation of a pro-
gram for formation of permanent deacons. When that discussion
raised the possibility that there may be an opportunity to offer the
deacon candidates a theology degree, the other members of the
Holy Cross College division of theology and philosophy became
involved in planning how the new theology curriculum would look.
The college has significant internal expertise in theology curric-
ula, so the theology faculty were quite capable of formulating a
vision and plan for implementing the theology degree.

The theology faculty also consulted with other faculty on campus
regarding program requirements. For instance, the faculty talked
with the liberal studies faculty about the use of a capstone ex-
perience within a major. The theology faculty also consulted with
others about structuring the international experience for maximal
programmatic and student benefit.
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Administrative structure

The theology program at Holy Cross College will be administered
through the division of theology and philosophy, one of five aca-
demic divisions of the college. The division of theology and phi-
losophy is headed by the chair of the division, who, like the other
academic division chairs of the college, reports directly to the
vice president for academic affairs. Full-time and adjunct faculty
in the division report to the chair. The divisional faculty will assist
the division chair in planning and evaluating the theology pro-
gram. The divisional faculty will review and evaluate the aca-
demic progress of major students in the program. In addition, the
theology faculty will assist in the process of assessing student
learning with the program, including participation in the evalua-
tion of the senior thesis required of all majors.

Learning resources and support materials
Student support services

The theology faculty will be directly responsible for providing aca-
demic advising and planning services to theology majors. At the
inauguration of the theology program, the chair of the division of
theology and philosophy will serve as academic advisor to all
majors. This will allow for strict oversight of the new program as
a way of helping to ensure the quality of the experience for the
students. The theology faculty will also be responsible in assist-
ing students with the planning for the international experience
and the senior thesis, both of which must be successfully com-
pleted as a requirement for the degree.

Library resources

The Richard and Lucille McKenna Library is the primary learning
resource at Holy Cross College. The McKenna Library houses
approximately 16,000 volumes and 120 periodicals on the Holy
Cross College campus. The McKenna Library provides access
to three on-line encyclopedias, the on-line Oxford English Dic-
tionary, and the Lexis-Nexis database. The on-line resources of
the McKenna Library may be accessed from any computer con-
nected to the campus computing network.

In addition to its general resources, the McKenna Library offers
excellent and extensive theology resources. In fact, the theology
holdings of the McKenna Library are probably the best of all the
library holdings, attracting theology students from the University
of Notre Dame, including graduate students, to the college. In
this respect, the McKenna Library is already very well equipped
to handle a new theology degree.
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To complement the current holdings of the McKenna Library, the
theology faculty have begun accelerating the acquisition of new
texts in anticipation of the new program. These texts have been
used as background resources to the development of the new pro-
gram. Almost all will be of general interest to students and faculty
once the theology program is implemented.

As an important supplement to the excellent resources of the
McKenna Library, Holy Cross College participates in several library
consortia. Students and faculty have access from campus to more
than five million total volumes and 7,500 periodicals through ar-
rangements with libraries that include the Hesburgh Library at the
University of Notre Dame and the Cushwa-Leighton Library at
Saint Mary’s College. Students and faculty can take possession of
materials from any of the libraries of the consortia without leaving
the Holy Cross College campus. Holy Cross College students and
faculty also have access to Inspire, the Indiana virtual library. In-
spire provides full-text electronic delivery of journal and periodical
information from more than 3,500 print journals and periodicals.

It must be noted that the greatest strength of the McKenna Library
is the exceptional director and professional staff who assist stu-
dents and faculty with research. Library staff have proven very
adept at helping students and faculty find the right resources nec-
essary for their academic work.

Organizational capacity

Faculty

The addition of the new Bachelor of Arts in theology degree has
been designed in such a way that it will not involve a significant
increase in the college’s current fiscal and physical commitments
to the theology area. The program as currently designed will re-
quire no additional full-time faculty in order to deliver the degree.
The new courses that have been created for the major have not
been simple additions to the college’s theology offerings. The en-
tire theology curriculum has been redesigned, with some courses
being added, some courses being dropped, and others being re-
configured to fit the new approach to the program. One of the ways
in which the planning for the theology program has accounted for
appropriate faculty usage may be seen in the plan for course
schedules within the program. The theology curriculum has been
placed on a two-year course cycle system so that all the required
courses for the major as well as all theology electives will be of-
fered within a two-year cycle. The cycle designed by the faculty
even provides a semester-by-semester breakdown of courses. In
this way, faculty can identify their course assignments for any se-
mester given the year of the cycle that is being examined.
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The two-year course cycle for the theology program is as follows.

Year One
Fall Semester

THEO 140 — Introduction to Theology
THEO 210 — Introduction to Scripture
THEO 220 — Church History

THEO 330 — Sacraments
THEO 330 — Sacraments

THEO 341 — Christ, the Church and the
Modern World

THEO 430 — Eucharist
THEO 450 — Theology of Christian Service
THEO 490 — Seminar

Year Two
Fall Semester

THEO 140 — Introduction to Theology
THEO 210 - Introduction to Scripture

THEO 240 — Christian Anthropology
THEO 321 — American Church History

THEO 340 — Christ and the Trinity

THEO 341 — Christ, the Church, and the
Modern World

THEO 450 — Theology of Christian Service
THEO 470 — Christian Spirituality

THEO 491 — Seminar

Spring Semester

THEO 140 - Introduction to Theology
THEO 241 — The Church

THEO 290 — Seminar

THEO 310 — Old Testament

THEO 310 — Old Testament

THEO 325 — Rome Through the Ages

THEO 351 — Catholic Social Teaching
THEO 360 — World Religions

THEO 390 — International Learning
Experience

THEO 420 — The Second Vatican Council

THEO 441 — The Christian Vocation in the
Twenty-first Century

THEO 495 — Senior Thesis Seminar

Spring Semester
THEO 140 - Introduction to Theology
THEO 250 — Introduction to Moral Theology

THEO 291 — Seminar
THEO 311 — New Testament

THEO 325 — Rome Through the Ages
THEO 360 — World Religions

THEO 390 - International Learning
Experience

THEO 441 — The Christian Vocation in the
Twenty-first Century

THEO 442 — Women in the Church
THEO 495 — Senior Thesis Seminar

Summer school theology courses may be any combination of the
courses in the program. Determination of the summer school
schedules will be based on student and faculty interest.
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Budget

Mark Mullaney, Vice President for Administration, analyzed the
impact of the proposed theology program on the operational
budget of the college. As itis currently proposed, the incre-
mental costs from the first year of offering the program are more
than offset by the incremental revenues generated by the pro-
gram. The majority of the fixed costs have been provided al-
ready. The college’s main academic building, the Vincent build-
ing, has plenty of classroom capacity, and the proposed program
should not require special classroom equipment.

Because the theology faculty provide courses that serve the col-
lege’s general education curriculum, Holy Cross College would
assume the instructional expenses for the theology program irre-
spective of whether a new degree program were offered. Given
current college enrollment, the existing theology faculty will teach
lower- and upper-division level courses with only one additional
adjunct faculty member needed in order to cover all of the divi-
sional courses. If the enrollment in the theology program grows
and generates sufficient revenue over a couple of years, new full-
time faculty can then be hired.

Example pro forma of first-year incremental revenue and costs

Revenue Amount

Tuition (annual tuition for six new upper- $87,000

division level theology majors)

Institutional aid (30% per student) 26,100

Net revenue for Year One $60,900

Expenses

Adjunct faculty (four new sections annually) $10,765

Library investment 7,500
Incremental expenses for Year One $18,265

Net contribution to institutional overheard by

the addition of the new program $42,635

The financial risks of offering the theology program appear to be
minimal. In fact, the financial effect of the program appears only
to be positive for the college. If the enrollment demand for the
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program outstrips these estimates, additional full-time faculty hir-
ing can take place to help cover the upper-division major courses
and the general education service courses. Because the college
has the support structure in place for the academic and adminis-
trative functions, the incremental costs are primarily human re-
sources. There will be no real additional demands on student life
and residence life that must be addressed which are specific to
the theology program. The only pressures on student life and
residence life will be due to an overall increase in college enroll-
ment. In such cases, the pressure for new or expanded services
(such as additional support services) can be addressed by the
revenue generated by increased enrollment.

Timeline

Holy Cross College has redesigned its theology curriculum, and
the changes that have come from that reconfiguration have been
approved to being in the 2006-2007 academic year. Many of
those courses are available to students pursuing the optional the-
ology concentration for the liberal studies major. If the Commis-
sion approves the addition of the Bachelor of Arts degree, stu-
dents will be admitted to the program beginning in 2007.

2006

October Site team from the Higher Learning Com-
mission reviews the proposal for the addi-
tion of the new bachelor of arts degree in
theology.

December Pending endorsement of the new degree
program by the site team, begin recruiting
students for the new major program.

2007

January through February Based on indications of student majors,
identify potential adjunct faculty needs for
the theology area.

March Finalize theology course schedule for the
Fall Semester of 2007.

July Finalize requirements and structure for the
senior thesis.

VI. What are Holy Cross College’s strategies to evalu-
ate the proposed change?

The measures to document the achievement of outcomes

The evaluation of the theology program will address the expected
outcomes of the program and involve many constituents.
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Groups responsible
for evaluation

Methods

Timeline

Outcome

Articulation of the Holy
Cross and Catholic char-

* Administrative Council
» Academic Council

« Survey of the faculty
and students

* The surveys of fac-
ulty and students will

acters of the institution « Theology faculty be conducted as part
of the yearly divisional
report

Service to the Church * Theology faculty * Interviews with ap- « Interviews will be

and the Diocese of Fort propriate diocesan conducted in advance

Wayne-South Bend personnel of the yearly divisional
reports

Opportunities for pro- « Theology faculty * Survey of the theol- | ¢ The surveys will be

grammatic collaboration
with theology faculty at
other institutions and the
college’s Campus Minis-
try office.

ogy faculty at the col-
lege and at other in-
stitutions

conducted as part of
the yearly divisional
reports.

Renewed curricular em-
phasis on the liberal arts

* Administrative Council
» Academic Council

« Survey of the faculty

» The survey of faculty
will be conducted
every two years be-
ginning in the 2007-
2008 academic year.

Enhanced institutional
enrollment and fiscal sta-
bility

* Administrative Council

* Analysis of enroll-
ment reports and in-
stitutional audits

 Enroliment reports
will be analyzed each
year following the
beginning of each
academic year.

« Institutional audits
will be analyzed each
October.

Learning outcomes as
defined in the plan to as-
sess student learning

« Director of assess-
ment

* Academic Council
* Theology faculty

« Analysis of senior
thesis projects
« Survey of alumni

* The chair of theol-
ogy and philosophy
and the director of
assessment will ana-
lyze senior thesis pro-
jects for summative
evidence of learning
each academic year.
* The Academic
Council will analyze
the yearly divisional
report.

e The survey of
alumni will begin six
years after the inau-
guration of the pro-
gram.
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The theology
program will utilize
the college’s nine
transferable skills
as general
education learning
goals for theology
students.
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How the assessment of student learning is integrated into
the institution’s assessment program

With the addition of the proposed Bachelor of Arts in theology
degree, the theology faculty have considered the ways the new
degree fits into the college’s program to assessment student aca-
demic achievement. One of the byproducts of the planning proc-
ess for the degree has been the recognition that the assessment
plan of the college needs substantive revisions. While these re-
visions will take a couple of years to identify and implement, the
long-term benefits for the college of the planning will include new
approaches that the college takes to assessing student learning
within the entire curriculum. It is inevitable that these new ap-
proaches will be more robust and organic to the institution.

The new program in theology will have an effect on the assess-
ment of general education and the assessment of the major.

Assessment of general education

Holy Cross College has an assessment program for general edu-
cation. All theology majors will need to complete the general
education requirements as outlined for the college.

The theology program will utilize the college’s nine transferable
skills as general education learning goals for theology students.
The transferable skills focus the curriculum on nine areas of stu-
dent learning that are common to liberal arts curricula in higher
education. The skills are as follows.

critical thinking

creative thinking

writing

reading

religious, moral, and social development
information technology

oral communication

library and information literacy
gquantitative literacy

CoNoOR~WNE

Theology courses that fulfill the college’s general education require-
ments must incorporate the transferable skills as part of their learn-
ing objectives. In addition, theology courses that are part of the ma-
jor have as part of their learning objectives the transferable skills.
Students in the theology program will be evaluated on the achieve-
ment of the transferable skills as part of the senior thesis project.
Theses will have a component of their assessment devoted to the
transferable skills. In this way, the transferable skills encompass
general education goals for theology majors.
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Assessment of the major

As part of the preparation for the assessment of the theology ma-
jor, the theology faculty have been emphasizing learner-centered
teaching and assessment practices that the entire Holy Cross
College faculty have been considering for several years. The
college’s Office of Assessment, led by Dr. Brian Greve, and the
Center for Faculty Development, currently under Dr. Henry
Borne, have assisted the faculty in adopting learner-centered ap-
proaches in their individual courses and in their disciplinary cur-
ricula. One way in doing so is by stressing eight identifiers of
learner-centered teaching and assessment. Those identifiers are
the following.

0 Learners are actively involved and receive feedback.

0 Learners apply knowledge to enduring and emerging issues
and problems.

0 Learners integrate discipline-based knowledge and general
skills.

0 Learners understand the characteristics of excellent work.

0 Learners become increasingly sophisticated learners and
knowers.

0 Professors coach and facilitate, intertwining teaching and as-
sessing.

0 Professors reveal that they are learners, too.

0 Learning is interpersonal, and all learners—students, faculty,
and staff—are respected and valued.

The theology program will have a special assessment plan for
majors. The theology faculty have identified learning goals and
assessment majors for the proposed program.

Discipline-specific Learning Goals

1. Students will have an understanding of the tenets of the
Catholic faith as expressed in Sacred Scripture and Sacred
Tradition.

2. Students will understand the ecclesial structure and the his-
tory of the Church.

3. Students will demonstrate a commitment to live out their Bap-
tismal promises as guided by Gospel values and principles.

4. Students will develop career and vocational plans for their
lives after college.
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The senior thesis
is the culmination
of the learning
experience for
students in the
theology program.
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Assessment plan

Learning goal Methods of assessment

1. Students will have an un- e Evaluation of final results
derstanding of the tenets of from THEO 140, Introduc-
the Catholic faith as ex- tion to Theology

pressed in Sacred Scripture e Evaluation of senior the-
and Sacred Tradition. ses

2. Students will understand o Evaluation of senior thesis
the ecclesial structure and the
history of the Church.

3. Students will demonstrate | ¢ Evaluation of senior thesis
a commitment to live out their
Baptismal promises as guided
by Gospel values and princi-

ples.

4. Students will develop ca- e Yearly evaluation of each
reer and vocational plans for student’s career develop-
their lives after college. ment plan

Senior thesis

The senior thesis is the culmination of the learning experience for
students in the theology program. Informally, students begin
their planning for the senior thesis as early as reasonable during
their studies. Formally, students use the senior year to plan and
develop the thesis. Students must submit a proposal for the the-
sis which must be accepted by the theology faculty. The senior
thesis seminar will afford students the opportunity to integrate
and strengthen the thesis.

After the thesis is completed, each senior must present the thesis
in a public setting to a committee of theology faculty reviewers.
The purpose of the presentation for the student will be to explain
and demonstrate her or his growth as a learner as evidenced
through mastery of a particular theological topic. Specific criteria
for assessing the thesis will be published in advance and distrib-
uted at entry into the program to all major students.

The evaluation of the senior thesis will be by a committee com-
posed of theology faculty. The committee will agree on a grade
for the project, indicating whether each student has passed the
project (a requirement for graduation). Students who do not suc-
cessfully complete the thesis and presentation must resubmit
and represent the thesis successfully before the degree will be
granted.



HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF STUDY HOLY CROSS COLLEGE

At the end of each academic year, the chair and the theology fac-
ulty will review the results of the assessment of student learning
for the theology program. The director of assessment will assist
with the analysis of the assessment data. In addition, starting in
the sixth year after the inauguration of the baccalaureate pro-
gram, the chair will initiate a follow-up study of program alumni to
determine the long-range learning effects of the theology pro-
gram.

There are other characteristics of the theology program that are
derived directly from the purposes of the program.

o to stress the Catholic/Christian character that lies at the
heart of the college

¢ to emphasize the nature of the college as an institution
grounded in the legacies of the Brothers and Congregation
of Holy Cross

e to focus students on their lives after college, including fo-
cusing on graduate school and careers

o to awaken students to global realities within the Church by
participation in international experiences

e to fashion in students a commitment to service in their
communities

e to provide opportunities for collaborative work among stu-
dents and between students and faculty by incorporating
student cohorts in the program model

These characteristics provide a secondary level of outcomes for
the theology program. The achievement of these will be ana-
lyzed by the theology faculty as part of their ongoing evaluation
of the program.
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Holy Cross College

Institutional Snapshot Report
October, 2005

Student Demography Headcounts
A. Undergraduate enrollments by class levels:
i Freshman
a. Fall 2004 — 281
b. Fall 2005 — 245
ii. Sophomore
Fall 2004 — 119
Fall 2005 - 72
iii.  Junior
Fall 2004 — 13
Fall 2005 - 21
iv.  Senior
a. Fall 2004 - 13
b. Fall 2005 - 14

B. Undergraduate students by degree seeking and non-degree seeking status (broken
down by gender and by race/ethnicity):

i Degree Seeking
a. Non-resident Alien
i. Male

a. Fall 2004 - 6
b. Fall 2005 -3
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 4
b. Fall 2005 -2
b. Black/ Non Hispanic
i Male
a. Fall 2004 -5
b. Fall 2005 -4
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 8
b. Fall 2005 -4
c. American Indian / Alaskan Native
i Male
a. Fall 2004 -0
b. Fall 2005 -0
ii. Female
Fall 2004 -1
Fall 2005 -0
d. Asian / Pacific Islander
i. Male
a. Fall 2004 -5
b. Fall 2005 -5
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 3
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b. Fall 2005 - 3
e. Hispanic
i. Male
a. Fall 2004 - 13
b. Fall 2005 - 19
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 8
b. Fall 2005 - 6
White / Non-Hispanic
i. Male
a. Fall 2004 — 232
b. Fall 2005 — 190
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 — 139
b. Fall 2005 - 116
i Non-degree Seeking
a. Non-resident / Alien
i. Male
a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 -0
ii. Female

a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 -0

b. White / Non-Hispanic
i Male
a. Fall 2004 - 3
b. Fall 2005 -4
ii. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 -6

Graduate/professional students: N/A

Age range of undergraduate students:
i 24 and under
a. Fall 2004 - 424
b. Fall 2005 — 353
ii. 25 and older
a. Fall 2004 - 8
b. Fall 2005 -9

Numbers of students by residency status of credit-seeking students who come to a campus

or site for instruction:

i. In-State Resident
a. Fall 2004 - 197
b. Fall 2005 — 155

ii. Out-of-State Resident
a. Fall 2004 — 225
b. Fall 2005 - 200

iii. Non-US Resident
a. Fall 2004 - 10
b. Fall 2005 - 7
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Student Recruitment and Admissions

A.  Number of applications, acceptances, and matriculations for entering Freshmen and

Undergraduate Transfers (Fall 2005):

i Applications
a. Freshmen — 427
b. Undergraduate Transfers — 60
c. Graduate/Professional — N/A
ii. Acceptances
a. Freshmen — 363
b. Undergraduate Transfers — 51
c. Graduate/Professional — N/A

iii.  Matriculations

a. Freshmen - 214
b. Undergraduate Transfers - 36
C. Graduate/Professional — N/A

B. Standardized test mean score (Fall 2005):
i. ACT - 23
ii. SAT - 1120

Financial Assistance for Students

A.

Percentage of undergraduate students applying for any type of financial assistance:

Fall 2004 — 60.88%
Fall 2005 — 59.78%

B.  Number of undergraduate students receiving financial assistance:

Percentage of enrollment:

a. Fall 2004 - 68.52%

b. Fall 2005 - 69.97%

Percentage of enrollment receiving Loans:

a. Fall 2004 — 48.84%

b. Fall 2005 — 58.13%

Percentage of enrollment receiving Work-Study:
a. Fall 2004 — 6.71%

b. Fall 2005 — 7.99%

Percentage of enrollment receiving Scholarships/Grants:
a. Fall 2004 — 43.75%

b. Fall 2005 — 52.07%

Percentage of enrollment receiving Merit Based Scholarships:
a. Fall 2004 — 30.09%
b. Fall 2005 — 35.54%

C. Tuition Discount Rate:

PAGE 3 [

Fall 2004 — 8.21%
Fall 2005 — 17.76%
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Student Retention and Program Productivity
Number of first-time, full-time fall entering undergraduate students returning for study
during the following fall semester:

A.

B.

C.

Number of first-time, full-time students:
a. Fall 2003 — 131
b. Fall 2004 — 142
Number of full-time returning students:
a. Fall 2004 — 75

1. Non-resident alien — 3

2. Hispanic — 4

3. White/Non-Hispanic — 68
b. Fall 2005 - 73

1. Non-resident alien — 2

2. Hispanic — 6

3. Black/Non-Hispanic — 2

4, White/Non-Hispanic — 63

Number Returning as a percentage of Number Entering:

Fall 2004 — 57%
Fall 2005 — 51%

Number of earning a graduate or professional degree — N/A

Number of graduates by program — N/A

Faculty Demography
Number of faculty in full-time and part-time categories, according to highest degree
earned:

A.

Doctorate
a. Fall 2004
1. Full-time - 7
2. Part-time — 3
b. Fall 2005
1. Full-time - 9
2. Part-time — 3
Masters
a. Fall 2004
1. Full-time - 20
2. Part-time — 15
b. Fall 2005
1. Full-time — 18
2. Part-time — 15
Bachelors
a. Fall 2004
1. Part-time - 1

Number of faculty in full-time and part-time categories according to Race/Ethnicity,
Gender, and Rank:

Full-time faculty
a. Race
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1. Black/Non-Hispanic
a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 -0
2. White/Non-Hispanic
a. Fall 2004 - 26
b. Fall 2005 - 26
b. Gender
1. Male
a. Fall 2004 - 19
b. Fall 2005 - 15
2. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 8
b. Fall 2005 - 11
C. Rank
1. Instructor
a. Fall 2004 -0
b. Fall 2005 -0
2. Assistant Professor
a. Fall 2004 - 11
b. Fall 2005 - 14
3. Associate Professor
a. Fall 2004 - 15
b. Fall 2005 - 14
4, Full Professor
a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 -1
ii. Part-time faculty
a. Race
1. Black/Non-Hispanic
a. Fall 2004 -0
b. Fall 2005 - 1
2. White/Non-Hispanic
a. Fall 2004 — 18
b. Fall 2005 - 19

3. Asian/Pacific Rim
a. Fall 2004 - 1
b. Fall 2005 - 1

b. Gender
1. Male
a. Fall 2004 - 13
b. Fall 2005 - 14
2. Female
a. Fall 2004 - 6
b. Fall 2005 - 7
c. Rank
1. Instructor
a. Fall 2004 - 15
b. Fall 2005 - 12
2. Assistant Professor
a. Fall 2004 - 1
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b. Fall 2005 - 1
3. Associate Professor
a. Fall 2004 - 3
b. Fall 2005 - 3

C. Number of faculty by program:

i Biological & Physical Science
a. Fall 2004 - 4
b. Fall 2005 -4

ii. Business
Fall 2004 - 3
Fall 2005 -3

iii.  Communications/Fine Arts
a. Fall 2004 - 6
b. Fall 2005 -6

iv.  Education/Library Science
a. Fall 2004 - 2
b. Fall 2005 — 2

V. Humanities/Interdisciplinary
a. Fall 2004 - 17
b. Fall 2005 - 17

vi.  Mathematics/Computer Science
a. Fall 2004 - 9
b. Fall 2005 -8

vii.  Psychology/Social Sciences & Services
a. Fall 2004 - 6
b. Fall 2005 - 6

6. Availability of Instructional Resources and Information Technology
A Technology resources dedicated to supporting student learning and method(s) of
monitoring the level of usage:

i Public access for computing — Students have access to computing resources on
campus via the computer lab and classrooms or via their personal computers from
the residence halls.

ii. Wireless — A wireless, portable laptop lab is available for faculty and student use.
Lobbies, the cafeteria, and other public areas have wireless access to the network.
Wireless connectivity covers approximately 40% of the campus.

iii.  Telecommunications — Campus technology provides a converged network
telecommunication service to students. IP phones and VolIP services are available
to students.

iv.  Messaging and web services — All students are assigned an email account and are
expected to use email as the official medium of communication for college
business.

V. Personal web pages — The college provides and supports electronic space for
student personal web pages.

vi.  Multimedia access — Access to the resources provided on the college’s academic
server is available to students, for the courses that require it.

vii.  Library and research resources — Students have access to four university/college
libraries through a consortium between Holy Cross College, the University of
Notre Dame, Saint Mary’s College, and Bethel College. The on-line catalog and
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all databases are available on, and off campus to current students, faculty, and
staff.
B. Monitoring the level of usage:
i Currently, Holy Cross College is utilizing a network admission control system to
monitor the level of usage of the variety of resources.

7. Financial Data
A. Actual Unrestricted Revenues
i. Tuition and Fees

a. 2003-2004: $4,456,081

b. 2004-2005: $4,302,761
ii. Investment and Annuity Income

a. 2003-2004: $299,593

b. 2004-2005: $400,391
iii.  Contributions

a. 2003-2004: $3,427,813

b. 2004-2005: $507,597
iv.  Auxiliary

a. 2003-2004: $1,646,314

b. 2004-2005: $1,574,926
V. Other

a. 2003-2004: $64,033

b. 2004-2005: $103,252
vi.  Total

a. 2003-2004: $9,893,834

b. 2004-2005: $6,888,927

B. Actual Unrestricted Expenses
i Instructional/Departmental/Library

a. 2003-2004: $2,581,239

b. 2004-2005: $2,609,457
ii. Student Services

a. 2003-2004: $250,121

b. 2004-2005: $255,961
iii.  Operation and Maintenance of Plant

a. 2003-2004: $646,586

b. 2004-2005: $798,197
iv.  Administration

a. 2003-2004: $1,794,225

b. 2004-2005: $2,695,193
V. Fundraising

a. 2003-2004: $222,385

b. 2004-2005: $121,250
vi.  Auxiliary

a. 2003-2004: $1,549,367

b. 2004-2005: $1,504,700
vii.  Other

a. 2003-2004: $(575,628)

b. 2004-2005: $332,201
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viii. Total
a. 2003-2004: $6,468,295
b. 2004-2005: $8,316,959

C. Covering the Shortfall - The institution covered its shortfall in fiscal year 2004-05 by using
unrestricted cash generated in the fiscal year 2003-04.
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Holy Cross College

Mission Statement

Holy Cross College is a Catholic higher education community that transforms
lives by advancing the Gospel and building competent minds and compassionate
hearts. Founded by the Brothers of Holy Cross, we are animated by their tradi-
tions which require a practical, demanding, and comprehensive training of the
mind that is compelled to action by a generous spirit. We accommodate a broad
spectrum of needs, interests, and backgrounds within a challenging, supportive,
and sacred environment. We offer a foundational liberal arts program of engag-
ing and relevant instruction which prepares students for productive futures.

By actively pursuing the integrated development of mind, body, and heart, the
liberal arts core of the Associates of Arts Degree program provides transferable
skills for continuing education and reaching professional goals. Bachelor of Arts
Degree programs offer a global and experiential liberal arts curriculum coordi-
nating the planning of life-long learning with the courage to face future chal-

lenges.

We advance the Gospel message by developing a personal understanding of
relationships with God, others, and self. We respect and challenge one another
through active spiritual and intellectual lives and through service. We support
and enlighten one another about our common responsibilities to further the King-
dom of God.

G WV HH R &3 W HH R
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Self-Study Survey Results
Holy Cross College Students

APPENDIX 3.1

Salf-study survey - Students

Results Overview
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Self-Study Survey Results
Holy Cross College Board of Staff/Administration

Self-study survey - StafffAdministrators

Results Overview
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APPENDIX 3.4
Self-Study Survey Results

Holy Cross College Board of Trustees

Self-study survey - Trustees
Results Overview
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<5 N,
AN
z s Office of the General Counsel
C{"’:?‘q '{a 3211 FOURTH STREET ME * WASHINGTON DHC 20017-1194 = 202-541-3300 = FAX 202-541-3337
IC
July 11, 2006
TO: Most Reverend Archbishops and Bishops, Diocesan Attorneys
and State Conference Directors

SUBJECT: 2006 Group Ruling ) - @/
FROM: Mark E. Chopko, General Counsel @

[ HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF-STUDY

(Staff: Deirdre Dessingue, Associate General Counsel)

Attached is a copy of the Group Ruling issued to the United States
Conference of Catholic Bishops on July 1, 2006 by the Internal Revenue Service
("IRS"), with respect tc the federal tax status of Catholic organizations listed in the
2006 edition of the Official Catholic Directory ("OCD")Y. As explained in greater
detail below, this ruling is important for establishing:

(1) the exemption of such organizations from:

(a) federal income tax;

(b) federal unemployment tax (but see 75 of
"Explanation" below); and

(2)  the deductibility, for federal income, gift and estate tax
purposes, of contributions to such organizations.

The 2006 Group Ruling is the latest in a series that began with the original
determination of March 25, 1946. In the 1946 document, the Treasury Department
affirmed the exemption from federal income tax of all Catholic institutions listed in
the OCD for that year. Each year since 1946, in a separate letter, the 1946 ruling
has been extended to cover the institutions listed in the current OCD?. The 2008
Group Ruling is consistent with the 2005 ruling. Annual group rulings clarify
important tax consequences for Catholic institutions listed in the OCD, and should
be retained for ready reference. Rulings from earlier years are important to establish
the tax consequences of transactions that occurred during those years.

Responsibilities under Group Ruling. Diocesan officials whao compile OCD
information to send to the OCD publisher are respaonsible for the accuracy of such
information. They must ensure that only qualified organizations are listed, that

1

A copy of the Group Ruling and this memo may be found on the USCCB website at
www.uscch.org/oge.

2

Catholic organizations with independent IRS exemption determination letters are

listed in the 2006 OCD with an asterisk (*), which is explained at page A-6 and
indicates that such organizations are not covered by the Group Ruling.
] PAGE 1
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organizations are listed under their correct legal names, that organizations that
cease to qualify are deleted promptly, and that qualified newly-created organizations
are listed as soon as possible. The current Group Ruling/OCD application package

is available at http://www.usccb.ora/bishops/dfilexemptionruling. htm.

EXPLANATION

1. Exemption from Federal Income Tax. The latest ruling reaffirms the
exemption from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Code of "the

agencies and instrumentalities and educational, charitable, and religious institutions
operated, supervised or controlled by or in connection with the Roman Catholic
Church in the United States, its territories or possessions appearing in the Official
Catholic Directory for 2008" (with the exception of organizations designated in the
OCD with an asterisk and foreign organizations).

2. Federal Excise Taxes. Inclusion in the Group Ruling has no effect
on an organization's liability for federal excise taxes. Exemption from these taxes is
very limited. Please refer to your attorney any questions you may have about excise
taxes.

3. State/Local Taxes. Inclusion in the Group Ruling does not
automatically establish an organization's exemption from state or local income, sales
or property taxes. Typically, separate exemptions must be obtained from the
appropriate state or local tax authorities in order to qualify for any applicable
exemptions. Please refer to your attorney any questions you may have about state
or local tax exemptions.

4, Deductibility of Contributions. The Group Ruling assures donors
that contributions to the institutions listed in the 2006 OCD and covered by the
Group Ruling are deductible for federal income, gift, and estate tax purposes.

4 Unemployment Tax. The Group Ruling establishes exemption from
federal unemployment tax only. Individual states may impose unemployment tax on
organizations included in the Group Ruling, even though they are exempt from the
federal tax. Please refer to your attorney any questions you may have about state
unemployment tax.

6. Social Security Tax. All section 501(c)(3) organizations, including
churches, are required to pay taxes under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act
(FICA) for each employee who is paid $100 or more in a calendar year ¥ Services
performed by diocesan priests in the exercise of their ministry are not considered

: Section 3121(w) of the Code permits cerfain church-related organizations fo

make an irrevocable election to avoid payment of FICA taxes, but only if such

organizations are ppposed for religious reasons to payment of social security
taxes.

2
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"employment" for FICA (Social Security) purposes.? and FICA should not be
withheld from their salaries. For Social Security purposes, diocesan priests are
subject to self-employment tax ("SECA") on their salaries as well as on the value of
meals and housing or housing allowances provided to them.® Neither FICA nor
income tax withholding is required on remuneration paid to religious institutes for
members who are subject to vows of poverty and c:bedlence and are employed by
organizations included in the Qfficial Catholic Directory.?

7. Form 990. All organizations included in the OCD must file Form 990,
Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, unless they are eligible for a
mandatory or discretionary exception. There is no automatic exemption from the
Form 990 filing requirement simply because an organization is listed in the
OCD. Organizations required to file Form 990 must do so by the 15th day of the fifth
month after the close of their fiscal year.Z Among the organizations not required to
file Form 990 under section 6033 of the Code are: churches; integrated auxiliaries of
churches?; the exclusively religious activities of religious orders; schools below
college ievel affiliated with a church or operated by a rehglous order; organizations
with gross receipts normally not in excess of $25,000;¥ and certain church-affiliated

: LR.C. § 3121(b)(8)(A).

3 LRC. § 1402(a)(8). See also, Compensation of _Priesls, at
http://www.uscch.org/bishops/dfi/dualtax.htm.

4 Rev. Rul. 77-290, 1977-2 C.B. 26. See also, Compensation of Religious, at
http:/fwww.uscch.org/bishops/dfifreligiouscomp.htm.

The penalty for failure to fite the Form 990 s $20 for each day the failure

continues, up to a maximum of $10,000 or 5 percent of the organization's gross
receipls, whichever is less. However, organizations with annual gross receipts in
excess of §1 miflion are subject to penalties of $100 per day, up to a maximum of
$50,000. L.R.C. § 6652(c)(1)(A).

8 LR.C. § 6033(a)(2)(A)i); Treas. Reg. § 1.6033-2(h). To gualify as an integrated

auxifiary of a church, an organization must be described in section 501(c)(3),
qualify as other than a private foundation, be affiliated with a church, and qualify
as intermally supported.  An organization will be considered intermnally supported
unless it bath:

(1) Offers admissions, goods, services, or faciliies for sale, other
than on an incidental basis, to the general public (except goods,
services, or facifities sold at a nominal charge or substantially
below cost), and

(2) normally receives more than 50 percent of its support from a
combination of governmental sources; public soiicitation of
contributions (such as through a community fund drive); and
receipts from the sale of admissions, goods, performance of
services, or fumishing of facilities in activities that are not
unrelated trades or businesses.

2 Rev. Proc. 83-23, 1983-1 C.B. 687,

3
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organizations that finance, fund or manage church assets, or maintain church
retirement insurance programs, and organizations controlled by religious orders that
finance, fund or manage assets used for exclusively religious activities 1%

Organizations that are required to file Form 990 must upon request make a
copy of the form and its schedules and attachments (other than contributor lists)
available for public inspection during regular business hours at the organization's
principal office and at any regional or district offices having three or more
employees. Form 990 for a particular year must be made available for a three year
period beginning with the due date of the return.' In addition, organizations that file
Form 990 must comply with written or in-person requests for copies of the Form 990.
The organization may impose no charge other than a reasonable fee to cover
copying and mailing costs. If requested, copies of the Form 990 for the past three
years must be provided. In-person requests must be satisfied on the same day.

Written requests must be satisfied within 30 days.’#

8. Revenue Procedure 75-50. Rev. Proc. 75-50'% sets forth notice,
publication, and recordkeeping requirements regarding racially nondiscriminatory
policies that must be complied with by private schools, including church-related
schools, as a condition of establishing and maintaining exempt status under section
501(c)(3) of the Code. Under Rev. Proc. 75-50 private schools are required to file an
annual certification of racial nondiscrimination with the IRS. For private schools not
required to file Form 990, the annual certification must be filed on Form 5578,
Annual Certification of Racial Nondiscrimination for a Private School Exempt from
Federal Income Tax. This form may be obtained from your local IRS office. Form
5578 must be filed by the 15th day of the fifth month following the close of the fiscal
year. Form 5578 may be filed individually or by the diccese on behalf of all schools
operated under diocesan auspices. The requirements of Rev. Proc. 75-50 remain in
effect and must be complied with by all schools listed in the OCD. Diocesan or
school officials should insure that the requirements of Rev. Proc. 75-50 are

o Rev. Proc. 96-10, 1996-1 C.B. 577.

1 The penalty for failure to permit public inspection of the Form 9390 is §20 for each
day during which such failure continues, up to a maximum of $10,000. |R.C. §
6652(c)(1)(C).

I [R.C. § 6104(d). Generally, a copy of an organization's exemption application

and supporting documents must also be provided on the same basis. However,
since Catholic organizations covered under the Group Ruiing did not file
exemplion applications with IRS, nor did USCCB, organizations covered under
the Group Ruling should respond to requests for public inspection and written or
in-person requests for copies by providing a copy of the page of the current OCD
on which they are listed. If a covered organization does not have a copy of the
current OCD, it has two weeks within which to make it available for inspection
and fo comply with in-person requests for copies. Wrilten requests must be
satisfied within the general time limits.

L2 1975-2 C.B. 587.

4
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met since failure to do so could jeopardize the exempt status of the school
and, in the case of a school operated by a church, the exempt status of the
church itself.

9. Lobbying Activities. Organizations included in the OCD may lobby
for changes in the law, provided such lobbying is not more than an insubstantial part
of their total activities. Attempts to influence legislation both directly and through
grassroots lobbying are subject to this restriction. The term “lobbying” includes
activities in support of or in opposition to referenda, constitutional amendments, and
similar ballot initiatives. There is no distinction between lobbying activity that is
related to an organization's exempt purposes and lobbying that is not. There is no
fixed percentage that constitutes a safe harbor for "insubstantial" lobbying. Please
refer to your attorney any questions you may have about permissible lobbying
activities.

10. Political Activities. Organizations included in the Group Ruling may
not participate or intervene in any political campaign on behalf of or in
opposition to any candidate for public office. Violation of the prohibition
against political activity can jeopardize the organization's tax-exempt status.
In addition to revoking exempt status, IRS may also impose excise taxes on an
exempt organization and its managers on account of political expenditures. Where
there has been a flagrant violation, IRS has authority to seek an injunction against
the exempt organization and immediate assessment of taxes due, Political
Campaign Activity Guidance for Catholic Organizations (March 15, 2004) available
at www.uscch.orgloge, contains detailed information regarding the political activity
prohibition. If you have any questions in this regard, please refer them to your
attorney.

11.  Public Charity Status. The latest Group Ruling affirms that
organizations included in the OCD are not private foundations under section 509(a)
of the Code. However, the Group Ruling does not identify the subsection of section
509(a) under which a particular organization is classified as a public charity.
Organizations must determine for themselves whether they qualify for such status
under the provisions of section 509(a)(1), (a)(2) or (a)(3). Newly-created or newly-
affiliated organizations must establish that they are not private foundations as a
condition of inclusion in the Group Ruling and OCD.

12.  Group Exemption Number. The group exemption number assigned
to USCC is 928 or 0928. This number must be included on each Form 990,
Form 990-T, and Form 5578 required to be filed by any organization exempt
under the Group Ruling.”¥ We recommend against using the group exemption
number on Form SS-4, Request for Employer Identification Number, because in the
past this has resulted in IRS including USCCB as part of the organization's name
when it enters the organization in its database.

14 IRS has expressed concern about organizations covered under the Group Rulfing

that fail to include the group exemption number, 0928, on their Form 990 filings,
particularly the inifial filing.

5
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Internal Revenue Service Department of the Treasury
District Director
P. O. Box 2508 )
Cincinnati, OH 45201

Date: July 1, 2006 - Person to Contact:
James Blair
ID # 31-07578
Telephone Number:
877-829-5500
FAX Number:
Ms. Deirdre Dessingue 513-263-3756
Associate General Counsel
United States Conference
of Catholic Bishops
3211 4" Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20017-1194

Dear Ms. Dessingue:

In a ruling dated March 25, 1946, we held that the agencies and instrumentalities and all
educational, charitable and religious institutions operated, supervised, or controlled by or
in connection with the Roman Catholic Church in the United States, its territories or
possessions appearing in The Official Catholic Directory 19486, are entitled to exemption
from federal income tax under the provisions of section 101(6) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1939, which corresponds to section 501(c)(3) of the 1986 Code. This ruling has
been updated annually to cover the activities added to or deleted from the Directory.

The Official Catholic Directory for 2006 shows the names and addresses of all agencies
and instrumentalities and all educational, charitable, and religious institutions operated
by the Roman Catholic Church in the United States, its territories and possessions in
existence at the time the Directory was published. It is understocd that each of these is
a non-profit organization, that no part of the net eamings thereof inures to the benefit of
any individual, that no substantial part of their activities is for promotion of legislation,
and that none are private foundations under section 509(a) of the Code.

Based on all information submitted, we conclude that the agencies and instrumentalities
and educational, charitable, and religious institutions operated, supervised, or controlled
by or in connection with the Roman Catholic Church in the United States, its territories
or possessions appearing in The Official Catholic Directory for 2006 are exempt from
federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

Donors may deduct contributions to the agencies, instrumentalities and institutions
referred to above, as provided by section 170 of the Code. Bequests, legacies, devises,
transfers or gifts to them or for their use are deductible for federal estate and gift tax
purposes under sections 2055, 2106, and 2522 of the Code.
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Ms. Deirdre Dessingue

Beginning January 1, 1984, unless specifically excepted, you and your subordinates
must pay tax under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (Social Security taxes) for
each employee who is paid $100 or more in a calendar year, as indexed for inflation.
You and your subordinates are not liable for the tax under the Federal Unemployment
Tax Act (FUTA).

By May 31, 2007, please send three (3) copies of The Official Catholic Directory for
2007 to IRS TE/GE in Cincinnati; one copy to the Processing Campus in Ogden: two
copies each to the EO Area Managers in Newark, Brooklyn, Chicago, St. Paul, Atlanta,
Los Angeles, the IRS National Headquarters and the Director, EO Examinations, Dallas.’

The conditions concerning the retention of your group exemption as set forth in our
previous determination letter of August 17, 1983, remain in full force and effect.

Sincerely,

é for Janna Skufca, Director, TE/GE

Customer Account Services
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APPENDIX 5

By-Laws of
Holy Cross College, Inc.

ARTICLE | - GENERAL

Section 1 — Name

The legal name of this corporation is HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC. The corporation is an
Indiana Not-For Profit corporation with its principal office in Notre Dame, Indiana, which is
now incorporated pursuant to the Indiana Not-For-Profit Corporation Act of 1971. Throughout
these By-laws, the minutes of the corporation and resolutions passed by the Board of Trustees,
this corporation may be known or identified as “college”, the terms "college" and "corporation”
being interchangeable.

Section 2 — Purpose
This corporation is organized for the following purposes:

To establish, maintain and operate a college for students to obtain an education in the liberal arts
and sciences, in all their various forms, based on the tradition and teachings of the Roman
Catholic Church;

To establish courses of study and to confer and grant such degrees and diplomas upon its gradu-
ates and upon such other persons as may be deemed worthy;

To conduct educational institutions promoting the advancement and diffusion of religion, char-
ity and education, and to do any and all things incidental, necessary or convenient to obtain
the object and purpose set forth, in general, to do any and all things authorized by the
"Indiana General Not-for-Profit Act™;

PROVIDED, however, that (1) no part of the net earnings of the corporation shall inure to the
benefit of or be distributable to any member, director, trustee or officer of the corporation
or any other private individual, except that a member may be an officer, director, trustee or
employee of the corporation in which event such member may receive fair and reasonable
compensation for his services as such officer, director, trustee or employee and a member
may receive principal and interest on money loaned or advanced to the corporation as per-
mitted by law; (2) the corporation shall not carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to
influence legislation, or participate in or intervene in (including the publishing or distribu-
tion of statements) any political campaign in behalf of any candidate for public office; (3)
the corporation shall not engage in any activity which would cause it to be ineligible for
exemption under Section 501(c)(3) of the Indiana Revenue Code of 1954, the amendments
thereof or supplements thereto, or any other act or section of said Code wholly or partly
exempting such corporation from the payment of federal taxes on income.
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Section 3 — Seal

The seal of this corporation shall be a disc, consisting of an outer circle having on its circumfer-
ence the words "HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC." and the word "SEAL" in the center of the
circle.

Section 4 - Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of this corporation shall run from July 1st to June 30th of the succeeding year.

ARTICLE Il - MEMBERS

Section 1 - Qualifications

Section

Section

Section

The Members of this corporation shall be identical to the members of Brothers of Holy Cross
Midwest Province Provincial Council in its entirety as that council is determined from time to
time plus the President of Holy Cross College if he is a member of the Brothers of Holy Cross,
but not serving on the Provincial Council of the Midwest Province. If that council ceases to ex-
ist, the Members of this corporation shall be those members existing at the time of the termina-
tion of that council and as elected thereafter from time to time by the then existing Members of
this corporation.

Such membership shall continue indefinitely and from year to year, provided however, that the
Member remain a member of the Brothers of Holy Cross Midwest Province Provincial council
and should he lose that status at any time, he shall no longer be a Member of this corporation.
However, his replacement on the council shall ipso facto become a Member of this corporation.

2 - Place of Meetings

Meetings of Members of the corporation shall be held at Notre Dame, Indiana, or such other
place as may be designated in the call of the meeting.

3 - Time of Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of the Members will be held on or after July 1st of each year at 10:00 a.m.
for the purpose of electing Trustees to the Board of Trustees, hearing reports from the Board of
Trustees and considering such other business as may properly come before the meeting. If for
any reason the meeting is not held at the time aforesaid, the Board of Trustees shall fix another
date for such meeting.

4 - Special Meetings
Special meetings of the members may be called from time to time by five (5) Trustees or any
five (5) corporate Members, upon ten (10) days notice of such meeting.

[ HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF-STUDY ] PAGE 2



APPENDIX 5

Section 5 - Notice of Meetings - Annual and Special

A written or printed notice stating the place, date and hour of the meeting, and in case of a spe-
cial meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered or
mailed by the Secretary of the corporation to such address as appears on the records of the cor-
poration at least ten (10) days before the date of the meeting.

Section 6 - Voting Rights

No member of the corporation shall have the right to vote unless he then be a member of the
Brothers of the Holy Cross Midwest Province Provincial council or the President of the College.

Section 7 - Quorum

One-half of the Members of the corporation shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of busi-
ness at any annual or special meeting of the Members of the corporation.

Section 8 - Power to Make and Amend Articles and By-Laws

The Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of this corporation may be altered or amended only
by its corporate Members, including the fixing and altering of the number of Trustees.

Section 9 - Power to Elect or Remove Officers and Fill Vacancies

The Members of the corporation shall elect the President of the College who shall ipso facto be
a member of the Board of Trustees. The President of the College may be removed by the Mem-
bers whenever in the judgment of the members the best interest of the corporation will be served
thereby. The Members shall have no power to fill any vacancy in the office of President occur-
ring for any reason whatsoever.

ARTICLE 11l - BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1 - General Powers

The prudential and financial affairs of this corporation shall be managed and controlled by the
Board of Trustees. The Board shall be responsible for the governance of the college, except for
those powers reserved to the Members in the Articles of Incorporation. The Board shall have the
power to appoint committees or other functions normally reserved to Boards of Directors or
Boards of Trustees.

Section 2 - Number and Qualification; Vacancies
The Board of Trustees shall be initially composed of five (5) members, but hereafter shall be
composed of no less than fourteen (14) members and no more than thirty-five (35) members

with no limitation as to the number of religious or lay persons who shall be elected by the corpo-
rate Members.
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The Provincial of the Brothers of Holy Cross Midwest Province or his designee (hereinafter re-
ferred to as Provincial) and the President of the College are, by virtue of their positions, members
of the Board of Trustees with full voting rights. They shall be counted in the total number of
member Trustees. The Provincial and President will remain as Trustees as long as they hold their
respective positions.

Except for the Provincial and the President, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Trustees
caused by death, resignation or otherwise, shall be filled by a majority vote of the remaining
members of the Board until the next meeting of the Members of the corporation, at which time
the Members by majority vote shall elect a new Trustee to fill the unexpired term left by the va-
cancy.

Section 3 - Term of Office

When there are less than nine Trustees, they shall each serve for three-year terms. When the
Board of Trustees consists of nine or more members, each Trustee thereafter shall be elected for
three years, except for the first two years during which the terms of Trustees shall be staggered
resulting in the Trustees being divided into three groups whose terms of office shall expire at dif-
ferent times. An elected Trustee is eligible for reelection, subject to evaluation and recommenda-
tions by the Nominating Committee.

At each annual meeting of the corporation thereafter, the Members shall elect the Trustees whose
terms are then expiring and any vacancies.

Section 4 - Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held at the time, place and hour set by the
Chairperson of the Board of Trustees, or if not set by the Chairperson, then immediately after and
at the place of the annual meeting of the corporate members. The purpose of the annual meeting
shall be for the election of officers other than President of the college and for the transaction of
such other business as may come before the meeting.

Section 5 - Regular and Special Meetings

Regular and special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called at any time by the Chairper-
son of the Board of Trustees or, in his or her absence or inability, the Vice-Chairperson, or by
petition of at least three (3) Trustees. Notice of any meeting shall be provided to all Trustees at
least ten (10) days prior to the date of such meeting. There shall be a minimum of two meetings
of the Board of Trustees each fiscal year.

Section 6 - Quorum

A majority of the Board of Trustees shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at
any meeting of the Board; if less than a majority of the Trustees are present, those Trustees pre-
sent may adjourn the meeting without further notice.

Section 7 - Manner of Acting
The acts of the majority of the Trustees present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be
the act of the Board of Trustees except where otherwise provided by law or by these By-Laws.
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Section 8 - Informal Action

Unless specifically prohibited by the Articles of Incorporation or by the By-Laws, any action
which is required to be taken or may be taken at a meeting of the Board of Trustees, may be
taken without a meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth the action to be taken, shall be
signed by all Trustees entitled to vote with respect to the subject matter of the action. Any such
consent signed by all Trustees shall have the same effect as a unanimous vote and may be
stated as such in any document required to be filled with the Secretary of State of Indiana.

Section 9 - Compensation

Trustees shall not be paid compensation for their services as a Trustee. However, nothing
herein contained shall be construed to prohibit payment of compensation to an individual who
serves as a Trustee for services rendered to the corporation in another capacity.

Section 10 - Trustee Emeriti

Upon recommendation of the Nominating Committee, trustees who have served with distinc-
tion for at least two terms may be elected by the majority of trustees and the Corporate Mem-
bers as trustees emeriti. Terms shall be three years and shall be renewable provided the total
number of trustees emeriti does not exceed one-third of the total number of regular voting trus-
tees. Trustees emeriti shall be eligible to serve on board committees except for the Executive
Committee and the Nominating Committee, with vote, and shall speak freely at all board and
committee meetings. They shall not have voting privileges at board meetings and shall not be
counted as part of the quorum determinations. Trustees emeriti shall be sent notices and min-
utes of all board meetings and are encouraged to attend board meetings or otherwise accept
special assignments that are helpful to the board of trustees and the College.

ARTICLE IV - OFFICERS

Section 1 - Officers

The Officers of the corporation shall consist of a Chairperson, a Vice-Chairperson, a President,
a Treasurer, and a Secretary. The Board of Trustees may elect such other officers, including
one or more Vice-Presidents, as it deems necessary time to time. Any one person may serve in
several offices at the same time except that the duties of the President and Secretary shall not
be performed by the same person.

Section 2 - Election and Term of Office

All officers, except the President of the College, shall be elected by the Board of Trustees on
the recommendation of the President. Each officer shall hold office until a successor is chosen
and qualified, death, resignation, or removal in the manner hereinafter provided.
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Section 3 - Resignation or Removal

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Trustees, or to the
Chairman of the Board or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified
therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be
necessary to make it effective.

Any officer may be removed if the best interests of the corporation will be served by the vote of
a majority of the actual number of Trustees elected and qualified at a special meeting called for
that purpose.

Section 4 - Chairperson of the Board

The Chairperson of the Board, who shall be elected from among the Trustees, shall preside at all
meetings of the Board of Trustees if present and shall, in general, perform all duties incident to
the office of Chairman of the Board and such other duties as, from time to time, may be as-
signed by the Board of Trustees.

Section 5 - Vice-Chairperson

The Board of Trustees may, in their discretion, elect one or more Vice-Chairpersons who shall
have the duties as determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 6 - President

The Board of Trustees shall delegate to the President who shall also act as Chief Executive Offi-
cer of the corporation the necessary authority and responsibility for the administration of the
affairs of the Corporation, subject only to such By-Laws as may be adopted and such orders and
duties as may be issued by the Board of Trustees. The President shall advise and make recom-
mendations to the Board of Trustees relating to the operation of the corporation and long range
planning. The President may sign with the Secretary, or other proper officer of the corporation
authorized by the Board of Trustees, any deeds, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the
Board of Trustees has authorized to be executed. The President shall have full authority to sign
all contracts relating to the normal course of business of the corporation.

Section 7 - Vice-President

The Board of Trustees may, in their discretion, elect one or more Vice-Presidents who shall
have the duties as determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees.

Section 8 - Treasurer

The Treasurer shall be responsible for the custody of the funds and securities of the corporation
and shall advise the Board of Trustees respecting its financial condition and the handling of its
monies and investments and shall perform such additional duties as may be assigned by the
President or the Board of Trustees.
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Section 9 - Secretary

The Secretary shall sign documents of the corporation from time to time as required, be respon-
sible for and maintain the minutes and records of the Board of Trustees as well as the corporate
minutes and records. The Secretary shall see that all notices are duly given in accordance with
the provisions of these By-Laws, or as required by law; and shall be custodian of the corporate
records. The Secretary shall sign all documents as required, and shall perform such duties as
may be assigned by the President.

Section 10 - Bonding

The President, Treasurer, and any person in a financial or other responsible position specified by
the Members shall give a bond in such amount as required by the Trustees.

ARTICLE V- COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

Section 1 - Mission Integrity Committee

This committee shall review annually the mission and integrity of the College pertaining to its
identity as a Catholic institution of higher learning within the traditions of the Congregation of
Holy Cross. Members of this committee shall include the Provincial of the Brothers of Holy
Cross, Midwest Province and/or his delegate(s), the President of the College the Chairperson of
the Board of Trustees, and the Vice Chairperson of the Board of Trustees.

Section 2 - Executive Committee

The Executive Committee may be activated at any time by any officer of the corporation and
shall consist of the President, the Chairperson of the Board, and at least one other trustee nomi-
nated and approved by majority vote of the entire Board of Trustees. The Executive Committee
shall have the authority to transact all regular business of the college between meetings of the
Board of Trustees, provided that no action so taken shall be in conflict with the express policies
of the Board of Trustees. The Executive Committee, however, shall not have the power to em-
ploy or discharge persons associated with the corporation, nor may it amend these By-Laws. All
actions of the Executive Committee must be ratified, confirmed, and approved by the Trustees at
its next regular meeting.

The Executive Committee shall meet by the call of any officer of the corporation. A majority of the mem-
bers shall constitute a quorum and acts of a majority of those present at a meeting at which a quorum is
present shall be the acts of the Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee shall not have the authority of the Board of Trustees in reference to amending

the Articles of Incorporation or the By-Laws which are powers reserved to the Members, proposing a spe-
cial corporate transaction or adopting any agreement or plan of merger or consolidation
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Section 3 - Committee on Trustees

The Chairperson, the President, and Trustees appointed by the Chairperson shall act as a Committee on
Trustees. It shall present the Board of Trustees nominations for chairperson, vice-chairperson, secretary,
and treasurer. It also shall nominate at-large member(s) of the Board of Trustees to serve on the Execu-
tive Committee for one-year terms. The committee shall furnish information relating to the background
and qualifications of all such nominees at least two weeks prior to meetings at which an election or ap-
pointment is scheduled to take place.

The committee shall maintain a current profile of the board’s membership composition to guide the selec-
tion process. It shall annually review the performance of incumbent trustees and board officers who are
eligible for reelection, and it shall develop and help administer a program of orientation with the President
for newly elected trustees. The committee shall also, subject to the requirements as set forth in these By-
Laws, nominate new members for the Board of Trustees and Trustees Emeriti. It shall encourage periodic
programs of in service education for the board. The committee shall report to the board at meetings and
otherwise as circumstances dictate.

Section 4 - Academic Affairs Committee

The Academic Affairs Committee shall have the responsibility to ensure that the educational program is
consistent with both institutional mission and strategies; ensure that the academic budget reflects the Col-
lege’s academic priorities; ensure that faculty personnel policies and procedures complement academic
priorities; ensure that the College’s academic programs are appropriate to its students; and, ensure that the
institution assesses the effectiveness of its academic activities.

Section 5 - Student Life Committee

The Student Life Committee shall have the responsibility to represent students’ interests in the board’s
policy making activities; ensure adequate resources for student life programs; keep pace with the chang-
ing needs of students; and, maintain visibility as stewards of student health and welfare.

Section 6 - Development Committee

The Development Committee shall have the responsibility to promote an understanding of the role fund-
raising plays in the life of the College; educate and encourage board members to participate in fund-
raising; ensure that the College has a clear statement of mission and a current statement of priorities; set
policies and guidelines for fund-raising; help evaluate the development staff and budget; determine the
effective use of fund-raising counsel; help set goals for board member giving; and, identify, evaluate, and
assign gift prospects.

Section 7 - Finance Committee

The Finance Committee shall have the responsibility to oversee current financial operations; plan long-
range financial operations; and, communicate and educate the board on financial matters
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related to College operations. The Finance Committee also shall have the responsibility to de-
velop strategies and guidelines to meet investment policies established by the board. It shall
also have the responsibility to establish the scope of each audit; review audit reports; review
management letters; nominate auditors; and, monitor Trustee conflict of interest.

Section 8 - Buildings and Grounds Committee

The Buildings and Grounds Committee shall have the responsibility to review the adequacy and
condition of existing facilities; establish physical planning policies; make recommendations on
the renewal or replacement of major capital assets; and, assist in planning for the financing of
capital improvement projects.

Section 9 - Appointment of Committee Members and Committee Meetings

The Chairperson, with the approval of the full Board of Trustees, shall appoint the Chair and the
members of the standing Committees following the annual meeting. Such appointments must
conform to any restrictions that may be written in these By-Laws.

Unless otherwise provided in these By-Laws, the Chair or any two members of a particular
standing committee may call that committee into session. Notice shall be in writing addressed
to the last known address of each committee member, and shall be mailed at least five (5) days
prior to the date of such meeting. Actions may be taken by the committee without a meeting if a
consent in writing, setting forth the actions to be taken, shall be signed by all of the members of
the committee. A majority of the members of the committee shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business.

Section 10 - Establishment and Appointment of Special Committees

The Chairperson of the Board may appoint special committees as they are deemed necessary by
the Board of Trustees. Except as may be directed by these By-Laws or the Board of Trustees,
members of special committees need not be members of the Board of Trustees or Corporate
Members. The Chair of each special committee shall be designated by the Chairperson of the
Board, who also shall designate the terms of the special committee members. The President and
the Chairperson of the Board shall be a voting member of each committee to which they may be
assigned. All committees shall keep a record of proceedings and the minutes of the meetings
shall be submitted to the Board for approval.

ARTICLE VI - CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DEPOSITS AND FUNDS

Section 1 - Contracts

The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation, in addition
to the officers so authorized by these By-Laws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver
any instrument in the name of the corporation. Such authority may be general or confined to
specific instances.
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Section 2 - Checks, Drafts, Etc.

All checks, drafts or other orders for payment of money, notes or evidence of indebtedness is-
sued in the name of the corporation shall be signed by such officer(s) or agent(s) of the corpora-
tion in such a manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board of
Trustees.

Section 3 - Deposits

All funds of the corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the corporation
in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Trustees may select.

ARTICLE VII - INDEMNIFICATION

The corporation shall indemnify any and all of its past and present directors, committee mem-
bers or officers; its employees, agents, or any person who may have served at its request or by its elec-
tion as a trustee or officer of another corporation or association, or his heirs, executors and administra-
tors, against expenses (including attorney's fees, judgements, fines and amounts paid in settlement) nec-
essarily incurred by them in connection with the defense or settlement of any action, suit or proceeding
in which they, or any of them, are made parties or a party by reason of being or having been trustees,
committee members, officers, employees or agents of the corporation or of such other corporation or
association. Indemnification shall not extend to any matter in which such trustee or officer or person
shall be adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding to be liable for misconduct in the performance of
duty, or to such matters as shall be settled predicated on the existence of such liability based upon mis-
conduct or actions taken not in good faith. The termination of any action suit or proceeding by judge-
ment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of it-
self, create a presumption that the person engaged in willful misconduct or in conduct opposed to the
best interests of the corporation. The provisions of this section are severable and, therefore, if any of its
provisions shall contravene or be invalidated under the laws of a particular jurisdiction, such contraven-
tion or invalidity shall not invalidate the entire section, but it shall be construed as if not containing the
particular provisions held to be invalid in the particular jurisdiction and the remaining provisions shall
be construed and enforced accordingly. The foregoing right of indemnification shall be in addition to
and not exclusive of all other rights to which such trustee, committee member, officer, employee or
agent may be entitled.

ARTICLE VIII - BOOKS RECORDS AND ACCOUNTS

The corporation shall keep, or cause to be kept, correct and complete books and records of ac-
count and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Trustees and its committees and/or
membership, all of which shall be kept separate and apart from the books, records, accounts and minutes
of its subsidiaries and affiliates. In addition, the corporation shall annually cause a certified audit of its
accounts to be made and shall cause to be filed the necessary reports, tax returns and other documents as
may be required by law on its own behalf.
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ARTICLE IX - WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the Indiana Not-For-Profit
Corporation Act or under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation or the By-Laws of this corpora-
tion, a waiver of notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the
giving of such notice.

ARTICLE X - OFFICES AND AGENT

The corporation shall maintain continuously in this state a registered office and resident agent
whose office is identical with the registered office. The corporation may have other offices within or
without the State of Indiana as the Board of Trustees may from time to time determine.

Last Amended: June 13, 1997

BY-LAWS ADDENDUM

The following are the reserve powers of the Corporate Members as detailed in the Articles of Incorpora-
tion under Article V.

The reserve powers of the Members are to:

Q) amend the By-Laws and these Atrticles,

(2 approve any deficit budget,

3) elect or remove at any time without cause any trustee,

4 elect the President of the Corporation, that term being used interchangeably
with "College,"

(5) promulgate changes in the purpose or direction of college programs of
the corporation,

(6) require bonding of the President of the college, the college financial officers, and any
person in a financial or other responsible position which they specify,

(7 construct any new or alter any existing facilities involving expenditure in excess of

$200,000.00,
(8) partially or totally dissolve the corporation,
9) in the event of dissolution, specify the distribution of assets in accordance with the

terms of these Articles, and
(10)  sell, mortgage, pledge or alienate all or any part of the real estate or substantially all of
the remaining assets of the corporation.
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APPENDIX 6

Holy Cross College
Board of Trustees

Jerry B. Love
Chair
Kalamazoo, Michigan

Richard J. Rice
Vice Chair
Mishawaka, Indiana

Brother Richard Gilman, cs.C,
College President
Notre Dame, Indiana

Brother Robert Fillmore, c.s.C.
Provincial
Notre Dame, Indiana

David P. Bender, Jr.
Ojai, California

John (Jack) Berges

Notre Dame, Indiana

John Carnesale
Las Vegas, Nevada

Brother James Everett, C.S.C
Lakewood, Ohio

Daniel B. Fitzpatrick
South Bend, Indiana

William Giles
Lexington, Kentucky

Deborah A. Foley
Melbourne, Florida

Luanne Hallet
Huntington Beach, California

John Hardesty
Morgantown, West Virginia

Dr. Gregory Hoffman
Ft. Wayne, Indiana

Michael J. Kiley
Marion, Indiana

Christine Klauer
Granger, Indiana

Dr. Michael Method
Granger, Indiana
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Lucille McKenna
Arlington Heights, Illinois

Mark McNamee
Granger, Indiana

Terence O’Reilly
Eden Prairie, Minnesota

Mark Pulte

Boca Raton, Florida

Brian Regan
South Bend, Indiana

John Rosenthal
Mishawaka, Indiana

Father Kevin Russeau, C.S.C
Notre Dame, Indiana

Tim Shelby
Granger, Indiana

T. Hastings Siegfried

Tulsa, Oklahoma

Brother Philip Smith, c.s.c.
Notre Dame, Indiana

Thomas Sopko
South Bend, Indiana

Brother Donald Stabrowski, C.S.C.
Portland, Oregon

Mark Tabit

Pacific Palisades, California

Anthony P. Uebelhor
Jasper, Indiana

Gary Vanderbeek
Edwardsburg, Michigan

Robert Wade
South Bend, Indiana

Paula Waters
Chicago, Illinois
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APPENDIX 7

Board Resolution Seeking Accreditation

Resolution

The Board of Trustees directs the administration, faculty, and staff of Holy Cross
College to pursue continued affiliation with the Higher Learning Commission of
the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

The Board of Trustees authorizes the administration, faculty, and staff of Holy
Cross College to continue planning requests for change in the college’s affilia-
tion status with the Higher Learning Commission. These requests for change
should seek authorization for the college to offer more baccalaureate programs.
The requests for change should include proposals for new programs in teacher
education and theology.
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2006-2007 Faculty Roster

Faculty (*Adjunct Faculty)

Jane Allen

Academic Advising, Mathematics
B.S., University of Missouri
MAT., Webster University

John E. Alter

Chemistiry, Division Chair
B.5., University of lowa
Ph.D., Cornell University

Reverend Maurice Amen, C.5.C.
Philosophy, Religious Studies
A.B., University of Notre Dame
M.A., University of Notre Dame
M.A., Holy Cross College (D.C.)
J.C.L., Catholic University of America

Ann Baldinger
Speech; Division Chair
B.A_, Rosary College
M.A., University of Notre Dame

Henry Borne

Anthropology: Sociology
B.A., College of Wooster
M.A., University of Notre Dame
Ph.D., University of Notre Dame

*Thomas Burzycki

Business
B.B.A., Loyola University
M.B.A., DePaul University

Susan Dewvetski

Education; Division Chair
B.S., Indiana University
M.S_, Indiana University
Ph.D., St. Louis University

Brian DevleseHoward

Director, Conditional Acceptance Program
B.A_. Southern [llinois University
M.A., Southern [llinois University

Brother Chris Dreyer, C.5.C.
Conununity Involvement
AA L Holy Cross Junior College
B.A., University of Notre Dame
M.S., Indiana University
M.S.W., Western Michigan University

*Regina Falker

Music
B.M., [linois State University
M.M., Indiana University

Diane Fox

Director, Academic Advising

B 5., Indiana University

M.A | University of Motre Dame

Mary Victoria Frohne
Physics
B.A., Elmhurst College
M.5., Purdue University

Ph.D., Kansas State University
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Edward T. Gareau

Philosophy: Religious Siudies
A.B., Borromeo College
S.T.L., Catholic University of America
S.8.L., Gregorian University

Brother Richard Gilman, C.5.C.
Mathematics
B.S., Saint Edward’s University
M.A., Harvard University
Ph.D, University of Dayton

Michael Griffin

Coordinator, International Programs; Religious Studies
B.A., University of Notre Dame
M. Div., University of Notre Dame

Brian Greve

Director, Assessment; English, Imterdisciplinary Studiex
B_A., University of Notre Dame
M.A., University of Michigan

*Brother Raymond Harrington, C.5.C.
Writing Tutor Cenier
B_A., Saint Edward’s University
M.A., DePaul University

*Jack Kapsa
Art
B_S., Indiana University
M.F A, University of Notre Dame

Reverend Thomas King, C.5.C.
History
B_A_, University of Notre Dame
M.A., Holy Cross College (D.C.)
M.A., University of Notre Dame

Robert Kloska

Director, Campus Ministry; Philosophy; Religious Studies

B.B.A., University of Notre Dame
M.A., Franciscan University

Brother James Leik, C.5.C.

Business; College Archivist
B.A. Saint Edward’s University
M.A ., University of [linois
M.B.A., University of Notre Dame

William T. Mangan

Interdisciplinary Studies
B.S., University of South Dakota
M.A., University of Minnesota
Ph.D., University of Minnesota

A, Jean Marquez

Director, Mathematics Laboraiory, Mathematics
B.A., Kent State University
M.Ed., Eastern Michigan University

Mary Merrill

Computer Science; Mathematics
B.A., Saint Mary’s College
B.5., Indiana University
M.5., Indiana University
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#Stephen Miceli

Histary
B.A., Edinboro University of Pennsylvania
M.A., University of Toledo
Ph.D_ {Candidate), University of Toledo

*Angela Michielutti

Art; Computer Science
B.A., Saint Mary’s College
M.F.A., University of Notre Dame

*Cail Miller

Political Science
B.A., University of Notre Dame
M.S.Ed., Indiana University

*Richard Mullin

Business
E.M_B.A. University of Notre Dame
BB A, University of Notre Dame

Aloysius Niemier
Mathematics
B.S., University of Idaho
M.S., University of Notre Dame

Sandra Ohlund

Director, Honors Program; Spanish
B.A., Indiana University
M.A, Indiana University

*Rhett Poche

Art
B_A.. University of New Orleans
M.F.A_, University of Notre Dame

John D. Raymer

English
B.A_, Wittenberg University
M.A., National University of Ireland
Ph.D., Ohio University

*Dianne Reardon
Philosophy: Religious Studies
B.S., Purdue University
M.Div., University of Notre Dame
D.Min. (Candidate), Catholic Theological Union

#James Robinson

Theatre
B.S., Indiana State University
M.F.A_, University of Pittsburgh

Suzanne T. Schoen

Director, Center for Faculty Development; English
B.A., Rosary College
M.A., Purdue University

Melissa Smeltzer
Religious Studies
B.A., University of Evansville
M.A_, Saint Meinred School of Theology
Ph.D. {Candidate), Catholic University of Americ
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Reverend Michael B. Sullivan, C.5.C.
Philosophy; Religious Studies : Division Chair
A.B.. Stonehill College
M.Th., University of Notre Dame
M.A., University of Notre Dame

*Joanne Swenson-Eldrnidge
Music
B.A., St. Olaf College
M A_, University of lowa
Ph.D., University of lowa

Reverend Merwyn Thomas, C.5.C.
Mathematics
B.A., University of Notre Dame
M.A. Holy Cross College (D.C.)
M. Ed., Our Lady of the Lake Seminary
M.S.. Saint Mary’s University

Brother John Tryon, C.S5.C.
Director, Writing Center; English
B.A.. University of Notre Dame
M.A., Mundelein College
M_.A.. DePaul University
M. A, Mundelein College

Brother Lawrence Unfried, C.S.C.
Biology
B.S., University of Notre Dame
M.5., University of Notre Dame
M.P.S., Loyola University of Chicago

Faculty Emeriti

Winifred P. Caponigri

Associate Professor Emeritus
B.A., Western Michigan University
M.S., University of Notre Dame

Doris Van Auken

Psychology; Division Chair
B.S., University of Alabama
B_A.. University of Alabama
M.S., Mississippi State University
Ph.D._, Saint Louis University

*Robert Van Horn
Economics
B.A ., Malone College
M.A., University of Notre Dame
A.B.D. (Candidate), University of Notre Dame

Justin Watson
Director, Liberal Studies Program; English;
Interdisciplinary Studies
B.A., University of Nevada
M.A., Eastern Washington University
Ph.D., University of Notre Dame

*Mark Welch

Arit
BA, Louisiana College
MFA, Louisiana Tech University
MBA, University of Notre Dame

FAntonia Wright

Spanish
BA, Ball State University
ME, Butler University
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APPENDIX 9

Enrollment Statistics
Fall 2005

Full-time Students: 328
Part-time Students: 41
Degree Seeking Students: 348

Guest Students: 21
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APPENDIX 10

Holy Cross College
Professional Affiliations

e Association of Catholic Colleges and Universities (ACCU)

e National Association of Independent Colleges and Universities (NAICU)
e Indiana Campus Compact

e National Campus Compact

e Indiana Commission on Higher Education (ICHE)

e Independent Colleges of Indiana (ICI)

e Center for Academic Integrity (CAI)

e Indiana Student Financial Aid Association

e Council for the Advancement and Support of Education (CASE)

e Indiana Council for Continuing Education

e Michigan Association of College Admissions Councilor

e Ohio Association of College Admissions Councilors

¢ Indiana Association of Collegiate Registrars

e National Association of Student Financial Aid Officers

e American Association of College Registrars and Admissions Officers (AACRAO)
o lllinois Association of College Admissions Councilors

e Association for Student Affairs at Catholic Colleges and Universities (ASACCU)
e Association of Governing Boards (AGB)

e Association for Integrative Studies

e National Association of College Administrators

¢ National Academic Advising Association

e National Collegiate Honors Council

e The College Board

e Chamber of Commerce

¢ North Central Association (Commission on Higher Education)

o National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO).
e National College Learning Center Association (NCLCA)

e Association for Christians in Student Development (ACSD)

e Collaboration for the Advancement of College Teaching and Learning

e Phi Theta Kappa

e Psi Beta
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APPENDIX 11
Bachelor of Arts Degree Requirements

Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Studies

Students in the liberal studies program register for prescribed core courses and electives
that suit their career and educational interests. Students in the program may elect to
complete optional academic concentrations in business and economics, information
technology, literature, psychology, and theology. Students may also use the curriculum
as prelaw preparation. The following sample curriculum outlines a plan for completion
of the liberal studies program starting in the junior year.

JUNIOR YEAR
The Competency
to See

Summer

Fall Semester

Spring Semester

the program)

(3) International
Experience (or
at other time in

Foundations Core

Connections Core

3) Art&
Literature of the
World |

(3) Art & Literature of the

World Il

(3) Theology

(3) Statistics & Reasoning

(3) Global Issues I

(3) Global Issues Il

(3) Business
Leadership in the
Global Marketplace |

(3) Business Leadership in the

Global Marketplace 11

(1) Integrative
Seminar

(1) Integrative Seminar

(3) Elective

(3) Elective

(16) Semester
Credit Hours

(16) Semester Credit Hours
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SENIOR YEAR
The Courage to Act

Summer

Fall Semester

Spring Semester

(3) Internship (or at some
other time during the year)

Outreach Core

"Light for All" Core

(3) American Experience |

(3) American Experience I

(4) Topics in Science

(3) Theology

(3) Social Stratification

(3) Communications

(3) Service Learning

(3) Integrative Seminar

(1) Integrative Seminar

(3) Senior Capstone Project
& Presentation

(3) Elective

(17) Semester Credit Hours

(15) Semester Credit Hours

(70) Total Credit Hours

Graduation Requirements

In order to qualify for the bachelor of arts degree, a student must satisfy the following

requirements:

1. A minimum cumulative grade point average of 2.0

2. Completion of the program core courses, including an approved international
experience, an internship in an appropriate career field, a service learning pract
icum, and the senior learning project

3. Completion of the college’s general education or its equivalent

4. If elected, completion of necessary coursework to qualify for selected academic
concentration (business and economics, information technology, literature, psy
chology, and theology).

5. Sufficient electives to total 125 semester hours of credit

A maximum of 61 semester hours of transfer credit may be counted toward the bachelor

of arts degree.
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APPENDIX 12
General Education

Completion of the general education curriculum of Holy Cross College qualifies a student to
receive the Associate of Arts degree. General education incorporates the following require-
ments:

1. A minimum cumulative grade point average of 2.0
2. Completion of the First-Year Seminar course (HCCC 101) or its equivalent
3. Specific academic division requirements
Division of Theology and Philosophy
Nine semester hours
THEO 140 (Introduction to Theology) required
One other theology course required
One philosophy course required
Division of Humanities

Six semester hours
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APPENDIX 13

Holy Cross College Admissions Policies
and Procedures

Applicants to Holy Cross College may submit a paper application form or the electronic online ver-
sion located on the college web site at www.hcc-nd.edu. Paper and electronic applications are treated
equally.

All completed admissions files are reviewed by the college’s Admissions Committee. The Admis-
sions Committee may choose to accept or reject any applicant for admission. Some students may be
offered probationary or conditional acceptance to the college. Such students may need to complete cer-
tain requirements before being fully admitted to the college. Students are designated with an enrollment
status upon entry to the college, and these statuses include degree-seeking, probationary, conditional
acceptance, and guest.

Holy Cross College admits students of any race, color, national and ethnic origin to all the rights,
privileges, programs and activities generally accorded or made available to students at the college. It
does not discriminate on the basis of religion, race, color, gender, disability, national and ethnic origin in
the administration of its educational policies, admission policies, scholarship and loan programs, athletic
and other programs.

Interviews and Campus Visit

Applicants are encouraged to visit the campus for an admission interview either before or after ap-
plying for admission. Although most interviews include an informal meeting with an admission coun-
selor and a tour of the campus, students may also request to sit in on classes, talk with an academic advi-
sor or faculty member, meet financial aid staff, and sample a meal in the cafeteria. Appointments should
be made as far in advance as possible by contacting the Admissions Office.

Scholastic Record

Entering students are expected to have successfully completed a college preparatory high school
program of at least 16 academic units. One unit is equivalent to a full year of study in a college prepara-
tory subject.

Recommended
Units
4 English - Composition and Literature
3 College-preparatory Mathematics
1 Laboratory Science
2 History or Social Science
2 Foreign Language
4 College-preparatory electives

A student who has the General Education Development (GED) certificate may be considered for
admission to Holy Cross College. In addition to submitting the GED scores and certificate, an official
transcript of completed high school course work is required.
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Placement Testing

Some entering students may be required or advised to take placement tests in certain aca-
demic disciplines, such as mathematics. Placement tests are used as a tool of academic advising,
as placement results may indicate courses that are most appropriate for a student’s skills.

Admission Procedures for First-Time Students

Applicants for admission as degree-seeking students may apply to Holy Cross College at any
time. However, in order to allow ample time for review, applications should be submitted prior to
July 31 for the subsequent fall semester and December 15 for the subsequent spring semester.
Students applying for on-campus housing should submit their applications for admission as early as
possible because of space limitations. On-campus housing is allocated based on the date of resi-
dence application, and students may submit a residence application only after they are admitted to
the college.

A completed admission application file for a degree-seeking student includes the following
items:

A completed Application for Admission form (paper or electronic).
A non-refundable $50 application fee.

Official transcripts from high school and other colleges. Transcripts should include an explana-
tion of the grading system and a listing of courses in progress, if applicable. All final tran-
scripts must be submitted before the admission application file will be reviewed.

Results of the College Board SAT | or the ACT. Applicants should request a copy of scores to be
sent to Holy Cross College (SAT code 1309, ACT code 1203). A student who has already
taken the SAT or ACT but did not designate Holy Cross College to receive the results
should ask the high school to include the scores with the final transcript.

Results of the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) for applicants who are non-native
English speakers.
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College curriculum. A transfer course which does not parallel a course offered at Holy Cross may
be accepted if it appears the course is suitable for elective credit. Courses that are graded on a pass/fail
basis are not acceptable for transfer.

Procedures for International Students

International students applying to Holy Cross College must satisfy all application requirements
before visas will be issued to study in the United States. The application process for international
students is the same as for other students with the addition of the following:

1. Each student for whom English is not a first language must submit results from the Test of Eng-
lish as a Foreign Language (TOEFL). For information about taking the TOEFL, visit the Educational
Testing Service Web site at www.toefl.org.

Citizens of other countries are required to submit proof that sufficient financial resources are avail-
able to cover educational expenses while attending Holy Cross College.

Students submitting TOEFL scores must achieve 550 or above on the written examination (212
or above on the computerized examination) to be admitted as regular degree-seeking students.
Students who score below 550 (211 computerized or below) may be admitted to the college with
academic conditions..

Readmission

All students who withdraw or are dismissed from Holy Cross College and wish to return are re-
quired to submit an Application Reactivation form. Students who are dismissed for academic reasons
may only apply for readmission after the time indicated in the dismissal letter. Students who are dis-
missed for disciplinary reasons are not eligible for readmission. Students applying for readmission are
reviewed by the Admissions Committee.

Advanced Placement Credit

Advanced Placement Examinations are administered through the high school after an advanced
placement course has been completed as part of the high school curriculum. College credit may be
gained by a student who has achieved a satisfactory score of three or higher on the Advanced Placement
Examination of the College Board. Credits for the corresponding courses at Holy Cross College will
count towards the fulfillment of all college requirements.
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The Enrollment Process

A student who is accepted to the college will receive notification of acceptance after review
of the completed admissions file by the Admissions Committee . The notification of accep-
tance to the college will indicate the admissions status that the student has been assigned
(degree-seeking, probationary, conditional acceptance, or guest). A student who is accepted
will be asked to follow these procedures:

Confirm enrollment intent by submitting a $250 enrollment deposit within a specific number of days
after receiving notification of acceptance. The deposit is applied to tuition and is refundable in
full if written notification of cancellation is received prior to July 1 for the fall semester or De-
cember 1 for the spring semester.

Apply for on-campus housing. If a student wishes to live on campus, the Residence and Food Ser-
vice Application should be submitted as early as possible. Demand for on-campus housing is
high and early application is recommended. Students are assigned rooms on a first-come, first-
served basis. After all hall space is committed, resident waiting lists are started.

Complete any required course placement tests. For students required to take placement tests, test
results are used by academic advisors to determine the most appropriate course selections. Stu-
dents who have SAT or ACT English and math scores above certain levels or who have already
completed college-level English or math courses are not required to take placement tests prior to
scheduling classes.

Schedule courses. Students have the opportunity to discuss a course schedule and academic plan
with an academic advisor. Courses may be scheduled during early registration and enroliment
days on campus, during individual meetings, or by telephone or e-mail exchange.

Orientation. The final steps in the enrollment process take place during orientation weekend in Au-
gust or January. Enrollment and registration includes paying remaining tuition, room, board and
fees not already paid (tuition bills are mailed in advance from the Business Office for pre-
payment), obtaining the student photo-identification card, and purchasing textbooks.
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APPENDIX 14
Letter of Engagement for Auditor
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Crowe Chizek and Company LLC

Perbar Horwalh Ingesaticnal

March 20, 2006

Mr. Richard Rice, Chairman

Finance Committee of the Board of Trustees
Holy Cross Cellege, Ine.

P.O. Box 1395

South Bend, [N 46524

Diear Rick:

This letter confirms the arrangements for Crowe Chizek and Company LLC (*Crowe Chizek™)
te audit and report on the financial statements of Holy Cross College, Inc. (the “College™) for
the year ending June 30, 2006. Our audit will be a Single Audit of the College for the period
indicated. The attached Crowe Chizek Engagement Terms is an integral part of this letter and
its terms are incorporated herain,

ATIDIT SERVICES

Our Responsibilities

We will aundit the financial statements of the College for the period indicated. The objective of
the audit is the expression of an epinion on the financial statements. We will plan and perform
the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the standards for financial audits contained in Govermment Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States; the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, and
the provisions of OMB Circular A-133, Andifs of States, Local Governments, and Nen-Profit
Organizations. Those standards require that we oblain reasonable, rather than absolute,
assurance about whether the financial staterments are free of material misstatement whether
caused by error or fraud, to repart on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, and on
your compliance with laws and regulations and on its internal controls as required for a single
audit. Therefore, a material misstatement may remain undetected.

We will examine, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in your
financial statements and evaluate the accounting principles used and the overall financial
statement presentation. We will assess the risk that error or fraud might misstate the financial
staternents by an amount we believe would influence the Ainancial statement users, An audit is
not designed to detect error or fraud that is immaterial to the financial statements. Cur opinion
on the financial statements will state whether we believe that the financial statements present
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Mr. Richard Rice
Holy Cross College, Inc.
March 20, 206

FaE;EZ

fairly, in all material respects, your financial position, change in net assets, and cash flows in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In addition to our report on the financial statements, we plan to report on:

¢  The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards which will be subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in our audit of the financial statements,

= Internal control related to the financial statements and compliance with laws,
regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements, noncompliance with
which could have a material effect on the financial statements in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards.

* Internal control related to major programs and an opinion on compliance with laws,
regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements that could have a direct
and material effect on each major program in accordance with the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and
Naon-Profif Organizations.

An audit includes understanding internal control sufficient to plan the audit and to determine
the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures to be performed, but is not specifically
designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify reportable conditions. Tests of
controls may be performed to test the effectiveness of certain controls that we consider relevant
b preventing and detecting errors and fraud that are material to the financial staternents and to
preventing and detecting misstatements resulting from illegal acts and other noncompliance
matters that have a direct and matetial effect on the financial statements. Tests of controls
relative to the financial statements are required only if control risk is assessed below the
maximum level. Cur tests will be less in scope than would be necessary to render an opinion
on these controls and, accordingly, no opinion will be expressed. We will communicate, either
orally or in writing, to the audit committee or senior management matters that come to our
attention which, in our judgment, are significant deficiencies in internal control that eould
adversely affect your ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data, We will
also communicate suggestions we have to improve controls and business operations. Our
engagement is not designed to address legal or regulatory matters, which matters should be
discussed by you with your legal counsel.

We will also perform tests of controls including testing underlying transactions, as required by
OMB Circular A-133, to evaluate the effectiveness of the design and operation of controls that
we consider relevant o preventing or detecting material noncompliance with compliance
requirements applicable to each of your major federal awards programs. We will determine
major programs in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. Our tests will be less in scope than
would be necessary to render an opinion on these controls and, accordingly, no opinion will be
expressed.  We will inform you of any nonreportable conditions or other matters involving
internal control, if any, as required by OMB Circular A-135.
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Mr. Richard Rice

Holy Cross College, Inc.,
March 20, 2004

Pa ge 3

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, we will also perform tests of your compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, contracts and grants. However, because of the concept of reasonable assurance and
because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is a risk that
material errors, irregularities, or illegal acts, including fraud or defalcations, may exist and not
be detected by us. However, the objective of our audit of compliance relative to the financial
statements will not be to provide an opinion on overall compliance with such provisions, and
we will not express such an opinion. We will advise you, however, of any matters of that
nature that come to our attention, unless they are clearly inconsequential.

OMB Circular A-133 requires that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether you have complied with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and
grants. Qur procedures will consist of the applicable procedures described in the OMB Circular
#-133 Compliance Supplement for the types of compliance requirements that could have a
direct and material effect on each of your major programs. The purpose of our audit will be to
express an opinion on your compliance with requirements applicable to major Federal award
programs.

Our audit and work product are intended for the benefit and use of the College only, The audit
will not be planned or conducted in contemplation of reliance by any other party or with
respect to any specific transaction and is not intended to benefit or influence any other party.
Therefore, items of possible interest to a third party may not be specifically addressed or
matters may exist that could be assessed differently by a third party. Our reports on internal
control and compliance will each include a statement that the report is intended for the
information and use of the Board of Trustees, the Finance Committee, management, specific
legislative or regulatory bodies, and federal awarding agencies, and if applicable, pass-through
entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these spedfied
parties.

The working papers for this engagement are the property of Crowe Chizek and constitute
confidential information. However, we may be requested to make certain workpapers available
to your oversight agency or grantors pursuant to authority given to them by law, regulation, or
contract. If requested, access to such workpapers will be provided under the supervision of our
personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide photocapies of selected workpapers to
your aversight agency or grantors. The workpapers for this engagement will be retained for a
minimum of three years after the date our report is issued or for any additional period
requested by the oversight agency or pass-through entity, If we are aware that a federal
awarding agency, pass-throngh entity, or auditee is contesting an audit finding, we will contact
the party contesting the audit finding for guidance prior to destroying the workpapers.
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Government Auditing Standards require that we provide you with a copy of our most recent peer
review report, letter of comment and response thereto, which documents accommpany this letter.

The College’s Responsibilities

Your management is responsible for the financial statements and for maintaining effective
internal control that will, among other things, permit the preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The
College’s management is also responsible for complying with applicable laws, regulations,
contracts and grants and such responsibility extends to identifying the requirements and
designing internal control policies and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that
compliance is achieved. Additionally, as required by OMB Circular A-133, it Is management's
responsibility to follow up and take corrective action on reported audit findings and to prepare
a summary schedule of prior audit findings, which should be available for our review, and a
corrective action plan.

Management has the responsibility to adopt sound accounting policies, maintain an adequate
and efficient accounting system, and to safeguard assets. Management's judgments are
typically based on its knowledge and experience about past and current events and its expected
courses of action. Management's responsibility for financial reporting includes establishing a
process to prepare the accounting estimates included in the financial statements and adjusting
the financial statements to correct material misstatements.

Management is responsible for making available to us, on a timely basis, all financial records
and related information and your persennel to whom we may direct inquiries. Management
agrees o provide us with written representations relating to matters contained in or related to
the financial statements including that the effects of any uncorrected misstatements aggregated
by us during the audit are immaterial, both individually anc in the aggregate, to the financial
statements, and to its complinnce with the requirements of its Federal programs. Because of the
importance of management’s representations to an effective audit, you agree to release Crowe
Chizek and its personnel from any liability and costs relating to our services under this letter
attributable to any misrepresentations by management,

At the conclusion of the engagement, it is management’s responsibility to submit the reporting
package (including financial statements, schedule of expenditures of federal awards, summary
schedule of prior audit findings, auditor’s reports, and corrective acon plan) along with the
Data Collection Form to the designated federal clearinghouse and, if appropriate, to
pass-through entities, The Data Collection Form and the reporting package must be submitted
within the earlier of thirty days after receipt of the auditor's reports or nine months after the
end of the audit period, unless a longer peried is agreed to in advance by the oversight agency
for audit.
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FEES

We will invoice you for our services as follows, 30% after the conclusion of planning, 60% at the
close of fieldwork and the remaining portion upen completion of the deliverables. Our invoices
are due and payable upon receipt. Our fees, inclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, will not
exceed $24,500, for the services contemplated by this letter, unless specifically arranged in
advance and agreed to between you and our firm. Continuing our long-standing commitment
to the College, we will donate $2,900 back to the Holy Cross College, Inc.

Cur estimate of fees takes into account the agreed-upon level of preparation and assistance
from your personnel. We will advise management should this not be provided or should any
other circumstances arise that may cause our time to exceed this estimate. The above estimated
fees do not consider any time that might be necessary to assist management in the
implementation or adoption of new or existing accounting, reporting, regulatory, or tax
requirements that may apply. As always, we will work with management to control the
services and related fees. If there is a significant change in your organizational structure or size
due to acquisiions or other events, we reserve the right to revise our fees,

This engagement letter and the attached Crowe Chizek Engagement Terms reflect the entire
agreement between us relating to the services covered by this letter, The headings included in
this letter are to assist in ease of reading only; the letter and attachment are to be construed as a
single document, with the provisions of each section applicable throughout. This agreement
may not be amended or varied except by a written document signed by both parties. It replaces
and supersedes any other proposals, correspondence, agreements and understandings, whether
written or oral, relating to the services covered by this letter. The agreements of the College and
Crowe Chizek contained in this engagement letter shall survive the completion or termination
of this engagement. If any term hereof is found unenforceable or invalid, this shall not affect
the wther terms hereof, all of which shall continue in effect as if the stricken term had not been
included, This agreement is governed by the internal laws of the State of [llinois,

If the terms of this letter and the attached Crowe Chizek Engagement Terms are acceptable to
you, please sign and date below and return a copy of this letter at your earliest convenience. If

you have any questions, please contact me at (312) 899-7019 or Brian Archambeault at (574) 236-
710,

Very truly yours,
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Holy Cross College, Inc.
March 20, 2006

P‘aEE &

Crowe Chizek and Company LLC

By: anfﬂuh d?—?m{__,

Cynthia A. Pierce

I have reviewed the arrangements outlined above and in the attached Crowe Chizek
Engagemem Terms, and I accept on behalf of the College the terma and conditions as stated.

Holy Cross College, Inc.

Sigmatiire:

Printed Name:

Title:

Date; —

Co Mr. Mark Mullaney, V_P. for Finance
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Crowe Chizek Engagement Terms

We want you to understand the basis under which we offer our services to you and
determine our fees, as well as to clarify the relationship and responsibilities between your
organization and ours. These terms are part of our engagement letter and apply to all future
services, unless a specific engagement letter is entered into for those services. We specifically
note that no advice we may provide should be construed to be investment advice.

YOUR ASSISTANCE - For us to provide our services effectively and efficiently, you agree to
provide us timely with the information we request and lo make your employees available for
our questions. The availability of yvour personnel and the timetable for their assistanes are
key elements in the successful completion of our services and in the determination of our
fees. Completion of our work depends on appropriate and timely cooperation from your
personnel; complete, accurate and timely responses to our inquiries; and timely
commumication by you of all significant accounting and financial reporting matters of which
you are aware. If for any reason this does not oceur, a revised fee to reflect the additional
time or resources required by us will be mutually agreed upon, and you agree to hold us
harmless against all matters that arise in whole or in part from any resulting delay.

If circumstances arise that, in our professional judgment, prevent us from completing this
engagement, we retain the right to take any course of action permitted by professional
standards, including declining to express an opinion or issue other work product, or

withdrawing from the engagement.

CONFIDENTIALITY - We will maintain the confidentiality of your confidential information
in accordance with professional standards. You agree not to disclose any confidential
material you obtain from us without our prior written consent, except to the extent such
disclosure is an agreed objective of this engagement. Your use of our work product shall be
limited to its stated purpose and to your business use only. We retain the right to use the
ideas, concepts, techniques, industry data, and know-how we use or develop in the course of
the engagement. You agree to the use of fax, email, and voicemail 1o commamicate both
sensitive and non-sensitive matters; provided, however, that nonpublic personal information
regarding your customers or consumers shall not be communicated by unencrypted email.
We may use a third-party service provider in providing professional services to you which
may require our sharing your confidential information with the provider. If we use a third-
party service provider, we will enter into a confidentiality agreement with the provider o
require them to maintain the confidentiality of your confidential information.

CONSUMER PRIVACY - In order to provide the services called for in this engagement, you
may be disclosing to us certain nonpublic personal information regarding your accounts,
customers, and consumers. To the extent permilted by law, we will not disclose any such
nonpublic personal information except to you and our employees and agents. However, in
circumstances that fall under an exception in the regulations “Privacy of Consumer Financial
Information” implementing the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, we may disclose or use such
nonpublic personal information in the ordinary course of business to carry out the services in
this engagement. We have implemented and will maintain physical, electronic and
procedural  safeguards (“Safeguards”) reasonably designed to protect the security,
confidentiality and integrity of, to prevent unauthorized access to or use of, and to ensure the
proper disposal, of nonpublic personal information regarding your customers or consumers.
We further agree that
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the Safeguards shall meet the objectives of the Interagency Guidelines Establishing
Information Security Standards, adopted by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency,
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corperation, and the Office of Thrift Supervision, as they currently exist, or as they may be
amended from time to time.

CHANGES - We may periodically communicate changes in laws, rules, or regulations to
you. However, you have not engaged us to and we do not undertake an obligation to advise
you of changes in laws, rules, regulations, industry or market conditions, your own business
practices, or other circumstances, except to the extent required by professional standards.

PUBLICATION - You agree to obtain our specific permission before using our report or our
firm's name in a published document, and you agree to submit to us copies of such
documents to obtain our permission before they are filed or published,

NG PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES - Any liability of Crowe Chizek to you
shall not include any SF'EC'IEL consequential, incidental, punitive, or exemplary damages or
loss nor any lost profits, savings, or business opportunity.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY - The provisions of this section establishing a limit of liability will not
apply if, as determined in a judicial preceeding, we performed our services with gross
negligence or willful misconduct. Our engagement with you is not intended to shift risks
normally bome by you to us.  With respect to any services or work product or this
engapement in general, the liability of Crowe Chizek and its personnel shall not exceed the
fees we receive for the portion of the work giving rise to liability. A claim for a return of fees
paid shall be the exclusive remedy for any damages. This limitation of liability is intended to
apply to the full extent allowed by law, regardless of the grounds or nature of any claim
asserted. This limitation of liability shall also apply after termination of this agreement.

INDEMNIFICATION FOE THIRD PARTY CLAIMS - The provisions of this secHon for
indemnification will not apply if, as determined in a judicial proceeding, we performed our
services with gross negligence, or with willful misconduct. Our engagement with you is not
intended to shift risks normally borme by you to us. In the event of a legal proceeding or
other claim brought against us by a third party you agree to indemnify and hold harmless
Crowe Chizek and ils personnel against all costs, fees, expenses, damages, and liabilities,
including defense costs and legal fees, associated with such third-party claim arising from or
relating o any services or work product that you use or disclose to others, or this
engagement generally. This indemnification is intended to apply to the full extent allowed
by law, regardless of the grounds or natare of any claim asserted, This indemnification shall
also apply after lermination of this agreement.

RESPONSE TO LEGAL PROCESS - If we are requested by subpoena, other legal process, or
other proceedings to produce documents pertaining to you, and we are not a named party to
the proceeding, you will reimburse us for our professional time, Flus ﬂut-of-l:ﬂ}ckﬂt expenses,
as well as reascnable attorney fees we incur in responding to such request.
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MEDIATION - If a dispute arises, in whole or in part, out of or related to this engagement, or
after the date of this agreement, between you or any of your affiliates or principals, and
Crowe Chizel, and if the dispute cannot be settled through negotiabion, you and Crowe
Chizek agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation administered by the
American Arbitration Association under its mediation rules for professional accounting and
related services disputes before resorling to liigation or any other dispute-resolution
procedure. The results of mediation shall be binding only upon agreement of each party to
be bound. Costs of any mediation shall be shared equally by both parties.

JURY TRIAL - In the unlikely event that differences concerning our services or fees arise
between ua that are not resolved by mubial agreement or mediation, you and we agree to
waive a trial by jury to facilitate judicial resolution and save time and expense of both

parties.

LEGAL AND FEGULATORY CHANGE - The scope of services and fees for the services
covered by the accompanying letter are based on current laws and regulations. If changes in
laws or regulations change your requirements or the scope of our work, you and we agree
that our fees will be modified to a mutually agreed upon amount to reflect the changed level
of our effort.

NON-SOLICITATION - You and we acknowledge the importance of retaining key
personnel. Accordingly, both parties agree that during the period of this agreement and for
one year after its expiration or termination, neither party will solicit any personnel of the
other party for employment without the written consent of the other party. If an individual
becomes an employee of the other party, the other party agrees to pay a fee equal to the
individual’s compensation for the prior full twelve-month period to the original employer,

AFFILIATES - Crowe Chizek and Company LLC (Crowe Chizek) is a member of Horwath
International Association, a Swiss association (Horwath), Each member firm of Horwath is a
separate and independent legal entity. Crowe Chizek and its affiliates are not responsible or
liable for any acts or omissions of any other member of Horwath and hereby specifically
disclaim any and all responsibility or liability for acts or omissions of any other member of
Horwath,
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUMTAMTS

To the Executives of
Crowe Chizek and Company LLC
and the Center for Public Company Audit Firms Peer Review Cominittes

We have reviewed the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of
Crowe Chizek and Company LLC (the firm) applicable to non-SEC issuers in effect for the year
ended June 30, 2004, The firm’s accounting and auditing practice applicable to SEC issuers was
not reviewed by us since the Public Company Accounting Owversight Board (PCAOB) is
responsible for inspecting that portion of the firm’s accounting and auditing practice in
accordance with PCAQB requirements, A system of quality control encompasses the firm's
organizational structure and the policies adopted and procedures established to provide it with
reasonable assurance of complying with professional standards, The elements of quality control
are described in the Statements on Quality Control Standards issued by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the AICPA). The design of the system, and compliance with it, are
the responsibilities of the firm. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the design of the
svatem, and the firm’s compliance with that system based on our review.

Our review was conducted in accordance with standards cstablished by the Peer Review
Committee of the Center for Public Company Audit Firms and included procedures to plan and
perform the review that are summarized in the attached description of the peer review process,
Our review would not necessarily disclose all weaknesses in the system of quality control or all
instances of lack of compliance with it since it was based on selective tests. Because there are
inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of quality control, departures from the
gystem may oceur and not be detected, Also, projection of any evaluation of a system of quality
control to future periods is subject to the risk that the system of quality control may becoms
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
o procedurcs may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the system of quality contrel for the accounting and auditing practice applicable
1o the non-SEC issuers of Crowe Chizek and Company LLC in effect for the vear ended June 30,
2004, has been designed to meet the requirements of the quality control standards for an
accounting and auditing practice established by the AICPA, and was complied with during the
wvear then ended to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of complying with applicable

professional standards.

As is customary in a peer review, we have issued a letter under this date that sets forth comments
relating to certain policies and procedures or compliance with them. The matters described in the
letter were not considered to be of sufficient significance to affect the opinion expressed in this

report.

Seatfle, Washington W,:;—-pg %ﬁfj’w L lf- P

October 22, 2004

A al

bagies Roedpial Inipmpionsl
An peaneiyion al ks peaiend
SApnTH el g e, thmaiphoue
e wwid
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Description of the Peer Review Process

Overview

Firms enrolled in the AICPA Center for Public Company Audit Firms (the Center) Peer Review
Program have their system of quality control perjodically reviewed by independent peers. These
reviews are system and compliance oriented with the objectives of evaluating whether;

The reviewed firm's system of quality control for its accounting and auditing practice
applicable o non-SEC 1ssuers has been designed to meet the requirements of the Quality
Control Standards established by the ATCPA,

The reviewed firm’s quality conirol policies and procedures applicable to non-SEC
issuers were being complied with to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of

complying with professional standards.

A peer review i5 based on selective tests and dirccted at assessing whether the design of and
compliance with the firm’s system of quality control for its accounting and auditing practice
applicable to non-SEC issuers provides the firm with reasonable, not absolute, assurance of
complying with professional standards. Consequently a peer review on the frm's system of
quality control is not intended to, and does not, pravide assurance with respect to any individual
engagement conducted by the firm or that none of the financial statements audited by the firm

should be restated.

The Center's Peer Review Committee (PRC) establishes and meintains peer review standards. At
regular meetings and through report evaluation task forces, the PRC considers each peer review,
evaluates the reviewer's competence and performance, and examines every report, letter of
comments, and accompanying response from the reviewed firm that states its corrective action
plan before the peer review is finalized. The Center's staff plays a key role in overseeing the
performance of peer reviews working closely with the peer review teams and the PRC.

Once the PRC accepts the peer review rcports, letters of comments, and reviewed firms’
responses, these documents are maintained in & file available to the public. In some situations,
the public file also includes a signed undertaking by the firm agreeing to specific follow-up
action requested by the PRC,

Firme that perform audits or play & substantial tole in the audit of one of more SEC issuers, as
defined by the Public Company Accounting Ovwersight Board (PCAOB), are required to be
registered with and have their accounting and anditing practice applicable to SEC issuers
inspected by the PCAOB. Therefore, we did not review the firm’s accounting and auditing
practice applicable to SEC issuers.

Planning the Review for the Firm's Accounting and Auditing Practice Applicable to Non-
SEC Issuers

To plan the review of Crowe Chizek and Company LLC, we obtained an understanding of (1)
the nature and extent of the firm's accounting and auditing practice, and (2) the design of the
firm’s system of quality control sufficient o assess the inherent and control risks implicit in its
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practice. Inherent risks were assessed by obtaining an wnderstanding of the firm's practice, such
as the industries of its clients and other factors of complexity in serving those clients, and the
organization of the firm's personnel into practice units. Control risks were assessed by obtaining
an understanding of the design of the firm's system of quality control, inclueding its audit
methedology, and monitoring procedures. Assessing control risk is the process of evaluating the
effectiveness of the reviewed firm’s system of quality control in preventing the performance of
engagements that do not comply with professional standards.

Performing the Review for the Firm’s Accounting and Aunditing Practice Applicable to
Non-5EC Issuers

Based on our assessment of the combined level of inherent and control risks, we identified
practice unils and selected engagements within those units to test for compliance with the firm's
system of quality control. The engagements selected for review included engagements performed
under the Government Auditing Standards, audits performed under FDICIA, and audits of
Employee Benefit Plans, The engagements selected for review represented a cross-section of the
firm's accounting and auditing practice with emphasis on higher-risk engagements. The
engagement reviews included examining working paper files and reports and interviewing
engagement personnel,

The scope of the peer review also included examining selected administrative and personnel files
to determine compliance with the firm's policies and procedures for the elements of quality
control pertaining to independence, integrily, and objectivity; personnel management; and
acceptance and continuance of clients and engagements. Prior to concleding the review, we
reassessed the adequacy of scope and conducted a mecting with firm management to discuss our
findings and recommendations,
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Five Year Comparison—Balance Sheet

(Ending

June 30, 2006)
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Five Year Comparison—Income Statement

(Ending June 30, 2006)
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APPENDIX 16

Tuition and Fees

Tuition (2006-07 Academic Year):

Tuition for the 2006-2007 Academic Year is $7,250.00 per semester for full-
time students enrolled in 12 to 19 semester hours. Hours in excess of 19 are
charged at the rate of $480.00 per semester hour. Part-time students en-
rolled in less than 12 semester hours are also charged at the rate of

Room and Board (per Semester)

Single Room $3825.00*
Double Room $3575.00*

Triple Room $3375.00*
Apartment $4025.00

Per Summer Session (Five weeks) $1,100.00 flat fee

(all non-summer fees include $100 for phone and voice-mail services)

*Non-Apartment options (costs per semester):

Fees
Art $50.00
Graduation Fee $65.00
Science Laboratory Fee $50.00
Student Service Fee $200.00
Technology Fee $200.00
Transcript Fee $5.00 each
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APPENDIX 17

REPCHET OF INDEFENDENT AUDITORS ON FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Board ol Trastees
Haly Crass College, [nc.
BMabre Darme, Indsama

Wa have audited the sccompanying statements of finamcial position of Holy Crmss Callege, Inc. as aff Jume 30, 216
amd 2005, and the related statements of actvities and cash flows for the years then emded. These fmancial
slatements are the responsibility of the College’s management. Our responsibility is o express an apimion on these
finanvial stvtements based on oar audits.

W conducted our audits m accondance with auditing standards genemlly accepled m the United Sates of Amenca
amd the standards applicable to financml asdils contamed in Govermonent Araditieg Standards, imeed by the
Compiredler Gememal aof the Unated States. Thoese standards require that we plan amd perform the audit to abtam
reasomable nssurance abowt whether the hinancaal siatements are free of matenal missiabement. An awdit includes
examming, on a kest basis, evidence supparting the amounts and disclosures m the linancial statements. An audit
alsa mclides assessing the scovunting principles used and sagnificant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall inancial siatement presentation. We believe that our asdils provide a reasonable basis for our
[E AT

Im our apimion, the financil statements rebzrred to above present Eairly, in all matenal regpects, the fnascial posion
of Holy Cross College, Ino. as af June 30, 206 and 2065 and the changes in 115 met assets and its cash flows for the
years then ended in condonmity with accounting prieciples genemlly accepted m the Uniled Siates of Amenca.

Im nceordapca with frove ramemt Audiimg Stapdards, we hove alse issued our report dated ==, 206, o aur
consideration of Holy Cross College, Inc.”s inlernal contral aver linanc@l reparting and vur tests of is compliance
with certam provisions of laws, regalations, comtmets amd grant agreements amd other matters. The parpose of that
report is (o describe the soope of vurtestng of meernal comtral over financial reporting and compliance and the
results of that testing, and nat o provide an opimon on the mternal comtral aver financial reporiing or an compliance.
That report = an idegral part of an audit perdformed maccordance with Crovernrent Audiring Standards and shouald
be censiderad m assessing results of our audit,

Our amdit was performed for the parpose of formang an opinien on the basie Fmancial siatements of Haly Cmss
College, Imc. taken as a whaole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awands is presented for
purpases of additional analysis as required by U 5, Olfice of Management and Budget Corcular A= 133, Aedits of
Srates, Local (Fovernments, and Non-Frofit Organizations, and is ned a required part a’ the basic finascial
statemenis. Swch mbtormation has been subjecied (o the audiiing procedures applied i the audit of the basic
{iancial stalements and, in our apinien, 15 farrly stated, mall matenal respects, inrelabon © the basic fmacal
siatemenls laken as o whale

Crowe Chimek amd Campany LLC
South Bend, Indiama
=, NHi
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APPENDIX 17

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ALIDITORS

Beard of Trustees
Holy Cross College, Inc.
Motre Dame, Indiana

We have audited the accompanying statements of fimancial position of Holy Cross College, Inc. as of
Jurie 30, 2006 and 2005 and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the years then
ended. These financizl statements are the responsthility of the Collere’s management. Our
respensahility 15 10 express an opimion on these financial statements bassd on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditme standards penerally scoepted m the Unned Staies
of Amenica. Those standards reguire that we plan and perform the audit (o obain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement.  An audit includes examining,
on g fest hasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also ncludes asscssmng the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opanian,

In cur opmion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matenial respects, the
financal position of Hoby Cross College, Inc. 2s of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the changes in its net
asscts and 1ts cash flows for the years then ended, in conformaty with accounting primciples genermlly
accepted in the United States of America.

Crowe Chizek and Company LLT

South Bend, Indiana
<= 2006
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year ended June 30, 2006 (with comparative toals for 2005)

Termpararily 2006 2005
Linrestricted Bestricied Jotal Jotal
Hevenues
Educational and general
fuition {less mition dscommis
of 8527 818 for 2006 and
5384780 for 2005) 3 31019143 5 - 5 3919143 % 4,302, 78l
Student housing 1,550 228 s 1,530 2248 1.55% 926
Bookstore, net 20,000 S 20,000 15,040
Comtributions 1,331,747 497 417 1,829 164 B33974
Miscellaneous meome AH 443 s Sh 443 103,252
[nvestment income (Mode 1) 465,564 4.41] 458 60 5 A7 328
Total revenues 132,125 501 848 TRIZ973 7,222 241
Meet azsets released from
restrictions:
Satisfaction of donar
Or Hime restrctions
TRI3973 7.222 241
Expenses
Educational and general
Educational expenses 1,650,737 - 3,650,737 3.6063,615
Administratrve expenses 265774 = 2 AR5 T4 205 103
Unrealzed lnss (Tzm) on
interest rate swap
agresments (Note 10) (505,281 - (595,281 132 201
5421231 S 542123 GA0] D0
Smdent housing 1,686,776 - 1,686,776 1,504,700
Fundrasing expenses 187,155 - 187,155 121,250
Total expenses 7,265,162 - 7,205 162 8316950
Change 1n net assets 538811 538811 (1,004, 718)

See accompanyng notes to financial statements.

[
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
Met assets at begmning of year 11,762 542 11,702 542 12 887 260

Met assets at end of vear 312.33] 354 5 512350 351 S]] Jor 54k
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year ended June 30, 2005

Termporanky
Lnresiricied Resinicied Total
Hevenues
Educational and general
fuition {bess uition discoumis
of $384 TR0 for 205 g4.302, 761 bt = £ 4,302,761
Student housmg 1 550 0264 = 1,550 926
Rookstore, net 15,000 S 15,000
Contriburtions S07 5097 12635377 £33 0974
Miscellaneos meome 103,252 = 103,252
[nvestment income (Mode 1) 400,391 5937 47328
Total revenues 6,858,927 133514 7.222 341
Met asoets released from
restrictions:
Satisfaction of donar
or time resinciions | 255471 {1.255.671)
£.144 508 (922357 7222 341
Expenses
Educational and general
Educational expernses 1663615 S EXENAR
Administrative expenses 2005 103 S 2605 10%
Lnmealzed loss (gam) on
Inkerest mibe swap
agreements {Note 10) 132 M1 - 132001
H.0%1,00% - 6,681,004
Student housing 1 S0, F0 = 1,504 T00
Fundraming expenses 121, 250 - 121 250
Total expenses £.316.050 - 116850
Chanpe I net assets (172361 (922357 (1,004,715
Met assets at beginning of year 8911 347 3075013 12 RET 600

See accompanying notes to financial statements,
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.

Net assets at end of vear SE 738 986 5 3053556 §11.792 547
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF FINANMCIAL POSITION
June 30, 2006 and 2005

20006 205
ANMEDS
Cash 5 05443 5 278,169
[rvestments (Mote 2) A, 056,224 6,608,137
Acrcounts receivahle {less allowance for doubtfial
accounts oft 2006 - 5105 868 20045 - S142 166) 4015 502 139775
Smdent loan recenable 219131 211,452
Pledpes recevable (MNote 3) Q3 322 240 388
iher assets 205,577 214,308
Inwestments in educational properties — net
(Naics 4 and 7) 14802616 14,773,265
. & T TE8 .l
LIABILITIES ANMI MNET ASSETS
Liabalities
Apcrued payroll and related labilities S 1TRA0R 85 1RBO9G
Accounts payable 172,111 579,070
Dieferred income 228154 172422
Funds held for others 254 803 237 038
Fair value adjustment an interest rate swaps (Note 10) 550 519 1,145 800
Long-term debt (Notes 7 and 10) B.O85 367 8547 GEG
10,354 p52 10,962 950
Met assets
[ Inrestricted 11,792 542 8,718 986
Temporanly restricted (Note ) A38.811 3053 556

12331 353 11,792 542

) 5 el LA LV

See accompanying notes to financial statements,
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005

Cagh flows from eperatmg activities
Chamge 1m net nssets £ IR EN] 5 (LD TIEp

Addjastments lo reconcile change m met
asxels o net cash from opemimg actvities

Depreciatson SRR ST & TARS
Amonization of loan ssue costs el ] 12088
Provision for losses on recervables 162819 15952
Met realized and unrealized gams oo mvestments {ZIE 2539, {354 125
Lo on disposal of assets 1] -
Coaminbuton aof myestments i SR R0y (2T ERI9)
Change m assets and habalities

Accounls recervable (2. T59) {162 37T5)
Loam receivable T4 {171 %6)
Pledpes recervable (6S6911) 452 11
(Mher axsets (1370} {1 TdTy
Accounts payable (406958 a0 .04
Funds held by athers 2857 BEmS
Acerwed payrall and related liabales |2 32E) {ZL0S0p
Deferred income 55,7R2 {TLOIDp
Conlnbuaixas restrictad for long=lenm imvestmend (45T 1T (362 495y

[nterest and dividends restncted For
long-tenm mvestment 1A% LR ARy
Met cash from operating acimvities {ONGE 280y (G5 S

Cash Mows from investing sctivities

Purchases of educational properties {TLT 65 {1 3T AR,
Proceeds from the matunly of myveshmends 3136240 IRE ST
Furchase of investments L ETTO00 AL JOS TSN
Met cash fram mvesing activibes HLITE &2

Cash Mows from Mnancing activities
Proceeds from contmbubions restricted lor

[nvestment in edwcational properties 457417 350485
Oiiber limancing activities
Payment of Tong=term debt (5051205 (2T 0p
[szuance of long-tenm debit B2 802 -
Fair value adjustment on mberest rabe swaps {505,281 1321
Interest amd dividends restricied for reanvestment 3 B A%
RN AT
Met cash from Hisancmg activities - = et L]
Change m cash (182724) 1004
Cash at beginnng of year IR 1469 IT5. 163
Camshi at emd af vear i oAl AL
Supplemenial disclosure of cash Mow imformation
Cash paxl during the year for interest i 468,775 1 450,910
Farr market value of grfts recerved of markstable secunies N8N IOEIS
See accompanying notes o financizl statements.
7.
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Haoly Cross College (the Colleze) 15 conducted by the Brothers of the Congregation of Holy Cross.
The College 15 2 co-aducational college fully accredited by the Carmmission on Instiutions of Higher
Education of the North Central Assoctaton of Collepes and Schools. The College generates its
operating revenue primarily from student muition @nd contrbuions.

Method of Accounting: The Collepe operations are accounted for on the accrual basis.

Financial Statement Presentation: The College reports information reganding its financial position and
activities 1n three classes of net assets: Unrestricted net assets, tempomnly restricted net assets, and
permanently restricted net assets.

Contnbutons: Contnbutions recelved and unconditional promises o give are recorded a5 unrestricted,
temiporarily restricted, or permanently restricted support depending on the existence of donar
restrictions and the ramre of restricoons, if they exist.

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give o the College that is, in
substance, unconditional. Contributions restricted by the donor are repored a5 Increases in unrestricted
net assets. if the restnictions expire in the fiscal year m which the contnibutions ane recognized. All other
danor restricted contnbutions are reported as increases n tempararnly or permanently restncted net
assets depending on the nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, emporarily restrcted net
assets ane reclassified to unrestricted net asscts.

Cash: The College maintams its primary checking account at & local bank which 1s insured by an agency
of the faderal government up to S 100,000,

Accounts Recevable: Accounts recetvable represents the balanee of student charges owed to the
College.

Allowance for Doubtfil Accounds: The allowance for doubiful sccounts 15 determined by mansgement
based on the College's historical losses, specific student circumstances and gencral cconomic
conditions. Peniodically, management reviews accounts recervable and records an allowance far
specific students based on current circumstances and charges oft the receivable acamst the allowance
when all attermpts to colksct the receivable have failed.

(Continued )
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

Investments: Investments iIn marketable socurties with eadily determinable fair values and all
nvestmenes in debt securities are valued at thetr famr values in the stiement of financial position,
Unrealized gains and losses are meluded in the chanpe in net asscts.
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Jume 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{Contimued)

Educational Properties and Depreciation: Educational properties represented by buildings,
improvements and equipment are carried at cost less accumalated depreciaton, Depreciation 18
provided on the straight - line basis over the assets estimated usefil lives s follows:

Buildings and improvements 4 years
Furninre and equipment 5 - 10 years
Vehicles 5 years
Leasehold improvements 3-5yeam

Income Taxes: The College 18 exempt from federal and state income taxes under Section S01{c)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code and, sceordimgly, no provision has been made nor 15 reguired, for income
taxes.

Related Party: The College 15 owned by the Brothers of Holy Cross, Ine. Salanies for the Brothers of
Holy Cross and all other vowed relizious, who are emploved by the College, are equal o those paid for

comparahle services provided by lay persons. [n addition, the College lesses land and propenty from
the Brothers of Holy Cross, Ine.

Loan lssuance Costs:  Loan ssuance foes and related costs are being amortized on the straight- ne
method primanly over the term of the loan of approsamately 25 years.,

Fair Values of Financial Instruments: The market value of financial metruments approximastes ther
carying amount in the starement of firancial postoon, Financizl mstruments consist of cash on deposit in
the bank, certificates of deposit, investments, long term debt, and mterest rase swaps. Interest rate
swaps are reporied at their fair valee with changes m fair values recognized in the statement of aciivities.

Llse of Esimaies and Assumptions: Management must make estimaies and assumptions in prepanng
financial statements that affect the amounts reporied therem and the disclosures provided. Significant
estimates include the valuation of mvestments and allowances for doubtful or uncollectible accounts.

These estimates and assumptions may change in the future and future results could differ.

{Continued)

1.
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APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
NOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

MOTE 2 - INNESTMENTS

[mvestments consist of the following as of Jung 30

206 M5
Mlutal Funds
Short term investment fumd $1,277.241 85 24305920
Exquity fimd 3,611,155 3,203 671
1™ Sowrce investment fund T19 262 Tis 301
Stock Chwned at &23002006 77805 -
G5 745 453 L G 405 ]
Cerificates of Deposit
St. Joseph Capital Bank 2105430 % 10216
Maticnal City Bank 100,894 -
1" Source Hank 1014428 1000 (0

S l0J0l LUl
[nvestment income meludes the following:

Met realized and unrealized gams (losses) $ 319535 85 2a0801
Interest and drvidend income 1500 450G 145527

R LT S T e

[nvestment imcome has been reconded et of mlated investment expenses. Investment expenses were
216,241 and 514,543 for the years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005

MOTE 3 - PLEDMGES RECEIVABLE

Pledges recevable &t June 30, 2006 and 2005 are promises to grve from vanous donors that ane
uneondiional. Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected within one vear ane
recorded at their net realizable value, Amounts that are expected to be collected in future vears ane
recorded at their present valee at their estimated fiture cash flows, The discounts on those amounts are
computed using a4 4% interest rate for 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
Lncondianal promises o give before
unarmartized discount and allowance
for uncollectibles § 913,790 § 265,568
Less: Unamaortized discount (1977 [%.345)
Q09813 257 2235
Less: Allowance for uncollectibles (6491 {16435
Met unconditional promises o give § an3321 & 240388

{Continued)

11.
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
MOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

Payments are to be made pursuant to pledge agreements and are due as follows:

Within one vear $ O OET1148 5 162130
(e year o five vear 41,542 101,426
More than five years 1000 2

3 4300 & Jos.sod
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
MOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

MOTE 4 - INNESTMENT IN EDNUCATIONAL PROPERTIES

At June 30, 2006 and 2005, the mvestment in educational properties s represenied by the cost of land,
butldings, improvements and equipment less the related accumulated deprociation as follows:

Land and improvements % 1,256,661 % 1,256,641
Buildings and improvements 15,248,177 14,181,037
Furmiiture and equipment 1,662 206 1,800 016
Vehicles and other assets 23 500 34 1311
Leasehald improvements T01 866 TO1, 866
Construchon n progress 254 330 aaE 044

19,146,740 18,730,755

Less accumulated depreciation 4,144 133 3957 400

S14802616  §14.773.265

Deprecmnon expense was 3688 997 and 647 485 for the vears ended June 30, 20068 and 2005,
respectively,

Construction n progress at June 30, 2006 meludes costs of 254,139 associated with the prelmanary
plans for the recreation center. As of year end, no contracts have been entered mio.

NUTE 5 - LEASE COMMITMENT
Effective January 1, 2004, the College entered mto bease and license agreements with the Brothers of

the Holy Cross, Inc. for certaim land used by the College and for continued use of vanous athletic and
mantenznce faciliies. Monthly payments will be due on the lease as follows:

Arnourt Effective Dates
§ 25437 July 2006 — December 2013
3230 January 20014 — June 2014
3,008 July 2014 - June 2122
{Continued )

13,
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 5- LEASE COMMITMENT (Continued)

The College also leases vanous office machines, computer equipment and vehicles under noncancelabie
operating leases,

Linder all operating leases, the minmmum rentals over the next five years, excleding in-kind contibutions
are as follows:

2007 § 338034
2008 134,005
2000 130,288
2010 311,247
Thereafter 1,307 358

Sl ZLLOZS

Rental expense for these operating leases, excluding insurance, repair costs and m-kind contributions,
for the vears ended hme 30, 2006 and 2005 was 3357 418 and $356.203, respectively.

NOTE 6 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The College has a defined cantribution employee retirement plan and contnibuted 8% of regular salary
for 2 months of the vear ended Jung 30, 2006 and the whole vear ended June 30, 2005, On October
1#, 2006 the retirement plan contribution was reduced to 4% of regular salary with board approval.
Emplovess who have attained the ape of 26 and have completed ane vear of service are eligible o
participate n the pln. Conmbutions were $106,401 and 5172456 for the vears ended June 30, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

NOTE 7- LONG-TERM DEBRT

Long-term debd at June 30, 2006 and 2005 consists of the following:
200 2005
Seres 1900 Nate, payable to 5t. Joseph County, Indiana,
plus mierest at variable rates, due In varying snmal
instaliments escalating from 575,000 to $620,000 with 2

finzl pavment due September 1, 2025, See also MNote 10, S 6530000 8§ aa70,000

{Continued)

14

PAGE 21[ HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF-STUDY]



APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
MOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

MNOTE 7- LONG-TERM DEBT [ Continued)

Long-term debt at June 30, 2006 and 2005 consists of the following:
2006 2005

4 %0%, vanahle rate note payable o the St Joseph Capital
Bank, Mshawaks, Indzna; due in monthly mstallments of
S15.382 ncluding ivderest, matunng Apeil 30, 2019;
collateralzed by a real estate mongage. The note is subject
tor cerain covenants relative to required cash flow
coverages and minimum unresiricted fund balances. At
June 30, 2005 the College was not in compliznes with the

cash flow coverage matio, but a warver from this requinement
was obtained on Augrust 26, 2005, 51,774328 % LA81576

5.75 % not payable o 51 Joseph Capital Bank, Mishawaks

Indizra, due in monthly installments of %27, 182 inchding

mitetest, marrng February 15, 20019 collateralized by a

MOorgage on certaim real estate. 5 626485 -

5.39% note payable to 5t Joseph Capital Bank,

Mishawaka, Indmana; due in monthly metallments of 5540

meluding mterest, maturing November 17, 2012,

colbreralized by 3 morteape on cerain real estate, 54,554 61,485

Capital lease obligation (MNote ) - 34 625

SROES 30T SAOITGRC

The Senes 1999 Mote procesds were provided by & 37,200,000 ssuance of St Joseph County,
[ndizna Educational Faciliies Mult- mode Vanable Rate Bonds (“Bonds™). Proceeds were used to
advance refund {repay) the Senes 1994 Note and to acquire, construct, furnish, equip and improve
certam real and personal properties. The interest rate (4.04% at June 30, 2006) 15 established weckly
by the placement and remarketing agent, McDonald Investments, [ne.

The College has a leter of cradit in the amount of 56,670,261 as of June 30, 2006 as collaseral for the
debt zervice payvments required under the Series 1990 Mote, The letier of eredit has been extended
through September 22, 2009, The College has provided primanly s accounts recervable, mventory,

{Continued )
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
MOTES TO FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

cquipment, fixtures and personal properties 25 collateral for the letter of credit. Letters of crednt and
related fees incurred were 560,278 and 561,221 for the years ended June 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively,

Certain reserve requirements are required by the trustee, U5, Bank, Nabonal Association, in
associaton with the Series 1999 Note, including the establishment of selected reserves. The College is
repaying prncipal and miemst over the term of the Bonds.
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
MNOTES TO FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
June 340, 2006 and 2005

MOTE 7- LONG-TERM DEBT (Continuesd)

Princapal payments of long-term debt over the next five vears are due as follows:

2007 § 482,247
2008 S07.862
2009 480,834
010 319,665

Total interest expense for the yvears ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was 5463775 and $450,910,
respectively.

MOTE 8 — CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATION

I 2003, the College entered mito 2 lease agreement for software which has been capitalized as fiollows:

24 204
Software & 120583 £ 120,683
Accumulated amonzation 120 pR 97, 262
] s § 32471

Total payvments of $35 402 will be made in 2006 under the capital lkease, 3857 of which represents
interest, The resulting present value of the net minmmum lease pavments & 5-0-.. There are no other
firture payments associated with this lease,

{Continued )

17,
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2006 and 2005

NOTE 9 — RESTRICTIONS ON NET ASSETS

Substantially all of the temporary resirictions on net asseis as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 rlate o
contrtbutions or grants gven to the College for specific purpases and scholarships to students from
governmental and private sources. Cash and promases to give as well as earnings on the investment of
such suppaort, are restricted according to the timing and nature of the donor's restrictions. Temporanly
restricted net assets as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

20046 2005
Scholarshms and specific programs 2401772 % 2813168
Timie and'or purposes restricted 5011 848 2440 388

asiodl S5050.500

NOTE 1 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The College has entered into Inferest rate swap agreements to reduce the impact of changes in mberest
rates on its floating rate long-term debt. The Collepe has entered mto four interest rate swap
apresments 10 effectively change the Colleze’s interest rate exposure on its floating rate note due 2025
1o fixed rmtes. The College 15 exposed 1o credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other partics
1o the nterest rate swap agreements. However, the College doss not anticipate nonperformance by the
counterparties and i 1s the College’s mntent to hold these until matarty.

Pursuant to FAS Mo, 133, the College recognized unrealized grins of 595,281 for June 30, 2006 and
unrealized losses of $332 200 for Tune 30, 2005 o reflect the fair value adjustment of the mterest rte
SWRPS.

18.
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SUPFLEMENTARY INFORNMATION
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended June 30, 2006

Federal
Federal Apency/Grantor Pass Through Graneonl FDA
Program Titke MNumber Expenditures
WAIOR PROGRAMS
LS. Depariment of Education
Student financizl aid cluster:
Federl Supplemental Educational
Opporunity Grant Progranm 84007 5
Federal Famaly Education Loans (*FFEL")
Program mcludes Federal Stafford,
PLLIS and 5LS B4 032
Federal Waork Study B4 0033
Federal Perkins Loan Progmm #4038
Federal Pell Grant Program 84063
_
14
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
NOTES TO THE SCHEDLULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Yearended June 30, 2006

MNOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditines of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of the
Collepe and 15 presented on the zcerual basis of sccounting. The information n this schedule 1=
presented n accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Awdits of Staves, Local
Crovernmenys, and Mon-Profiy Orgawizanons. Therefore some amounts presented inthis schedule
may differ from amiounts presented in, or used nthe preparation of the financial statements.

MNOTE 2 — OUTSTANDING LOANS

The amount presented for Federal Perkms Loans represents loan balances outstanding at June 30, 2006
and includes £219,131 for balance of loans from previous years for which the government imposes
comtinumg complEnce equirements,

The Collepe onginates it does nos provide funding for Federal Family Education Loans (FFELs). The
amount presented represents the value of new FFELs awarded by the povernment during the vear as
folbonaes:

Federal Stafford Loans %

Federl Unsubsidized Stafford Loans
Federal PLUS Loans

Todal FFELs &

MNOTE 3— AMOUNTS REQUIRED FOR MATCHING

To comply with program requirements, amounts required 1o be expended from non-Federal sources
have been excluded from reponed expenditures. For June 30, 2006 the College’s portion of the actuzl
expenditures was as follows:

Federal Amommt
CFDA Pronvided for
Program Ttk Mumber Matching
Federzl Supplemental Educational
Orpportumity Grant Program 82007 %
Federal Waork-Study Program 84032
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
Federal Perkins Loan Progmm #4038

16,
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUINTING
STANDARDS

Board of Trustees
Holy Cross College, [ne.
Motre Dame, Indiana

We have audited the financial statermnents of Holy Cross College, Ine. 25 of and for the vear ended

Jurie 340, 2006, and have issued our report therson dated <=, We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally secepted mthe United States of Amenica and the standzrds applicable
1o financil audis contamed in Governmeny Auditing Stangards, wsusd by the Comproller General of
the United States.

Intermnzl Control Chver Financial Reporting

In planming and performing our audit, we considersd Holy Cross College, Ine"s imernal contral over
financial reporting morder 1o determing cur auditing procedures for the purposs of expressing our
opinion on the financal statements and not o provide an opimicn an the imtemal control over financial
reportng. Cur consideration of the mtemnal control over financizl reporting would not necessarily
disclose all matiers i the internal control that maght be matenal weaknesses. A matenal weakness 153
reportzhle condition i which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components
does not reduce to a relatively low level the nsk that misstaternents caused by ermor or fraud n amounts
that would be material in relation to the financial staiements being audnted may occur and not be
detected within a tmely period by employess m the normal course of performing their assigned
functions. We noted no matiers mvolving the mtemal control over financial reporting and nis operations
that we consider to be material weaknesses, However, we noted other matters imvolving internal control
over financial reporting that we reported (o maEnzgement in A separate letter dated <=,

17.
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Compliance and Other Matters

A part of obtainmg reasonable assurance about whether Holy Cross College, Inc."s financial
statemnents are free of makerial misstatement, we performed tests of s compliznce with cemam
provisions of laws, rerulations, contracts, and grant aoreements, noncompliznce with which could have
a direct and material effect on the determmation of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliznce with those provisions was not an chjective of our audit and, accordingly, we do
not express such an opinson. The results of our tests disclosed no mstances of noncompliznce or other
meatters that are required 1o be reported under Crovernment Audiving Srandards.

This repart is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trusiees, finance commaties,

management and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and (s not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specificd partics.

Crowe Chizek and Company LLC

South Bend, Indiana
= 2008

18,
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS APFLICABLE TO EACH
MAJOR PROGRAM AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

Board of Trustess
Holy Cross College, [nc.
Motre Dame, Indiana

Complance

We have audited the compliance of Holy Crass College, Inc. with the types of compliance rmquirements
described mothe [V 8. Office of Marggemeni and Budgel fOMB) Civeular A-133 Compliagnee
Supplemeny that are applicable to cach of its major federl programs for the year ended June 30, 20046,
Holy Cross College, [ne.'s major federal programs are identified m the summary of auditor’s resulis
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the
requiremients of laws, regulations, contraces and grants applicable to each of 1ts major faderal programs
15 the rsponsibality of Holy Cross College, Inc.'s management. Our responsibility 15 1o express an
opinion on the College’s complines hased on our audit

We conducted our audit of compliznes in accordance with audiing standards generally aceepred nthe
United States of Amenca; the standards applicable to financial audits contamed in (Government
Auditing Standards, 1ssued by the Compiroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular
A-133, Awdits of States, Local Governmenis, ard Non-Profit Ovganizations. Those standards and
OB Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether noncomplzmnes with the nvpes of compliance requirements referred 1o above that could have a
direct and matenal effect on a major federal program occumed. An andit includes examinmng, an a fest
basis, evidence about Holy Cross College, Ine.'s compliance with those requirements and pertorming
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the cireumstances, We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our cpinson, Our audin does not provide 2 legal determinanon on Holy
Cross College, Inc.'s compliance with those requirements.

In cur cpimion, Holy Cross College, Ine. complied, in all matenal respects, with the requirements
referred to above that are applicable to each of s major federl programs far the year ended June 30,
6.

19,
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[ntemzl Conerel Cher Compliance

The maragement of Holy Cross College, Inc. is responsible for establzhing and mainsmming effective
infernal controd over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contmcts and grants applicable
i federal programs. In planning and performiang our audit, we considersd Holy Cross College, Inc.'s
internal control over compliznce with requirements that could have a direct and materal effect on a
majpar foderal program in arder to determine cur auditing procedures for the purposs of expressing our
opinion on compliznes and to test and report on mtemal control over complianees in accordance with
OB Crrcular A-133.

Our consideration of the mtemal control over compliznce would not necessanly disclose all maters
the mtemal controd that might be material weaknesses. A matenzl weakness = a condion in which the
design or operation of one or more of the intemsal control components does not reduce 1 & relatvely
low level the nsk that noncompliance with applicable requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and
grants that would be matenial in relation to 2 major fedeml program bemng audited may occur and not be
detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assignad
functions. We noted no matters imvolving the mtemal control over complianee and its operation that we
consider 1o be materal weaknesses.

This repart 15 intended for the informeation of the Board of Trustess, finanes committes, management and

federsl awarding apencies and pass-through enttes, and is not ntended 1o be and should not be used
by amvone other than these specified parties.

Crowe Chizek and Cormpany LLC

South Bend, Indianz
==, 2006

PAGE 33 HIGHER LEARNING COMMISSION SELF-STUDY



APPENDIX 17

HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, INC.
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
Year ended June 30, 2006

1. Summary of Audior's Resulis:

a. An unqualified opinion was issued on the financial statements of Haly Cross College, Inc. faor the
vear ended June 30, 2006,

b, The audit did not disclose any nonecormpliance which is maserial o the financial statements.

. Anungualified opmion was ssued 1o Holy Cross College, Inc. on their compliznee for major
[IECE A,

d. There were no audit findings mquired o be disclosed under OMB Circular A-133 Section

S10(a).
e Major programs identified:
Student Financial Asd Cluster Federal CEDA Number
Federal Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grants 84007
Federal Familv Education Loans B4 032
Federal Work Study 84033
Federal Perking Loans B4 038
Federal Pell Grants B4 053

£ The dollar threshold vsed to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was 300,000,

g The College did not qualify as a low-nsk auditee under Circular A-133 Section 530 for the vear
ended June 30, 2006,

2. Findings related o the financizl statements which are required o be reported in accordance with
GAGAS:

Mione

3. Findmgs and questoned costs for federal awards meluding audit findmgs are defined i OMB
Circular A-133 Section 510(a):

Mione
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
ALUDITORS' COMMENTS ON AUDIT RESOLUTION MATTERS
RELATED TO THE FEDERAL AWARD PROGEAMS
Year ended June 30, 2006

Fmdings or gquestioned costs for federal awards meluding audit findings as defined m OMB Circular A-
133 Section 510(z) requiring resolution from the vear ended June 20, 2005 are as follows:

Finding (4-01
SEGREGATION OF DUTIES

Statement of Condition: [n reviewing policies and procedures in place dunng the 2003- 2004 school
vear, we noted weaknesses m indernal controls within the student financial axd office. The College's
financial aid director, who s relatively mexpenenced in this arca, 15 the sole reviewer of student awards
and oversees the entine fmancial aid process.

Resolution for 2005: Duning the 2005 school year, all financial aid awards were eviewed by the Viee
President for Adnunstration before bemg posted to the student’s account. This review did not get 1o
the detail of the student's file, but it provided a second look at the propriety of swards. The Student
Fimaneial Aid Director attended addiional tmining sponsored by the Department of Educatian this year
and has exhibited increased knowledge and understanding of the Titke [V compliance requirements. Mo
ower-awards were noted on the sample of students tested during the 2005 andit.

Finding 04-02
FEDERAL PERKINS LOAN REPAYMENTS

Statement of Condition: Accarding to the Student Financial Aid Handbook, if a Perkins loan
payment is overdue and the school has not received a request for forbearance, deferment,
postponement, or cancellation, the school must send the bomower:

* the first overdue notice 15 days after the payment due date;
# the second overdue notice 30 days afier the first overdue notice;
# the final demand letier 15 days afier the second overdue notice.

The handbook stases that the final demand letier must infiorm the borrower that unless the school
receives & pavment or 3 request for forbearance, deferment, postponement, or cancellaton within 340
davs of the daie of the letier, the school will refer the account for collection or litgation and will report
the default to 3 credit bursay as required by law,  Per discussions with management, the Collepe docs
nat send the 30-day demand letier or notify a credit bureau of delinguent acoounts within the proper
timiz period.

(Continued)
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HOLY CROSS COLLEGE, [NC.
AUDITORS' COMMENTS ON AUDIT BESOLUTION MATTERS
RELATED TO THE FEDERAL AWARD PROGREAMS
Year ended June A0, 2006

Resolution for 2005: During 2005, the College began mahing out the 30 day overdue notices m order
to comply with appropnate procedures. [n most cases the defaults are not substantive but mvolbve a
failure or delay in renming deferment forms. Mo exceptions were noted from testing performed during
the 2005 audit.

Finding 14-03
FEDERAL PELL GRANT AWARDS

Statement of Condition: Federal Pell grants are awarded on a specific scale to students based upon
enrodlment status and the documented Expected Family Contribution (EFC ). During our testing of 33
smident files, we noted one instance in which a $1,700 Pell grant was not awarded to an eligible student.

Resolution for 2005: Subsequent to the auditor's testing, the Fingneial Asd director obtzined and
applied the appropnate Pell grant funds to this student's account.  In addition, a= discussed i the
response to Finding (4-01, the Vice President for Administration performed secondary checks of
stmident awards during 2005, and no instances of noncomplianee for Pell grant awands was noted during
the 2005 audit.

Fimiling (4-4
FEDERAL FINANCIAL AID REFUND CALCULATIONS

Statement of Condition: Federal Regulations require refunds of financial aid to be returned within 30
days of the decumented withdrawal date. During our testing of federal financil aid refunds, we noted 2
insEnees in which refind caleolations wers not performed by College staff, and as a result, funds were
not remurned within the required 30 day window,

Resalution for 2005: Subsequent to the audit testing, the Finaneial Add dirsctor computed and
remumed all federal aid appropriately for these 2 students. [n addition, policies and procedures wers
implemented during 2005 to ensure the timely retum of Titke [V funds within the 30 day window. No
instances of noncompliance were found dunng the 2005 andit.
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Operational Planning Groups

ACADEMIC PROGRAM & FACULTY
DEVELOPMENT (Academic Council)

ENROLLMENT MANAGEMENT (Admissions/

Scholarship Council)

Bill Mangan (Chair)
John Alter

Ann Baldinger
Hank Borne

Diane Fox

Tim Ryan

Mike Sullivan, csc
John Tryon, csc
Lawrence Unfried, csc
Doris Van Auken
Justin Watson

Richard Gilman (Chair)
Jane Allen

Robert Benjamin
Vince Duke

Brian Greve

Brian Howard

Richard Sullivan
Nathan Walker

Sara Whitfield

ADVANCEMENT -

EACILITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE (Building &

Grounds / Technoloqgy / Master Plan)

Pat Falvey (Chair)
Pat Adams
Maury Amen, csc
Michael Griffin
Jennifer Hall
Sara Kassen
John Raymer
Melissa Smeltzer

Richard Gilman, csc (Chair)
Doug Blair

John Deitsch

Charles Drevon, csc

Vickie Frohne

Ed Gareau

Mary Ellen Hegedus

Sue Schoen

Lawrence Unfried, csc

BUDGET & FINANCE / HUMAN RESOURCES

STUDENT & RESIDENTIAL LIFE
(Student Life Council)

Mark Mullaney (Chair)
Ibett Giannone
James Leik, csc

Jean Marquez
Merwyn Thomas, csc

Tina Holland (Chair)
Dan Cochran

Chris Dreyer, csc
Sara Gallo

Tom King, csc
Robert Kloska
Mary Merrill

Sandy Ohlund

Mike Sullivan, csc
Doris Van Auken

Nathan Walker

COLLEGE PLANNING COMMITTEE

John Deitsch James Leik, csc
Charles Drevon, csc Pat Falvey
Richard Gilman, csc Bill Mangan
Tina Holland John May, csc
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Strategic Vision Statement

ACADEMIC PROGRAMS AND FACULTY DEVELOPMENT

Holy Cross College will offer high quality, accessible academic programs that provide exceptional
attention to the needs of diverse learners and are appropriate to its mission as a Catholic college in
the tradition of the Congregation and Brothers of Holy Cross. These programs, some of which lead
to the baccalaureate or associate degree, will be developed so as to enhance student enroliment
and institutional revenues.

Holy Cross College will support faculty and staff in professional development activities necessary to
realize the mission and strategic vision of the college.

1. Academic programs
a. Academic standards
i. Clarifying standards for admissions

* Review data on the success of students admitted under probationary status
during summer 20086.

ii. Articulating expectations about institutional rigor

* With the associate director of marketing, communications, and public rela-
tions, review college publications as part of the publications cycle beginning
summer 2006.

iii. Explicating standards of academic progress
* Review the policy for academic dismissals during fall 2006.

iv. Recognizing academic excellence
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* Investigate the potential for new degree programs in global studies
and a business-related field beginning in spring 2006.

* Create articulation agreements with colleges to assist the matricula-
tion of transferring students to the college beginning spring 20086.

2. Faculty and staff development
a. Improvements in teaching and learning
i. Supporting individual and aggregate efforts
b. Generational change within faculty
i. Addressing needs of senior faculty
ii. Orienting new faculty

» Continue development of new faculty and staff orientation program to run
at the beginning of each new academic year.

¢. Academic innovation
i. Encouraging expansion and improvement in programs

* Expand identification of Lilly Fellows for purposes of investigating new aca-
demic programs during 2006-2007 academic year.
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Strategic Vision Statement

ADVANCEMENT

VISION: The College will develop lasting relationships with alumni, parents, and friends to support
the mission of the College. This will be accomplished through consistent communication, aggres-
sive public relations, and personal contact. Relationships must be mutual in order to match the

physical, academic, social, and spiritual needs an 800 student campus with the needs of donors.

The vision of the Office of Advancement is to be the most well-respected and successful small pri-
vate college advancement office in Indiana.

MISSION: Our mission is to support the overall mission of the College by cultivating fiscally mean-
ingful relationships between the College and external constituencies that help secure the College’s
future. We will work with the Administration and all Departments to understand their needs and
craft approaches to achieve them.

Goal 1: Define and maintain the College “brand” by supervising and executing its use across all

Holy Cross communications.

(a) Review all internal and external media and recommend one or two brand designators.
Once

the “brand” is selected, work to revise the media to reflect that brand.
(b) Achieve publication or broadcast of the “Holy Cross Story” in at least one local outlet

monthly, and a “national” (wire service or wide -market broadcast) per year.
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Strategy 3: Send out a minimum of 3 direct mail pieces per year.

Strategy 4: Determine donors who have a history of giving $500 per year and through cul-
tiva tion to include personal visits, afford them the opportunity to establish scholarships.

Strategy 5: Research and visit major gift prospects.

Strategy 6: Bring Advancement Office staffing up to minimum standards. Coordinate the ef
forts to obtain grants and corporate gifts as the major responsibility of one staff member.

Goal 3: Improve and expand our relationships with the influential individuals and contributors that
serve to communicate, fund and advance the College’s mission.

(a) Review and improve contributor data bases and community outreach.

(b) Evaluate and improve annual donor recognition events.

(c) Increase contacts with parents.
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Strategic Vision Statement

BUDGET & FINANCE / HUMAN RESOURCES

To provide the human and financial resources needed for the college to make annual progress in
achieving its mission and vision without sacrificing long term viability. This will be accomplished
through accurate accounting, prudent spending, balanced budgeting, strategic investment of funds,
and borrowing when circumstances warrant.

The college’s human resources will be paid appropriate wages and provided with adequate benefits
in order to maintain quality staffing with low turnover and high productivity and morale.

1. Accurate accounting
A. Timely recording of all transactions
B. Accurate accruals

C. Reporting to management and board as required

2. Prudent spending
A. Monitor actual vs. budget
B. Ensure capital spending meets long-term strategic goals

C. Continue to obtain lowest costs via purchasing agreements, consortia, etc.
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Strategic Vision Statement

FACILITIES

Vision Statement

To develop an attractive campus in conjunction with Holy Cross Village, capable of supporting a
population of 800 students, with 400 in residence, and facilities to support the academic, social,
spiritual, and physical needs of faculty and students, including the physically handicapped.

Goals and Strategies

Goal 1: Redraft the college’s master plan with the following priorities:

(a) provide the necessary infrastructure (roads, parking, drainage) to keep pace
with Village development and serve the new recreation center

(b) complete IDEM classification of wetlands
(c) identify and/or reconfirm sites for potential expansion
(d) provide a longer range vision for land currently leased

(e) provide a long range plan for changes in traffic patterns, water system, and
sanitary and storm sewer improvements

(f) convert to a walking campus by 2010 (removal of west parking lot)

(8) maintain the beauty and eye appeal of the campus by installing irrigation sys-
tems

(h) identify areas for natural walk paths, cross-country trails, areas of ecological
interest, arboretum, etc.
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Goal 3: Develop a campus-wide energy conservation plan
(a) develop an energy use policy for heating and cooling (fall 2005)
(b) change the HVAC in Basil and James Halls through a phased approach

(c) rework the shower and restroom facilities in Basil and James Halls

Strategy: Work with the utility company on solutions and possible energy grants; possibly
refinance as debt is retired on Basil and James Halls.

(d) replace the gas chiller in the original Vincent building

Goal 4: Develop a plan and a new building to house the McKenna Library and campus technology
services (possible lounge and internet café).

(a) site the facility in the campus master plan (spring 2006)
(b) begin the programming phase for the future of these services at HCC (2006-
2007)

(c) design and build the facility (2009)

Strategy 1: Work with faculty and staff on programming issues (library of the future) and
begin visiting facilities.

Strategy 2: Cost and roll out for next capital campaign.
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Goal 8: Complete a needs analysis for additional space and inventory spaces that will become
available.

Strategy 1: Allow for new buildings in campus master plan; allow for reassigning usage
while looking at long term Driscoll programming.

Strategy 2: Study interaction that results from moving computer lab to a new building.

Strategy 3: Build funding into the next, or future, capital campaigns.
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Strategic Vision Statement

ENROLLMENT MANAGEMENT

Enrollment Management Vision Statement

To grow a broad based student population of 800 students including 400 residents. Broad based
means that the college will remain an institution of access while still seeking to raise the
academic qualifications of each successive class. Ideally, the student body will be gender
balanced, represent a unique socio-economic and cultural blend and appropriate geographic
spread.

Goal 1: Reorganize the Office of Admissions and Financial Aid to reflect an overall Enrolment
management sirategy.
(a) create a Division of Enrollment Management with the task of recruiting, retaining
students and creating a seamless student services environment
(b) provide information and facilitate communication among all offices and
programs relative to marketing the college and attracting and retaining students
(c) provide information on programs of study, campus enhancements and student life
that will be attractive to parents and students

Goal 2: Recruit and retain a qualified diverse freshman class.

(a) establish annual growth targets for new student recruitment

(by publish an annual recruitment calendar for administration, faculty, staff, and
Trustees

(c) enlist an appropriate volunteer cadre of students, faculty, alumni and Trustees to
provide strong regional presence

(d) improve the gender ratio in the college

(e) improve minority representation in the college

(1) specifically target programs for 21% Century Scholar Students

Goal 3: Establish benchmarks and monitor data.
(a) annual increases in inquiry pool
(1) continue the Royal Search; build a new regional group each year
(b) annual increase in applicants
(1) use technology wherever possible
(c) establish a sustainable conversion rate
(d) in conjunction with Student Life, provide expanded data collection and
interpretation related to student retention
(e¢) develop a retention plan

Goal 4: Attract transfer students to the baccalaureate program.
(a) provide for campus visits to two-year colleges in the admissions calendar
(by enlist faculty for regional visits to [vy Tech campuses and community colleges in
Southwestern Michigan
(c) establish transfer scholarships and market them
(d) provide on-campus, classroom visits and conversations with faculty
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Goal 5: Increase financial aid and work epportunities for students.
(a) cooperate with mstitutional Advancement to raise scholarship funds and match
students with donors
(b) annually meet with the CCRC at Holy Cross Village to provide sustainable
employment for local students

Integrated Marketing Vision Statement

Holy Cross College will seck to be branded as a tightly focused, personal, affordable Catholic
liberal arts college in the tradition of the Brothers of Holy Cross , distinct from our neighbors, the
University of Notre Dame and Saint Mary” College but cooperating with them and sharing our
common Holy Cross heritage.

The attraction will be a four year transformational liberal arts program that fosters holistic
development. Built on four distinct themes: preparation, possibilities, competence and courage,
its hallmark will be personal companionship by committed faculty, administration and staff on
student’s journey to timely completion of a baccalaureate degree.

Goal 1: Enhance the image and increase the name recognition and visibility of Holy Cross
College in St Joseph County and adjacent counties in Indiana and Michigan.
(a) Maintain a strong presence and brand in the local media and increase press
coverage
(b) encourage faculty and staff participation in community events and encourage
using community involvement as an important filter in faculty portfolio review
(c) use community access channel to provide information on college programs

Goal 2: Develop literature, publicatio ns and public relations material consistent with our brand.
(a) utilize technology by launching an e-newsletter, podcasts and blogs
(b) develop methods for monitoring our image and the effectiveness of our
publications in conjunction with a designated marketing/public relations firm.
(c) commission a local image study
(d) promote and publicize our 40" anniversary using tagline “The Excitement is
Building™

Goal 3: Develop a Communication plan that energizes the entire community — frustees,
administration, faculty, staff and alumni and gets all constituencies tied to the same message.
(a) conduct regular branding retreats to monitor the communication plan
(b) train all volunteers in communicating the message

Subtext: The philosophy of our traditional four-vear program is what Pursuing the Possibilities
means academically.

The first year of studies will be solid academic, physical, and moral preparation. The
sophomore year will build more specific academic competence and the identification of
possibilities based on personal ability and career exploration. This will lead to informed
choice for baccalaureate degree completion. The junior year will build competence in a
chosen concentration and the senior year will be built on practice, real world experience
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and making the decision to continue to graduate or professional schools or to enter the
work force.
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Strategic Vision Statement

CAMPUS SUPPORT/STUDENT AND RESIDENCE LIFE

To provide programs, personnel and facilities capable of supporting the social, physical, intellec-
tual, spiritual and moral development of 800 students, including sufficient housing to meet stu-
dents’ desires for residence life; and to ensure a healthy, safe, appealing and spiritually vibrant
Catholic environment by integrating campus ministry, residence life, campus safety and security,
student counseling and health services, athletics, social and cultural activities, and student govern-

ment.

Goal 1. Build a student recreation facility

1. Complete fundraising such that construction may begin in Spring 2006

2. Complete construction for Fall 2007 opening

Goal 2. Enhance the spiritual identity of the college

1. Increase the visibility and variety of symbols that tell the Holy Cross story and that express the

mission.

2. Add college celebrations in which the Eucharist is central, ie: Baccalaureate Mass, Matriculation
ceremony, etc.

3. Plan for hiring additional campus ministry support personnel
4. Recruit residence life staff who are actively engaged in the spiritual life of the college
5. Be intentional about communicating the message “distinctly Catholic, open to all.”

6. Begin discussions regarding the college’s full use/control of the chapel.
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Goal 5. Establish additional student life space as needed

1. Plan for additional student government meeting/activity space

2. Plan for additional residence hall space, and be certain to reconsider the current apartment-
style design.
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